Faculty of Business

Optimization of Recruitment Process for AI Smart Home Startups in China

ZHOU DIE

 $0000 \hbox{-} 0001 \hbox{-} 6196 \hbox{-} 5760$

This thesis is presented for the Degree of Master of Philosophy of Curtin University

October 2020

Declaration

To the best of my knowledge and belief this thesis contains no material previously published by any other person except where due acknowledgment has been made.

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my profound gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Adriel Sim Khoon Seng and Dr. Changyong Zhang, for their support and constructive guidance, as well as the thesis chairperson Dr. Abey P Philip for the coordination.

I am also thankful to Curtin internal assessors, Dr. Lew Tek Yew and Dr. Lim King Hann, and external examiners for their insightful comments.

I sincerely thank my parents for their love, support, and encouragement. I also would like to thank the supportive and friendly staff and colleagues at Curtin University.

Contents

 1.1 AI Smart Home Startups in China	
1.1.1 AI Smart Home 1.1.2 AI Prospect in China 1.1.2 AI Prospect in China 1.2 Recruitment Process 1.2.1 Recruitment Issues 1.2.2 Existing Methods in Recruitment Process 1.3 Optimization 1.4 Problem Statement 1.4.1 Research Problem 1.4.2 Research Gap	1
1.1.2 AI Prospect in China 1.2 Recruitment Process 1.2.1 Recruitment Issues 1.2.2 Existing Methods in Recruitment Process 1.3 Optimization 1.4 Problem Statement 1.4.1 Research Problem 1.4.2 Research Gap	1
 1.2 Recruitment Process 1.2.1 Recruitment Issues 1.2.2 Existing Methods in Recruitment Process 1.3 Optimization 1.4 Problem Statement 1.4.1 Research Problem 1.4.2 Research Gap 	3
1.2.1 Recruitment Issues 1.2.2 Existing Methods in Recruitment Process 1.3 Optimization 1.4 Problem Statement 1.4.1 Research Problem 1.4.2 Research Gap	5
1.2.2 Existing Methods in Recruitment Process 1.3 Optimization 1.4 Problem Statement 1.4.1 Research Problem 1.4.2 Research Gap	5
1.3 Optimization 1.4 Problem Statement 1.4.1 Research Problem 1.4.2 Research Gap	7
1.4 Problem Statement 1.1 1.4.1 Research Problem 1.1 1.4.2 Research Gap 1.1	9
1.4.1Research Problem	11
1.4.2 Research Gap \ldots	11
	12
1.4.3 Research Questions	12
1.4.4 Research Objectives	13
1.5 Research Significance	13
1.6 Thesis Structure	16
	10
2 Recruitment Process	18
2.1 Key Recruitment Activities	19
2.1.1 Recruitment Plan	20
2.1.2 Recruitment Activities	21
2.2 Recruitment and Talent Management	23
2.3 Recruitment and Strategic Human Resource Management	29
2.4 HRM Research Methods	30
2.5 Summary \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	31
3 Optimization	33
3.1 Development of Optimization	33
3.2 Optimization and Human Resource Management	34
3.3 Mathematical Modelling and Application	UT.
3.4 Summary	43

4	Opt	Optimization of Recruitment Plan				
	4.1	Comp	npensation Package Designing			
		4.1.1	Mathematical Modelling	47		
		4.1.2	Application	51		
		4.1.3	Discussion	54		
	4.2	Recru	itment Quantum Planning	55		
		4.2.1	R&D Department	56		
			4.2.1.1 Mathematical Modelling	56		
			$4.2.1.2 \text{Application} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	58		
			$4.2.1.3 \text{Discussion} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	63		
		4.2.2	Manufacturing Department	64		
			4.2.2.1 Mathematical Modelling	64		
			4.2.2.2 Application	66		
			$4.2.2.3 \text{Discussion} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	69		
		4.2.3	Sales Department	70		
			4.2.3.1 Mathematical Modelling	70		
			$4.2.3.2 \text{Application} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	72		
			4.2.3.3 Discussion	76		
		4.2.4	Integrated Model	77		
			4.2.4.1 Mathematical Modelling	77		
			$4.2.4.2 \text{Application} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	79		
			4.2.4.3 Discussion	82		
	4.3	Discus	ussion of Optimization Models in Recruitment Plan			
		4.3.1	Application of Optimization Models in Recruitment Plan	82		
		4.3.2	Superiority of Optimization Models in Recruitment Plan	84		
	4.4	Summ	Summary			
5	Ont	imizat	tion of Recruitment Activities	87		
0	5.1	Busin	ess Trips Routing	87		
	0.1	5.1.1	Mathematical Modelling	87		
		5.1.2	Application	92		
		5.1.3	Discussion	93		
	5.2	Interv	rview and Selection			
	5.2.1 Mathematical Modelling		Mathematical Modelling	94		
		5.2.2	Application	95		
		5.2.3	Discussion	98		
	5.3	Discus	ssion of Optimization Models in Recruitment Activities .	100		
		5.3.1	1 Application of Optimization Models in Recruitment			
			Activities	100		
		5.3.2	Superiority of Optimization Models in Recruitment Ac-			
			tivities	100		

	5.4	Summary	101				
6	Cor 6.1 6.2	nclusion Research Implications	102 104 108				
References							
Appendices							

List of Tables

Table 1: Chinese Government AI Policies

 Table 2: Research Topic on Optimization with Human Resources Planning and Allocation

Table 3: Research Topic on Optimization with Staffing and Scheduling

Table 4: Research Topic on Optimization with Employee Management

Table 5: Research Topic on Optimization with Recruitment

Table 6: Research Topic on Optimization and Route Selection

Table 7: Research Topic on Knapsack Problem and Selection

 Table 8: Index Points of Researchers

Table 9: Data of R&D Department

Table 10: Non-optimal Arrangement of R&D Department

Table 11: Optimal Arrangement of R&D Department

Table 12: New Salary Amounts of R&D Department

Table 13: Data of Manufacturing Department

Table 14: New Salary Amounts of Manufacturing Department

Table 15: Data of Sales Department

Table 16: Non-optimal Arrangement of Sales Department

Table 17: Optimal Arrangement of Sales Department

Table 18: New Salary Amounts of Sales Department

Table 19: Travelling Costs

Table 20: Interview Records

List of Figures

Figure 1: Map of Targeted CitiesFigure 2: Nodes and EdgesFigure 3: Interview Pyramid

List of Appendices

Appendix 1: Computation with Matlab Optimization APP Appendix 2: Computation with Matlab Coding

Abstract

The promising prospect and potential growth in the Chinese Artificial Intelligence (AI) industry facilitate the emergence of AI Smart Home startups, which in the meantime, face great challenges in the recruitment process with the rapid growth and changing landscape of the industry in China. It is hence worth studying related recruitment issues to lend impetus to industry prosperity, for which, optimization is introduced to assist in handling the recruitment process.

From a theoretical perspective, human resources management (HRM) research commonly concentrates less on searching for mathematical models for scientific decision-making. In literature on optimization and HRM, only a limited number of papers focus on the recruitment process in AI Smart Home startups. Almost all of them consider a single HRM issue rather than providing a set of solutions to the recruitment process. Therefore, the main objective of this study is to develop a set of optimization models for the recruitment process of the Chinese AI Smart Home startups.

In this study, a set of mathematical models are developed for compensation package designing, recruitment quantum planning, business trips routing, and interview selection. To establish a better HR practice, HR wellbeing parameters are incorporated into the models, including 'team diversity', 'job enrichment', 'job enlargement', 'work-life balance', and 'flexible working hours'. Illustrative cases are given as computational examples. For the compensation package designing and recruitment quantum planning, optimal solutions of linear and nonlinear models are found, which can be referred to in the recruitment plan. For business trips routing and interview selection, the proposed models provide information about the optimal choices. The computational results suggest that economic efficiency is achieved with cost savings, both operation and well-being constraints are satisfied, whereby the validity and feasibility of the models are demonstrated. To comprehensively understand the applicability of the proposed models, this thesis also compares different integrations of HR well-being parameters, discussing the advantages and limitations of different situations. Overall, based on the satisfaction of operation and HR well-being constraints, the proposed models can achieve cost-savings, the extent of which depends on the application data. It is suggested that the proposed models are applicable in the recruitment process, while the priority of well-being parameters and expenditures should be judged by startups based on corporate conditions and corporate values. Compared with other commonly used methods in the recruitment process, the superiority of the optimization method is demonstrated as it is more flexible and comprehensive in practice to integrate different factors and assist in making more objective decisions.

The research outcome of this thesis advances the body of knowledge on the application of optimization models, expanding the scope to the recruitment process in AI Smart Home startups. In the HRM aspect, the proposed models support managerial knowledge with mathematical analysis in AI startups. The integration of different knowledge fields suggests interdisciplinary research to solve the targeted problems optimally. Optimization model can serve as an assistant tool to support decision-makings. With the specific attention to the case of the Chinese AI Smart Home industry, this study can assist startups in achieving optimal recruitment.

Chapter 1

Introduction

This section discusses AI Smart Home startups in China with the related recruitment issues in human resources management (HRM). Optimization is introduced with the intention of solving the problems.

1.1 AI Smart Home Startups in China

1.1.1 AI Smart Home

In the 1956 Dartmouth Conference, the concept of 'artificial intelligence' (AI) was first established by J. McCarthy, M. L. Minsky, H. Simon, A. Newell, C. E. Shannon, N. Rochester, and other scholars, and is defined as machines that can simulate human intelligence to understand, learn and think (Pan 2016; McCarthy et al. 1955; Crevier 1993). With the development, AI gets involved with broad research areas including Machine Learning, Intelligent Search, Data Mining, and so on. It has been widely applied in real-life activities, such as Autopilot, Automatic Speech Recognition, Face Recognition, and AI Smart Home (Izario et al. 2017; Smadi et al. 2015; Pannu 2015; Zhang et al. 2014).

In particular, AI Smart Home is a system that can provide a convenient and comfortable living environment, making daily life easier. All digital devices can communicate with each other, and execute orders from the inhabitants automatically. Not only can the devices be remotely controlled by the APP, but also can be voice-controlled by 'talking' to it. Furthermore, some devices can automatically perform functions by machine perception and deeper learning (Hsu et al. 2017; Malche and Maheshwary 2017; Lobaccaro et al. 2016; Alam et al. 2012; De Silva et al. 2012).

Accordingly, AI Smart Home companies are those that provide smart devices and customization services for the whole smart home solutions. Correspondingly, AI Smart Home startups are the young companies in this industry, usually operating using combined business models with different functions, such as the R&D department, manufacturing department and sales department. The range of Smart Home services covers the whole usage areas, including the devices for the smart kitchen, smart washroom, smart bedroom, smart living room, smart home-security as well as smart healthcare. There are many kinds of products that customers can choose based on self-situation to satisfy the daily-life needs, such as smart air-conditioner, smart rice cooker and smart light. Products can be purchased from both online and offline shops (e.g. Haier 2020; Mi 2020; ORVICO 2020 etc.).

As one of the key development fields in AI, AI Smart Home holds a strong position in AI development, including the huge investments, the increased number of companies as well as the bright market prospect in the area (CISTP 2018; CAICT 2018). The power of capital venture is a key factor in the stimulation of the AI Smart Home industry. As the high-tech industry, related technologies in the AI Smart Home system are also paid close attention to a huge amount of investment. It is worth noting that the Chinese top AI investment giants, such as Alibaba, Baidu, Tencent, and Jingdong, all attach great importance to the investment in AI Smart Home. The flourishing financing opportunities have inspired more and more people to set up businesses in the AI Smart Home industry. Taking Beijing as an example, as the top one city of AI development in China, Beijing attracts AI companies to set up businesses, among which, AI Smart Home companies take one of the main proportions (Beijing Municipal Commission 2018). The increasing trend in the number of companies solidifies how significant is the position of AI Smart Home in the development of the AI industry in China. The market prospect of AI Smart Home in China is bright. From the customer and market aspects, AI Smart Home production makes up one of the key components of AI markets. As the products that closely relate to daily life, there is a strong indication that the AI Smart Home products have the potential to develop rapidly in China (Zhao 2020).

AI Smart Home has attracted and will continuously attract investments with a bright prospect. As AI Smart Home is closely related to people's daily lives, it is worth paying attention to this industry. Studying the AI Smart Home companies, noting the currently existing issues, and searching the possible solutions can contribute to better corporate development. With a business boom, there will be more convenient and useful products that companies can provide to customers, whereby the quality of life can be improved.

1.1.2 AI Prospect in China

There are more and more AI startups founded in China in recent years, including AI Smart Home startups. The driving forces for this entrepreneurial boom are the government policies, economic significance as well as bright prospect.

The Chinese government attaches great importance to the AI industry. Since 2015, AI has been incorporated into long-term national development plans and policies. As indicated in Table 1, the AI Smart Home industry is a priority in the vigorous growth of China.

Year	Policy	Document link					
2015	"Made in China 2025"	《中国制造 2025》					
2016	"Three-Year Guidance for Inter-	《"互联网 +" 人工智能三年					
	net Plus Artificial Intelligence	行动实施方案》					
	Plan"						
2016	"Thirteenth Five-Year Develop-	《"十三五"国家战略性新兴					
	ment Plan for National Strategic	产业发展规划》					
	Emerging Industries"						
2017	"A Next Generation Artificial In-	《新一代人工智能发展规划》					
	telligence Development Plan"						
2017	"Three-Year Action Plan for Pro-	《促进新一代人工智能产业					
	moting Development of a New	发展三年行动计划 (2018-2020					
	Generation Artificial Intelligence	年)》					
	Industry (2018 - 2020)"						
2018	"Action Plan on How China	《高等学校人工智能创新行动					
	will Promote Artificial Intelli-	计划》					
	gence (AI) Development in Uni-						
	versities"						

Table 1: Chinese Government AI Policies

Another government policy, the "Mass Entrepreneurship and Innovation" (The State Council of People's Republic of China 2017; The State Council of People's Republic of China 2015), is also an important engine that encourages the founding of new companies (He et al. 2018). Innovation is the key strategy in Chinese development (Zhao 2019; Zhao 2017). Attaching importance to R&D has been the national plan, which aims to covert to an innovative nation (Zhao 2016). These policies related to AI and entrepreneurship facilitate the establishment of innovative enterprises. AI development has become

the national strategy of China, with a huge amount of political and financial resources put into the industry (Robbins 2019; Jia et al. 2018). In such an encouraging environment, AI Smart Home startups are emerging at the right moment.

There is no doubt that AI should be an important part of Chinese economics (Ji and Huang 2019; Tan 2018; Purdy et al. 2017). AI has contributed to Chinese economic growth and it is positively estimated that the contribution will be continuously significant (Bian and Xu 2017). As the Chinese AI industry is booming and playing an increasingly important role in economic development, efforts are deserved to be made to study Chinese AI companies to lend impetus to industry prosperity.

1.2 Recruitment Process

Human resource management (HRM) is defined as a set of strategies and activities that focus on managing the employee-related issues, with the aim to assist the organization to achieve organizational goals successfully. The systematic process of HRM includes recruiting, selecting, training, and developing the required talent for the organization (O'riordan 2017; Byars and Rue 2006). HRM plays an important role in the success of startups. An imperfect HR system would make a negative impact on future development, causing the high possibility of failure due to the poor HRM practices (Salamzadeh and Kesim 2015; Salamzadeh 2015; Salamzadeh 2014).

1.2.1 Recruitment Issues

The Chinese AI companies, including AI Smart Home startups, are facing serious talent wars. These related issues make it difficult for startups to recruit the right person to fill the position, which should be addressed properly for the organization's development. The related issues include AI talent shortage, compensation package, employment preference, and difficulty of selection in recruitment.

There is a serious shortage of AI talent in China. The scarcity of talent in some particular areas affects industry development negatively. Moreover, with the increasing number of companies entering the AI field, the imbalance of supply and demand for AI talent is becoming more serious (Peng 2018; Ma and Hou 2018; Baidu 2018).

In the competitive labor market, there is no doubt that a high salary is one of the strategies to attract talent. The salary of AI engineers in China increases yearly. In addition, some companies would like to provide attractive benefit packages, especially for the top researchers (Takakura et al. 2019; Darboe 2018). As a consequence, startups struggle to offer competitive compensation packages to AI talent. This is a pressing issue with regards to talent recruitment as this competitive situation presents challenges when seeking qualified employees (Xu et al. 2018).

In addition, it is worth noting that not all the talent prefer working for startups even though the salary may be higher (Tencent 2017). This situation exacerbates the recruitment issues that startups face when it comes to the labour market. It makes it difficult to achieve 'team diversity' with different levels of AI talent, especially the experienced professionals (Shen 2018; Big companies snatch AI talent 2017).

Furthermore, the structure of AI talent in different categories has not been perfect enough (Baidu 2018). Based on the current situation of the Chinese AI educational system, for categories of AI talent, the largest supply of AI talent is the first level talent that applies AI tools to products. While the second level talent who combines AI with specific needs to produce AI tools and the third level talent who implements AI theory into algorithm models are relatively in short supply. The top-level scientists who mainly do cuttingedge research on AI theory are highly scarce. The skills and knowledge that the current graduates hold cannot satisfy the corporate requirements well, which leads to the difficulty of selection in the recruitment process. For AI Smart Home startups that focus on both technologies and products, it is desirable to recruit all levels of talent for better corporate development.

In addition to the current recruitment issues in the labor market, for startups that have just been founded, recruitment is the source of getting the right talent for further development. Startups are also unable to employ other strategies to get the right talent (i.e., providing training), unlike mature companies that have held the current workforce. The corporate capacities of startups, such as financial capacity, are not as strong as those in mature companies, which also affects the attractiveness of startups. For startups in the high-tech field, talent with strong backgrounds is one of the key competitive advantages (Alderman and Ray 2017). Moreover, as the AI Smart Home startups usually operate with a combined business model, there are different requirements of talent in different departments to satisfy the operation need. Therefore, for startups, recruitment should be attached great importance as it is the way of getting the right human resources, especially when facing such a serious talent war.

1.2.2 Existing Methods in Recruitment Process

In the recruitment process, the analysis of talent demand is a key factor. The problems of 'how many' and 'what kinds of' talent that the company needs should be answered properly, which will affect the later operation of the startup. Different methods, including both qualitative and quantitative methods, are utilized by HR practitioners and companies during the decisionmaking process of talent demand (Wu et al. 2017; Wang and Wei 2016). Qualitative methods, such as Delphi Technique and Experience Forecasting, are about analyzing the talent demand based on the views and experience of the trustworthy groups. The quantitative methods consist of using scientific analysis. For example, Statistical Analysis and Trend Forecasting focus on collecting and analyzing historical data to estimate the number of workers that need to be recruited for further development and new projects. To estimate the human resource demand and to decide the number of recruitment with mathematical formulas, Ratio Analysis can be used to directly calculate the result with the known ratio relationship of the productivity and the workload. Regression Analysis analyzes the relationship between the 'target workload' and 'required number of workers' with regression coefficient and regression equation.

The recruitment process involves some subjective factors, such as the personal opinions from the HR manager, which would affect the final decision. For example, in the interview and selection, decisions are institution-specific and even round-specific regarding the background of the candidates, the interviewers' impression of the candidate and so on. In the books and tutorials that systematically introduce recruitment and HRM (e.g. Yuan et al. 2018; Wang and Wei 2016; Wu et al. 2017), it is suggested that HR practitioners should consider both quantitative and qualitative methods to analyse and understand the situation more comprehensively. While, the quantitative methods that can provide objective views, such as mathematical modellings, are briefly introduced. Some objective views toward the targeted problems are deserved to be investigated as the additional supportive analysis tool for better decision-making.

To sum up, HRM is important to corporate development while the Chinese AI Smart Home startups are facing challenging recruitment issues, leading to the difficulty for startups to attract and select suitable talent. Hence, studies on how to address the recruitment problems optimally are required. In order to achieve optimal recruitment, in addition to the existing commonly used methods, this study explores the optimization tool to assist in addressing the current challenges related to these recruitment issues.

1.3 Optimization

Facing such a serious talent war and considering the urgent talent need, it is necessary to create the optimal recruitment solution for startups. Therefore, optimization is introduced to assist in addressing the aforementioned problems. Optimization modeling, which is one of the methods in operations research (OR), devotes to supporting and improving decision-making, focusing on solving the problems through the application of mathematical models and analytical tools. As a field of improving decision-making with advanced modelling, optimization is inherently analytical for complex problems. It includes various methods, such as Linear Programming (LP), Nonlinear Programming (NLP), Multi-objective Linear Programming (MOLP), Stochastic Optimization (SO), and so on (Mortenson et al. 2015; Yadav and Malik 2014).

To address the recruitment issues faced by the Chinese AI Smart Home startups, optimization can be employed based on its nature. Optimization models can describe related parameters with mathematical language, aiming at getting maximum returns based on minimum costs while all constraints can be satisfied (Chen 2005; Blomhøj and Jensen 2003). Employing optimization in HRM is also supported by previous literature. For example, Price et al. (1980) discussed the application of the mathematical model in HRM with literature reviews, concluding that optimization models are suitable when the organization needs to consider complex constraints or conflicting objectives. By reviewing a total of 147 manuscripts about applying mathematical modeling in human resources allocation problems, Bouajaja and Dridi (2017) provided the important mathematical formulations, constraints, and resolution methods that can be used in HRM.

Therefore, optimization modeling can be the method to solve the problem of where and how startups can allocate resources effectively and efficiently. With the understanding of the quantitative relationships of variables, the results of the optimization models can serve as the additional analysis materials for objective views. This study considers the recruitment activities that involve a quantitative nature. Regarding human resources planning, the quantitative problem relates to the costs of the compensation package, the number of employees to be recruited, the arrangement of work hours and the required workload to be completed. For business trips, the costs of visiting targeted talent pools should be measured, such as expenditures, routing selection, and so on. Moreover, in the interview selection section, there should be an optimal strategy towards hiring the candidates with the highest total values to form the team within the budget constraint.

1.4 Problem Statement

1.4.1 Research Problem

Chinese AI Smart Home startups benefit from the booming AI business, while at the same time, there are HRM challenges that startups need to deal with. Due to the increasing number of competitors and the shortage of AI talent, more and more companies, especially mature companies, attract and retain AI talent by providing attractive compensation packages (Takakura et al. 2019; Darboe 2018; Peng 2018; Ma and Hou 2018; Baidu 2018). The competitive salary is one of the key challenges for startups. Employees' preference for mature companies makes it more difficult for startups to recruit talent (Tencent 2017). Additionally, as the existing AI education system is still developing, there is insufficient AI talent to fit the industry requirements, leading to the imperfect AI talent structure (Baidu 2018). As for the startup itself, the corporate capacity is not as strong as the mature companies, including corporate visibility, management experience, budget, and so on. These limited resources aggravate the recruitment plight that startups are facing, in terms of creating undesirable organizational outcomes. Based on the operation in a combined business model, different requirements of talent in different departments should be understood and defined clearly. A study that investigates a set of optimal solutions to the recruitment process of AI Smart Home startups is therefore necessary. The optimal solutions aim at optimizing both quantitative and qualitative perspectives in the recruitment process. From the quantitative perspective, there will be the minimization of costs spent on HRM and the maximization of values obtained from HRM. Regarding the qualitative perspective, with the integration of optimization and HRM, a well-designed recruitment process can assist startups to get desirable human capital, improve working conditions, and establish a better HRM system.

1.4.2 Research Gap

Based on the literature review, there is a gap between optimization, recruitment process, and AI startups. HRM literature that studies the recruitment process with theoretical guidance, pays less attention to the mathematical relationship between variables (e.g. Kaur 2018; Dabic et al. 2011). Optimization, as a mathematical tool, can support scientific decision-making with objective views. As for the literature that investigates optimization and HRM, studies mainly focus on a specific HR issue rather than considering a set of solutions to the recruitment process. As for the targeted field, few works of literature concentrate on AI startups. In books and tutorials that systematically introduce recruitment and HRM (e.g. Yuan et al. 2018; Wang and Wei 2016; Wu et al. 2017), the quantitative methods, such as mathematical modellings, are usually briefly introduced only. Therefore, there is a gap in research on the application of optimization models to the recruitment process in Chinese AI Smart Home startups.

1.4.3 Research Questions

To cover the research gap outlined above, the general research question to be addressed is:

• How can the recruitment process in Chinese AI Smart Home startups be optimized?

The corresponding research questions are:

• How can startups optimally structure the compensation package to be attractive in the labor market and be affordable to startups?

- How can startups optimally plan recruitment quantum to satisfy operational and well-being requirements?
- How can startups design the business trips routing to minimize the costs?
- How can startups select from the candidates to form the optimal team within budget constraint?

1.4.4 Research Objectives

Accordingly, the research objectives are:

- To develop applicable linear and nonlinear optimization models for the recruitment process of Chinese AI Smart Home startups
- To examine the feasibility of the models with data collected from the Chinese AI Smart Home industry
- To demonstrate the superiority of the models with a comparison of the existing methods

1.5 Research Significance

By employing the optimization models for improving the recruitment process in Chinese AI Smart Home startups, this study integrates strengths of different knowledge bases to solve real-life problems. The contributions of this study are enrichments of the knowledge in academic fields of optimization and HRM, with a practical meaning for startups and the industry.

This study can enrich the application of the optimization models on HRM, covering activities in the recruitment process. Based on the nature of activities in Chinese AI Smart Home startups' recruitment process, a set of optimization models are proposed, which can serve as an extension to the practicable applications. The models developed in this study incorporate real-life factors into functions, the satisfaction of all constraints demonstrates the validity of optimization in problem-solving.

This study concurs with the literature that combines managerial and technical knowledge for better workforce planning (De Bruecker et al. 2015). Based on the mathematical nature, optimization is the complementary analysis tool of the HRM literature that studies theoretical guidance. Some literature focuses on the cause and effect relationships of HRM elements, but this thesis considers the mathematical relationships of elements. In addition to the existing HRM literature that investigates what activities would affect the success of HRM, this thesis pays attention to how to plan activities to obtain optimal results. With optimization technique, this study provides an objective method for staff planning in the recruitment stage, which enriches the literature that investigates practices and effects of staff planning on corporate performance and concurs with the literature that discusses the importance of staff planning to corporate success. This study, with a set of optimization models, provides an analysis method in addition to the literature with empirical research. Based on the literature on the topic of necessary parameters in the recruitment process, this thesis analyzes the quantitative relationships of parameters, which enhances the research on 'how to allocate resources to better realize the plan'.

Numerous HRM studies are mainly concerned about HRM in the larger organizations while the understanding of the important role of human capital in entrepreneurial companies surfaced in recent years (Dabic et al. 2011; Katz et al. 2002). This study can be the supplement of HRM research in startups, aiming at searching for better staff planning from the initial stage of HRM and the initial stage of corporate development. With the introduction of optimization to HRM, the research outcome is the supplement of the managerial knowledge in a mathematical way, providing an approach of optimal decision-making for the recruitment process in new enterprises.

In addition to the normal criteria that is usually considered in recruitment planning, such as salary benchmarks, in this study, from an HRM perspective, for better 'Talent Management' (TM), the HR well-being parameters, are described in a mathematical way to optimize the HR system. This study integrates HRM concepts of well-being and staff planning, which enriches the HRM research related to the topic of achieving a better HR system with employee welfare from the recruitment phase. Parameters of 'team diversity', 'job enlargement', 'job enrichment', 'flexible working hours', and 'work-life balance' are incorporated into a set of optimization models. Thus, another contribution of this study is the incorporation of the mathematical thinking of optimization with the HR well-being parameters. Not only would it support the optimal resource allocation, but it also takes the elements of mental and psychological health of the staff into consideration. It provides a new thought for the combination of different knowledge fields to make optimal decisions. A set of optimal models developed for the recruitment process can assist startups to be successful in the talent war, which reflects the concept of 'Strategic Human Resources Management' (Strategic HRM). From the view of Strategic HRM, an optimal recruitment process can assist the startup in getting human capital and facilitate desired employee behaviors, which will eventually result in a better corporate performance.

In the aspect of contribution to the real-life practices, for the new entrepreneurs of startups, who may not have enough knowledge, experience, and capital, this study could be the reference to establish a well-designed recruitment process for attracting great talent. Optimization models can be utilized to effectively and efficiently allocate resources for HR activities, from planning to implementing. Compared with the commonly used methods, the optimization method is more flexible and comprehensive in practice to integrate different factors. Meanwhile, this study aims at achieving the benefits of well-being parameters as much as possible, helping startups to create better working conditions for employees, which can be an advantage in the talent war. Based on the analysis of the advantages and limitations of the proposed models, this study objectively suggests that the incorporation of the HR well-being parameters is practicable with cost-saving, differences in which depend on a wide variety of factors, including the application data, the corporate values and the priority of HR well-being parameters of the startup. The computational results of the optimization models are also the objective references in the recruitment process, which can assist the better judgement with some other subjective factors. Thus, a set of optimization models presented in this study can be the additional and supplemental analysis tool in decision-making. With suitable talent recruited, the startup can develop and whereby the industry can prosper.

1.6 Thesis Structure

The thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 2 starts with the introduction to the HRM process, in particular the recruitment function, followed by important concepts of Talent Management (TM) and Strategic Human Resources Management (Strategic HRM), from which there is an understanding of the well-being parameters to be incorporated into optimization models. In Chapter 3, the development of optimization and its applications in HRM are reviewed. With the understanding of optimization and HRM, related mathematical models are developed based on the research questions. Chapter 4 is for recruitment plans and Chapter 5 is for recruitment activities. Related HRM well-being parameters are specially incorporated into the models. Computational examples are given to examine the feasibility of the models. The superiority of the models is demonstrated by comparing the existing methods and the available options. At the same time, the advantages and limitations of the proposed models are objectively analyzed to comprehensively understand the applicability in real-life practices. The conclusion is presented in Chapter 6.

Chapter 2 Recruitment Process

This chapter focuses on reviewing Human Resource Management (HRM) literature. Based on General System Theory (GST), HRM can be regarded as a system that plays an important role in the operation of an organization, in which sub-systems interrelate with each other to achieve goals (Shin 2016; Chaudhry et al 2015; Alsabbah and Ibrahim 2014; Kast and Rosenzweig 1972). Recruitment is one of the sub-systems in HRM, defined as efforts and activities of the organization to identify and attract potential employees, try to increase the chance of the potential employees to accept the job offers (Abraham et al. 2015; Saks and Uggerslev 2010; Mayson and Barrett 2006; Taylor and Collins 2000; Barber 1998). Literature of recruitment process is reviewed to understand the key activities, which will discuss in Section 2.1. In the operation of the HRM system, to realize the desired performance, Talent Management (TM) is one of the essential concepts to be adopted when dealing with employee-related issues. TM is about anticipating and fulfilling the needs of the human capital, contributing to better performance, and creating strategic sustainable measures for the success of the organization (Scullion et al. 2010; Beechler and Woodward 2009; Collings and Mellahi 2009; Cappelli 2008). The literature review of TM provides ideas of well-being parameters

that are deserved to be considered for a set of optimal solutions. Section 2.2 deliberates noteworthy parameters based on TM philosophy. As the system is goal-oriented, it works for achieving organizational goals. Therefore, it is essential to link HRM outcomes with organizational strategy (Chaudhry et al 2015; Alsabbah and Ibrahim 2014). Strategic Human Resource Management (Strategic HRM) focuses on aligning HRM with the corporate mission and vision, aiming at adding values to the positive organizational outcomes, such as high employee commitment, cost-effectiveness and better firm performance (Toh and Koon 2017; Koon 2014; Paauwe and Boon 2009; Bowen and Ostroff 2004). In the field of 'Strategic HRM', theories of 'resource-based view', 'human capital' as well as 'behavior perspective' are explored with the linkage of recruitment. Based on the resource-based view of Strategic HRM, human capital is one of the most important resources to provide a competitive advantage that can enhance firm performance. This will be discussed in Section 2.3. Last but not least, commonly-used research methods in HRM research are reviewed with the limitations of these methods in Section 2.4, then it comes to the necessity of optimization.

2.1 Key Recruitment Activities

HRM plays an important role in an organization. HRM closely relates to the success and survival of the organization (Taylor and Collins 2000). The AI Smart Home startups desire great talent but have limited resources to compete in the talent war. Compared with the mature companies that hold richer corporate resources and stronger industry positions, it is difficult for startups to gain a competitive edge over the mature companies in the talent war. Furthermore, talent with vast knowledge and experiences usually receive multiple job offers with competitive compensation packages, which enable the talent to evaluate companies to decide the best-fit employer for themselves (Hoye and Saks 2011; Barber 1998). Therefore, startups should attach great importance to design optimal recruitment strategies to attract talent.

The GST suggests that the sub-system of recruitment works together with other sub-systems and also interacts with the external environment, all activities of which are conscious of achieving organizational goals (Chaudhry et al 2015; Armstrong 2014). The main tasks of recruitment are establishing the recruitment objectives, developing a recruitment plan, carrying out recruitment activities, and evaluating recruitment results (Breaugh 2016; Breaugh 2009). Specific to the main activities of recruitment in China, besides the common recruitment components, China adheres to some specific national regulations and policies (Devonshire-Ellis et al. 2011).

2.1.1 Recruitment Plan

First of all, in the recruitment process, the startup needs to develop a solid recruitment plan based on the understanding of self needs and development objectives. For recruitment planning, designing suitable compensation packages and staffing plans to meet the required workload should be reasonably arranged. It addresses the questions of 'how much to pay for the compensation package' and 'how many employees are needed to complete the workload'. The compensation amount should be competitive in the labor market, meanwhile being affordable to the startup itself. It is of key importance for the startup to be attractive enough to the job seekers in the first phase of the recruitment. It is reasonable to assume that if there is no point of interest that job seekers have towards the startup, there will be no further recruitment phases such as application, interview, and selection (Hoye and Saks 2011; Murphy 1986). Moreover, based on the instrumental-symbolic framework, payment is one of the instrumental image dimensions that affect job seekers' impression of the potential employer in terms of objective, concrete and factual attributes (Hoye and Saks 2011). Therefore, it is imperative that the startup designs an attractive compensation package to attract potential applicants.

2.1.2 Recruitment Activities

Once a well-designed recruitment plan is established, the next course of action is carrying out the recruitment activities to search for and obtain potential job applicants from a targeted talent pool, such as universities. With the development of the Internet, e-recruitment has become more and more popular (Banerjee and Gupta 2019; Branine 2008). However, visiting universities to give presentations and joining graduate recruitment fairs are still considered very useful methods to attract and hire potential talent (Su and Yang 2015; Mathis and Jackson 2011). Meeting the graduates in universities directly is one of the effective channels for startups to reach out to the desired knowledgeable and skilled talent. Based on the literature, the information job seekers get about the company would affect the recruitment process. This is known as 'signaling theory' (Gregory et al. 2013; Cable and Turban 2001). If there are limited data or uncertainties that job seekers have, job seekers would like to evaluate the information based on the signals (Beraugh 2008). There is no doubt that visiting the campus to reach potential employees is one way to disseminate related information about the company as a positive signal to job seekers. Furthermore, employer knowledge that job seekers have is the determining factor of the awareness of job opening and the in-

tention to apply for the vacancies (Cable and Turban 2001). Research has shown that job seekers report a higher attraction to positions if detailed and specific information of the job and organization is provided (Saks and Uggerslev 2010; Roberson et al. 2005; Taylor and Collins 2000). Since startups are new in the industry and job seekers may have insufficient related knowledge, it is a good practice to present specific information during the visits to the campuses, from which job seekers can know more details of startups, including corporate awareness, image and so on (Turban 2001). Engaging in recruitment activities on campus contributes to the 'familiarity' of the startup among job seekers, whereby the attractiveness of the startup can be increased (Breaugh 2013; Saks and Uggerslev 2010; Chapman et al. 2005; Turban and Greening 1997; Gatewood et al. 1993). The startup will begin receiving applications if information about job opening is disseminated to the job seekers. Then the company can begin choosing among the candidates to decide the most suitable talent to fill the vacancies through the interview and selection process (Shih et al 2005). The ideal selection is to find a seamless fit between the candidates and the organization's needs (Abraham et al. 2015). Thus, it is necessary to consistently conduct well-organized recruitment activities for the purpose of reaching a wider talent pool in order to widen the access to a larger number of candidates for a better selection.

With the understanding of the activities involved in the recruitment process, in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, optimization models are developed for the recruitment plan, including 'compensation package designing' and 'recruitment quantum planning', and for carrying out the recruitment activities, including 'business trips routing' and 'interviews and selection'.

2.2 Recruitment and Talent Management

Recruitment is a vital element in the concept of talent management (TM). The concept of TM provides information on the valuable well-being parameters to be concerned for HRM. One of TM philosophies is the practice approach, which involves several activities, such as identifying, attracting, developing, managing, and retaining talent to the organization (Sparrow and Makram 2015; Sparrow et al. 2014; Cooke et al. 2014). TM is also concerned with managing talented people with the development of a strategic talent pool to fill the identified key positions (Al Ariss et al. 2014; Collings and Mellahi 2009). As one of the unique strategic resources, recruiting and retaining talent to achieve sustained competitive advantage is a continual challenge for organizations (Vaiman et al. 2017; Dries 2013), and TM is a method to source and protect these resources (Sparrow and Makram 2015). For shaping and implementing an effective TM system, recruitment is no doubt a key activity to capture human capital.

Specific to the case of China, there are some TM issues that Chinese companies are facing (Cooke et al. 2014). In the macro aspect, the Chinese education system cannot fully support the skills needed and talent demand in the labor market. From the organizational perspective, TM is not integrated into the long-term development plan due to the 'affordability' as there is a high cost involved in TM. Recruitment issues then arise, making it difficult to find, detect, and hire suitable talent. Specific to the situation in the Chinese startups, there are also some issues related to the unsuitable planning and implementing of recruitment (Mo and Chen 2017; He 2016; Chen 2015). In the early stage of the venture, with inadequate experience and mature policies, startups lack a perfect HR system to address issues related to effective human resource practices. Some startups would like to attach great importance to products and customers while paying less attention to HR. How to get suitable talent is the key strategy for every company as human resources are scarce, especially in high-tech companies. Thus, it is suggested that human resources should be given priority in startups (Robert 2016). Moreover, the visibility of startups in the talent market is not as strong as big companies (Breaugh 2009), which increases the difficulty of the startups' recruitment.

Based on the nature of the AI Smart Home startups, which are the hightech companies, the recruitment of skilled talent is very important. A TM point of view places emphasis on the key positions in the companies (Al Ariss et al. 2014). In the context of AI Smart Home startups, research positions are regarded as the core positions, which need key employees to fill the vacancies. It is crucial to find high-quality talent with the right knowledge to fill positions (Su and Yang 2015). A knowledgeable workforce definitely establishes a competitive advantage to win a strong industry position (Kundu et al. 2012; Khandekar and Sharma 2006). Besides that, there is the complementarity of R&D resources and skilled talent, which can contribute to the ability of unique innovation, the reinforcement of competitive advantages, and the increase of chance to survive (Yang et al. 2017; Gimmon and Levie 2010). The same to the Chinese AI startups, recruiting the skilled talent who possess advanced know-how in priority technologies is an important activity for Chinese planners to pursue advances in AI technologies (Alderman and Ray 2017).

When recruiting skilled talent, team diversity is a key element that companies need to consider, which is also applicable to the AI industry (Talentseer 2020). With the international talent flow, it is an opportunity to hire staff with different backgrounds, which is a new way to promote R&D investment in Chinese companies (Wei et al. 2020; Niebuhr 2010). Research shows that a team with educational diversity, has a positive effect on the R&D performance, for both incremental and radical innovation (Martinez et al. 2017; Post et al. 2009). A team with diverse educational backgrounds is better prepared to solve complex problems and generate new ideas. A great amount of information and knowledge are available to a team, generating integrated opinions, mutual learning as well as creative solutions, which are essential in the acceleration of innovation and R&D (Tang and Naumann 2016; Ostergaard et al. 2011; Jackson and Joshi 2004). Furthermore, the diversity of employees' educational backgrounds can positively assist the firm-level openness with regard to the ability to access and use external knowledge for innovation (Bogersa et al. 2018). Diversity of skills and experience are also beneficial elements in R&D, which refer to the diverse working portfolios of researchers and supporting staff. A team with diverse staff backgrounds has the ability to deal with different issues, utilize new knowledge, and enhance the companies' propensity to innovate. Diverse education backgrounds, knowledge bases, and experience positively assist R&D performance (Martinez et al. 2017; Chandrasekaran and Linderman 2015; Lin 2014; Ostergaard et al. 2011).

Apart from benefiting the R&D department, team diversity also plays an important role in other departments, leading to better business performance as a whole, which can be reflected by the aspect of knowledge sharing. Knowledge sharing is concerned with the knowledge, information, idea and experience shared among the team members (Kessel et al. 2012). There will be a richer knowledge pool if team members hold diverse backgrounds. For the teammates, it would be a good chance to learn from each other, broaden horizons, and get inspiration. For the firm level, team diversity can contribute
to the wider spectrum of problem awareness, interpretations, and solutions (Bolli et al. 2018), whereby can benefit the firm's performance. Thus, team diversity is deserved to be taken into account in an optimal recruitment plan.

In order to attract skilled talent, it is essential to provide attractive terms of workplace benefits to make the company stand out in the labor market. This is not only beneficial for the recruitment activity, but it also encourages employees to work more effectively and efficiently. The compensation system also heavily influences the productivity and turnover rate, which is closely associated with business performance and development (Hassan 2016; Teseema and Soeters 2006; Frye 2004). The same applies to high-tech companies, it is a good practice to attract qualified employees by providing a package of benefits (Chang and Chen 2002). Specific to Chinese TM practices, as mentioned by Cooke (2008) and Nankervis et al. (2013), workplace benefits play an important role. This is partly due to the Chinese paternalistic culture, which expects employees to provide workplace benefits for employees' welfare. In addition, financial rewards and pecuniary incentives are significant techniques to attract talent, with which employers would like to deploy favorable conditions, offer attractive compensation package, and some other voluntary benefits to the talent (Cooke et al. 2014). In a multi-case study research, Wang and Ma (2015) indicated that the high performance of HRM practices in China emphasizes on the comprehensive consideration of a competitive salary package, which includes basic salary, rewards, and benefits. Therefore, it is a good practice for Chinese AI Smart Home startups to consider the optimal compensation packages which are attractive to talent while remaining reasonable and affordable to startups.

According to Cooke et al. (2014), 'job ration' is also one important TM practice, which is about allocating different kinds of jobs for staff to widen knowledge and experience of the full business operation. This can be considered with 'job enlargement' and 'job enrichment'. 'Job enlargement' is about providing opportunities for employees to get involved with different jobs. It can help to avoid the boring repetitive work and contribute to high commitment towards the company (Saleem et al. 2012; Raza and Nawaz 2011; Dessler 2005). 'Job enrichment' requires the companies to arrange employees to participate in different roles of practicing, administrating, and managing. It is an important element in job design for enhancing employees' feelings of satisfaction and contentment (Kooij et al. 2010; Savall 2010). Hence, it is a good practice for Chinese AI Smart Home startups to integrate different roles and tasks for employees when designing the recruitment plan.

Furthermore, in Chinese TM practices, providing a good working condition should be attached importance by companies (Cooke et al. 2014). 'Work-life balance' is an important element to facilitate a beneficial working condition. It is related to the manageability of the work and non-work matters. Working-hour is an indispensable factor in the measurement of an advantageous working environment (Raziq and Maulabakhsh 2015). The corporate policy with 'flexible working hours' can contribute to both employees and employers. 'Work-life balance' and 'flexible working hours' can enhance job satisfaction, reduce working stress and promote mental wellness (Le et al. 2020; Lu et al. 2015; Shagvaliyeva and Yazdanifard 2014; Jin et al. 2013). When there is a higher satisfaction, there will be higher employee loyalty and a lower turnover rate, leading to higher organizational cohesion. Such benefits can make the company more attractive to job seekers (Timms et al. 2015; Anderson and Kelliher 2009; Cook 2009; Carless and Wintle 2007), which can no doubt assist the recruitment activities. At the same time, with good organizational cohesion, there will be a good corporate image to both internal and external stakeholders, which can contribute to future recruitments.

In China, with the accelerated developments in society and economy, more and more people hold a higher expectation of happiness at working. There is an increasing common realization that the success of a career is not only measured by salary and promotion, but should also be related to the employees' happiness and 'work-life balance'. Scholars have indicated that 'flexible working hours' is suitable in China, with the trend of being the inevitable common working model (Lu and Zeng 2014; Zhang 2013). Furthermore, specific to the Chinese 'One-child' national policy, the current workforce is mainly the 'only-child' in the family, meaning that this kind of employees should spend more time and energy to take care of the family (Wu 2013; Liu et al. 2008). Therefore, startups should attach importance to 'work-life balance' as well as 'flexible working hours' for helping employees to achieve the responsibilities outside work.

In short, the recruitment process is important for startups in HRM and TM, while there are some difficulties that startups need to address. A study of the recruitment of qualified talent in Chinese AI startups is needed to support business success. With the aim of being outstanding in the job market, based on TM, it is deserved to consider the attractive compensation package, good working conditions with 'team diversity', 'job enlargement', 'job enrichment', 'work-life balance', and 'flexible working hours' in a set of optimal solutions.

2.3 Recruitment and Strategic Human Resource Management

With the understanding of the elements in HR recruitment, it is essential to link HRM outcomes with organizational strategy, which is known as Strategic HRM. Centered on the organizational mission and vision, HRM commits to assist the development of the startup. As recruitment is the start phase of HRM, it is necessary to link recruitment with organizational strategy at this initial point with the aim of achieving final goals and desired outcomes. There should be a clear cognition that the planning and implementing of recruitment activities should be conducive to the startups' growth. Thus, in the sense of achieving Strategic HRM, a set of optimal recruitment solutions are deserved to be considered.

Based on the resource-based view of Strategic HRM, human capital is one of the most important resources to provide a competitive advantage that can enhance firm performance (Crook et al. 2011; Becker and Huselid 2006). Human capital can enhance the ability of the firm to generate values, such as economic value, by achieving strategic goals (Coff and Kryscynski 2011). From another perspective, Strategic HRM focuses on employee behavior, which can be regarded as the mediator between strategy and performance (Wright and McMahan 1992; Chuler 1990). Based on the organizational strategies, there are some desirable behaviors for achieving the organizational objectives, which should be elicited by suitable HRM practices. The appropriate behaviors, which create high productivity and desired working outcomes, can lead to a high-performance work system for better corporate performance (Alfes et al. 2013; Kehoe and Wright 2013).

Specific to the HR recruitment function, it is the way of acquiring human

capital and is the cornerstone of Strategic HRM (Gully et al. 2013). The aim of strategic recruitment is to connect the goals and characteristics of the firm to its recruitment activities (Phillips and Gully 2015). From a competitive advantage standpoint, it is necessary to attract, hire and retain the employees with the right skills, knowledge and abilities to fulfill the needs for corporate operation and achievement, thereby enabling the organization to lessen the likelihood of failure (Chakraborty and Biswas 2019; Goedhuys and Sleuwaegen 2016). In the worst case, without suitable and sufficient talent, the company will fail regardless of any strategies that have been established (Gully et al. 2014). Only when the company can get suitable talent will tasks be accomplished, thus transforming the ideas into real outcomes and achieving the organizational objectives (Gully et al. 2013). For this reason, an optimal recruitment process, from planning to implementing, is required. A set of optimization solutions should consider the 'human capital' that the company needs in the planning stage, so in the implementation stage, the company is able to reach the correct target talent pool to choose suitable talent. Optimal recruitment contributes to better HRM, which can assist in eliciting the desired employee behaviors. The whole optimal outcome of recruitment will align with the organizational strategy to achieve goals and get positive values for the organization.

2.4 HRM Research Methods

Among the preceding research, some research papers focus on exploring, explaining, and concluding the important impacts of HRM on startups (Kaur 2018; Surywanshi 2013; Guadamillas et al. 2008; Manev et al. 2005). It is common that researchers provide theoretical solutions to HR issues, such as Cogliser and Brigham (2004), Ensley et al. (2003) and Ucbasaran et al. (2003), focusing on the improvement on behavioral management with the theoretical frameworks as guidance. Based on the research done by Dabic et al. (2011), which analyzed 62 papers that deal with HRM and entrepreneurial firms, a lot of literature in this field is exploratory, explanatory and descriptive nature with empirical analysis. The research that studies the causes and the consequences of HRM activities does not consider mathematical relationships so much (De Bruecker et al. 2015). Mathematical relationships can help the decision-makers to identify the quantitative logic between variables, which can act as the complementary analysis of the qualitative aspects to understand the problem comprehensively. Thus, as a mathematical tool, optimization can be applied to the HRM field to support scientific analysis, which is discussed in the following sections.

2.5 Summary

This chapter reviews related HRM literature, understanding the main activities in the recruitment process, including 'compensation package designing', 'recruitment quantum planning', 'business trip routing', and 'interview and selection'. The worthy HR well-being parameters are derived from the concept of TM. Recruiting employees from different backgrounds to form a diversity team can contribute to better performance in innovation and problem-solving. Task assignments with 'job enlargement', 'job enrichment', 'flexible working hours' as well as 'work-life balance' are important elements when considering a better working condition. Practicing well-designed recruitment has a positive effect on working performance, which reflects 'Strategic HRM' for getting human capital and achieving desired employee behaviors. Regarding the research methods in HRM literature, besides the methods researching theoretical framework, this study applies optimization for the scientific analysis to support decision-making, which is discussed in the following chapters and sections.

Chapter 3 Optimization

In this chapter, the development of optimization and its applications are briefly discussed. Then specifically, the application of optimization to HRM is zoomed in for details, which leads to the comprehension of a set of optimal solutions for HR recruitment.

3.1 Development of Optimization

Back to 1939, the Russian mathematician L.V. Kantarovich applied mathematical models to assist in solving the business problem (Kantarovich 1939). Later, more and more scholars do research on addressing the business matters optimally and optimization has been widely applied to address real-life problems, such as container terminal operation (e.g. Yan et al. 2020; Do et al. 2016; Tran and Haasis 2015; Zeng et al. 2015; Angeloudis and Bell 2010; Steenken et al. 2004; Cao and Uebe 1995), supply chain management (e.g. Tseng et al. 2019; Ba et al. 2015; Verma et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2010), transportation management (e.g. Corlu et al. 2020; Calabrò et al. 2020; Masson et al 2017; Jain and Arya 2013; Garaix et al. 2010), sustainable energy (e.g. Rastetter and Kwiatkowski 2020; Siddaiah and Saini 2016; Sinha and Chandel 2015; Fadaee and Radzi 2012; Avril et al 2010; Kusiak and Song 2010; Zhou et al. 2010; Yang et al. 2008), mine industry (e.g. Guo et al. 2010; McKenzie et al. 2008; Ta et al 2005; Naoum and Haidar 2000), and also human resources management (details on Section 3.2).

3.2 Optimization and Human Resource Management

As the quantitative analysis tool, optimization pays attention to discover the mathematical relationships among the concerned HR elements, providing the objective view. Optimization can contribute to a rational and logical recruitment process, with which, related resources will not be wasted due to unreasonable practices. Moreover, for cost-effectiveness, startups can apply the optimization model to recruit the optimal team and get the maximum returns with minimum or affordable costs. At the same time, the objective results can assist HR managers in decision-making with some other subjective views, to make a more comprehensive judgement. From the perspective of TM, based on the understanding of HR well-being, optimization models can provide a clear picture of resources allocation to satisfy the constraints of welfare. Furthermore, incorporating HR well-being in optimal recruitment can lead to the accumulation of better human capital and facilitate appropriate employee behaviors, and eventually achieve Strategic HRM with higher productivity and better performance. Thus, optimization can support scientific decision-making, acting as the bridge to link the HR parameters and the achievement of organization goals.

As optimization can contribute to better HRM, it is necessary to review

the literature on optimization and HRM in order to better understand the application of optimization to HRM and the incorporation of HR parameters to optimization models for the recruitment process. Table 2 to Table 5 categorize the related publications of optimization and HRM with different topics. Some researchers have applied the models to a specific industry while others discuss the general application without the targeted field.

Human resources planning and allocation				
Year	Research objectives/contents	Targeted		
		field of		
		application		
1978	Multi-level system of goal program-	US Navy		
	ming models for manpower planning			
	with equal employment opportunity			
	(EEO)			
1979	Manpower requirement plan to effec-	Telephone		
	tively meet corporate needs	sales of-		
		fices		
1981	Stochastic programming formulations	Canada		
	for human resources planning	military		
2010	Manpower planning with the consider-	General		
	ation of production, staff size and cash	application		
	management			
2011	Pareto multistage decision based ge-	Hotel		
	netic algorithm for human resources al-			
	location			
2011	Human resource allocation in project	Software		
	management	project		
2013	Linear programming for human re-	Beverage		
	sources allocation with the integration	companies		
	of various decision variables			
2013	Human resources allocation with the	Software		
	consideration of the complexity of in-	companies		
	formation system projects			
	rces pla Year 1978 1979 1981 2010 2011 2011 2013 2013	 rees planning and allocation Year Research objectives/contents 1978 Multi-level system of goal programming models for manpower planning with equal employment opportunity (EEO) 1979 Manpower requirement plan to effectively meet corporate needs 1981 Stochastic programming formulations for human resources planning 2010 Manpower planning with the consideration of production, staff size and cash management 2011 Pareto multistage decision based genetic algorithm for human resources allocation 2011 Human resource allocation in project management 2013 Linear programming for human resources allocation of various decision variables 2013 Human resources allocation with the consideration of the complexity of information system projects 		

Table 2: Research Topic on Optimization with Human ResourcesPlanning and Allocation

Zhang	2017	Human resources allocation with the	Process in-
		consideration of competency condition	dustry
Sheikhali-	2017	Minimization of maintenance costs	Electrical
shahi et		with the consideration of human fac-	power
al		tors	plant
Aviso et al.	2018	Human resources allocation on business	Hospital;
		continuity with the consideration of cri-	Outsourc-
		sis conditions	ing firms
Dai and	2019	Workforce planning with the consider-	O2O de-
Liu		ation of incoming demand across time livery	
		in a day	systems
Arash et	2020	An optimization method based on the	Hospital
al.		Bat algorithm to differentiate and pre-	
		dict manpower requirement in emer-	
		gency department	

As shown in Table 2, based on the specific situation of the targeted fields, research focuses on finding the optimal solutions that can maximize the expected rewards while the constraints can be satisfied. Different constraints include the staff size, production demands, services demands, cash management and so on. The application areas cover a wide range of business matters in hospitals, software companies, power plants and so on. In this study, the application focuses on satisfying the needed human resources in the Chinese AI Smart Home startups which are the new companies and usually operate several departments.

100000.1000	search 1	opic on Optimization with Staffing and S	cneuuiny	
Author(s)	Year	Research objectives/contents	Targeted	
			field of	
			application	
Ernst et al.	2004	Literature review of models and algo-	General	
		rithms for solving staffing problems	application	
Liu and	2012	Optimization of schedule problem and	Linear	
Wang		improvement of efficiency with the con-	bridge case	
		sideration of multi-skilled crews		

Table 3: Research Topic on Optimization with Staffing and Scheduling

Rocha et	2013	Staff scheduling with the consideration	Glass in-
al.		of sequence constraints and workload	dustry;
		balance	Continu-
			ous care
			unit
Shahnazari-	2013	Multi-objective manpower scheduling	General
Shahrezaei		model with the considerations of em-	application
et al.		ployers' objectives and employees' pref-	
		erences	
Guyon et	2014	Employee timetable and job-shop-	General
al.		scheduling	application
Parisio and	2015	Employee scheduling with the consid-	Retail out-
Jones		eration of uncertain demand	lets
Bonutti et	2017	Shift and break design for the work-	General
al.		ers who have different skills with the	application
		consideration of a common set of shifts	
		that must be selected for all skills	
Shuib and	2019	Shift schedule problem with the consid-	Malaysian
kamarudin		eration of day-off preference of workers	power
			station
Qin et al.	2020	Mixed-integer linear programming with	Aircraft
		the consideration of multi-skill staffing	hangar
		for aircraft hangar maintenance plan-	mainte-
		ning and staff assignment problems	nance

Some literature pays attention to staffing with the consideration of specific manufacturing or servicing requirements in different industries as categorized in Table 3. Different requirements, such as workload, working period and short break, are described as the constraints in optimization models. In this study, a way of staffing with the combination of time-period options is presented, the expected result of which is a staffing timetable that can satisfy the required production meanwhile it is flexible for employees.

Referring to Table 4, other HRM matters such as teammate arrangement and task assignment, are also taken into consideration with optimization models. These publications focus on optimally engaging and involving the

employees in operation based on the different characteristics that the employees have. The expected outcomes are to maximize efficiency and minimize the stress levels of employees. In this study, with the consideration of staff welfare, HR well-being parameters are incorporated into different circumstances of task arrangements.

Tuble 4. nes	search 1	opic on Optimization with Employee Mar	lagement
Author(s)	Year	Research objectives/contents	Targeted
			field of
			application
Ma	2012	Tasks assignment to proper athletes;	Sport
		Courses arrangement for PE teachers	manage-
			ment
Zhang et	2013	Tasks assignment with 'four-in-one'	General
al.		strategy	application
Guler et al.	2015	Task assignment for teaching assistant	Education
			system
Lukovac et	2017	Human resource portfolio regarding im-	General
al.		proving and promoting the potential of	application
		employees	
Bányai et	2018	Mathematical analysis of HR deploy-	Manufacturing
al.		ment and promotion processes	companies
Azadeh	2018	Optimization of resilient HRM system	Coal mine
			industry
Starkey et	2018	Optimal selection of engineers to be up-	General
al.		skilled and to warp team	application

Table 1. Research Tonic on Ontimization with Employee Management

As for the topics that directly relate to recruitment, some literature studies the hiring and selection strategy for the organizations as listed in Table 5. This study also adopts ideas of the minimization of the costs and the maximization of the benefits in the recruitment process.

Directly ne		pico	
Author(s)	Year	Research objectives/contents	Targeted
			field of
			application
Feichtinger	1984	Hiring and firing policies with opti-	General
		mization on firms' profits and workers' income	application
Bohlouli et	2017	Mathematical approach for finding best	General
al		fitting candidates for specific job posi-	application
		tions with competence analytics	
Fu	2018	Probing policy for searching the best	General
		suitable candidate	application
Lin et al.	2018	Recruitment and training plans with	Care
		the consideration of workload, loca-	service dis-
		tions, and districts	tributing
Berk et al.	2019	Hiring decision with maximum profit	Contract-
		and flexibility	based
			profes-
			sional
			services
			firms
Lee and	2020	Optimization model with the consid-	General
Ahn		eration with skill preferences, working	application
		area constraint and Myers-Briggs Type	
		Indicator (MBTI) for a better new hires	

Table 5: Research Topic on Optimization with RecruitmentDirectly Related Topics

To sum up the literature on optimization and HRM, it is clear that optimization is applicable in HRM, including resource allocation, staffing, employee management and so on. The application areas of previous literature cover a wide range of business matters and this study enriches the application field to the startups in the AI industry. Different specific HRM issues are studied by scholars, however, most research targets a single problem and this study proposes an integrated set of optimal solutions for the recruitment process. In recruitment planning, based on the understanding of corporate needs, models can be developed for compensation package and recruitment quantum with the consideration of operation requirements, such as task arrangement. Meanwhile, as employee welfare is one of the key concerns of this study, related HR well-being parameters are incorporated in the research problems, which enrich the literature related to achieving a better HRM system with concepts of staff planning and employee welfare.

Based on the activities in the recruitment process, the consideration of salary and workforce is mainly for recruitment planning. Another key recruitment activity that needs to be considered is visiting the targeted talent pools to disseminate job information and attract potential employees. As stated in HRM literature, some startups desire skilled talent but possess the lower visibility in the job market (Breaugh 2009). Thus, in a set of models for the recruitment process, a model for startups to join job fairs and visit as many universities as possible with minimum costs is included. The decision of routes to visit different cities and universities can refer to the well-known optimization problem—travelling salesman problem (TSP). TSP is about finding the optimal route with minimum costs and/or shortest path when travelling n cities with resource constraints (Mike and Daniel 2019; Lawler 1986; Robinson 1949). The research in this field is not only limited to travelling by people, but it has also extended to a wide range of applications related to multiple travelling to targeted destinations, such as transport and delivery system. Table 6 displays the literature review of optimization and route selection.

Author(s)	Year	Research objectives/contents	Targeted
			field of
			application
Mavrovou-	2013	Ant colony optimization algorithms	General
niotis and		adapted to dynamic TSP with traffic	application
Yang		factors	
Baudel et	2016	City-wide freight delivery rounds op-	City traffic
al		timization system under real-life con-	informa-
		straints	tion
Goerigk	2016	Minimization of total distances driven	Sports
and West-		by different teams with the application	leagues
phal		of traveling tournament problem	scheduling
Todosijeviť	2017	Research on optimal Hamiltonian tour	Maritime
et al.		for ships to transport products to a set	trans-
		of ports with draft limit constraints	portation
$Pe\check{s}i\acute{c}$ et al.	2017	Optimal route selection with the con-	Transport
		sideration of travelling time and road	system
		safety	
Defryn and	2018	Optimization of logistics cooperation	Logistics
Sörensen		with multiple companies, considering	system
		the interests of partners and objectives	
Baniasadi	2020	Study of the clustered generalized TSP	Logistics
et al		with the applications of relevant prob-	problems
		lems in logistics, robotic warehousing	
		and drone delivery	

Table 6: Research Topic on Optimization and Route Selection

Applying TSP specific for business trips of AI Smart Home startups can assist companies in routing planning to reach all the targeted talent pools and promote positions directly to the potential employees. As the TSP model can provide information about the routing with the minimum travelling costs, it is clear for the HR manager to allocate related resources and arrange a remaining budget for the business trips.

Following the steps of recruitment, another recruitment activity, interview, will be conducted when the startup receives job applications after the dissemination of position information. Interview is about the 'selection' and 'decision' among the potential employees, aiming at hiring the best candidates (Kumari 2012; Gusdorf 2008). Knapsack problem (KP) is fitted properly to address the select-related issues, such as portfolio, project, recruitment and so on (Table 7). Knapsack problem considers the capacity of the knapsack, searching the highest total value of items that the knapsack can pack (Pisinger 2005; Martello et al. 1999; Chvátal 1980; Balas and Zemel 1980). Applied into the selection situation, knapsack problem can be converted to select the optimal collection of items, options or candidates with certain constraints, such as the budget.

$\operatorname{Author}(s)$	Year	Research objectives/contents Target	
			field of
			application
Cao and	2007	Optimization of outsourcing process	Vendor se-
Wang		and vendor selection with knapsack	lection
		problem	
Oncan	2007	Applications of knapsack problem to	Generalized
		real-life problems, such as timetabling,	Assign-
		scheduling and so on	ment
			Problem
			(GAP)
Babaiof et	2007	Algorithms for a knapsack version of	Knapsack
al		the secretary problem with the consid-	Secretary
		eration of its applications, such as hir-	Problem
		ing workers and scheduling jobs	
Sadi-	2010	Fuzzy knapsack problem for optimum	Project se-
Nezhad et		portfolio selection with the lowest cost	lection
al		and maximum profit from available in-	
		vestment situations	

Table 7: Research Topic on Knapsack Problem and Selection

Song et al	2014	Optimization problem of selecting the most appropriate participants in data collection with nonlinear knapsack problem	Participants selection
Nip et al.	2017	Hiring and salary determination with knapsack under linear constraints (KLC) problem	Candidates selection
Kwac	2017	Application of the knapsack problem to efficiently select customers for demand response (DR)	Demand response (DR) programs

Knapsack problem is employable in hiring workers (e.g. Nip 2017 and Babaiof et al. 2007). In this study, based on the real situation of the AI Smart Home startups, a model for the selection of talent is proposed in a set of optimal recruitment solutions. AI talent at different levels will be given different scores (values) and be paid with different estimated salaries. KP model can be used for hiring teammates with the total highest value while satisfying the budget constraint.

3.3 Mathematical Modelling and Application

With the understanding of optimization and HRM, mathematical modelling is utilized to describe the recruitment issues to optimization models. Related mathematical models are developed based on the research questions, including the models for 'compensation package designing', 'recruitment quantum planning', 'business trips routing' as well as 'interview and selection'. An integrated model of 'compensation package designing' and 'recruitment quantum planning' is also developed for better optimization of the whole recruitment plan. Related HR well-being parameters are specially incorporated into the models.

The general formula is

min or max
$$Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i x_i$$
 (3.1a)

s.t.
$$a_1x_1 + a_2x_2 + \dots + a_ix_i \ge b, i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$
 (3.1b)

$$a_1x_1 + a_2x_2 + \dots + a_ix_i = b, i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$
 (3.1c)

$$a_1x_1 + a_2x_2 + \dots + a_ix_i \le b, i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$
 (3.1d)

Where x_i are variables, c_i , a_i , b are the coefficients, $\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i x_i$ is the expected result to obtain for maximum return or minimum cost (Zhu et al. 2013; Huang and Han 2006; Sierksma 2001).

For a set of models developed for each research question, computational examples are given to examine the feasibility. With regards to the demonstration of the superiority of the models, for 'compensation package designing' and 'recruitment quantum planning', there are the comparisons of the computation results with the existing situations (hereinafter known as 'nonoptimal situation'), as well as the comparisons between optimization method and other commonly used methods. For 'business trips routing' and 'interview selection', the proposed models provide information about the optimal choices. At the same time, to comprehensively understand the incorporation and achievement of the HR well-being parameters in the proposed models, based on different computational examples for different departments, different application situations are compared, with which the advantages and limitations of the proposed models are analyzed.

As mentioned in Chapter 1, there is a serious talent war in the Chinese AI industry, including AI Smart Home, leading to recruitment issues. As new companies in the industry, it is difficult to access accurate data of the competitors in the industry, especially the salary data and reports. This is because there is usually a confidentiality agreement signed by the employers and employees (Xiaozhi 2019), which reduces the chance of information disclosure. Most companies keep salary data private to retain competitive power. Furthermore, operating in the complex business environment, it is difficult to find a case of a specific company that can present the whole situation of the industry to be referred to, as different conditions exist in different companies and different locations. However, referring to the industry situation is one way that can help startups to formulate the proper HR policies to attract talent (Yuan et al. 2018; Wu et al. 2017; Wang and Wei 2016). Therefore, standing in the position of startups, referring to the existing situation of the industry, and analysing from the credible data, in this study, different cases are derived based on the common industry situations. From the computational examples, startups can find out the overall industry situation and understand the 'optimization models'. In the real-life context, different startups and HR managers would have views on the related value of different criteria, which are subjective and possibly institution-specific. Without claiming generally, and for illustrative purpose only, based on the real common situation in the industry, related data are reasonably generated to be experimental cases.

As one of the most important AI cities in China, Beijing is taken as an example for illustrative purpose. For HR practitioners and startups, it is practicable to focus on the located city or province to analyze and understand the business environment. Regarding the applications of the models, startups should analyze their current situation and apply their own data for specific optimization.

From the employees' point of view, as discussed in Chapter 2, there is an increased awareness of HR well-being and 'work-life balance' among employees. The assumption is made that, the salary amount is not the only measurement that employees used for judging the position and the company, the better HR well-being parameters and working environment would also be taken into account.

3.4 Summary

Based on the literature review, it is clear that optimization is applicable in HRM. As employee welfare is the key concern of this study, in a set of solutions to the recruitment process, not only should resources constraints of the startup be satisfied, HR well-being parameters are also considered. Regarding the 'business trip routing' and 'interview selection', TSP and KP will be referred to respectively for searching for optimal solutions. The feasibility and superiority of the models are demonstrated with the computational examples as well as comparisons of the existing situations. The advantages and limitations of the incorporation of HR well-being parameters are also analyzed.

Chapter 4

Optimization of Recruitment Plan

4.1 Compensation Package Designing

4.1.1 Mathematical Modelling

In the recruitment process, the designing of the compensation package is one of the key elements to be considered. In a compensation package, basic salary, benefits and award should be included. Furthermore, apart from the monetary reward, other non-monetary items should also be taken into account. In this study, the non-monetary items are included together with awards into the general item named 'annual subsidy' for remuneration calculation. And for the insurance rate, it should refer to the Chinese national policies of 'Five social insurance and one housing fund' (The State Council of People's Republic of China 2018). Moreover, in a reasonable compensation package, the ratio of the living allowance and the basic salary should be balanced based on the corporate conditions to increase employee satisfaction (Zhou 2018). It is practicable to use index points as a measurement (Yuan et al. 2018; Peng 2004). Based on the qualification and experience of talent, different levels of employees are awarded different points for the calculations of the compensation amounts. A range of index points is set for each level, with which there is a guidance of the overall salary situation. The actually paid amount is negotiable with some other subjective factors, such as the interview performance.

To be attractive in the labor market, it is necessary to use the industry average amounts as benchmarks, and design the corporate policies based on own situation, as the salary expenditure should be affordable to the startup. The revenue that the company earns can contribute to the designing of the budget for compensation packages, while as for the startup that may not earn profits at the initial stage of founding (Smith 2019), budget designing depends on the investment capitals. Even though the startup may not get profits during the initial stage, recruiting suitable talent with the offer of reasonable compensation package is still necessary for its development. Not only does the recruitment of the right team play an important role in the execution of the first stage of the company, but it will also affect the investment. Especially for the high-tech startups, those that do not have great human resources, or cannot prove the ability to hire the right talent, usually face difficulty in funding (Gage and Chapman 2011). For the startup at the initial stage, compensation expenditures may rely on the venture capital. With the development of the startup, revenue may increase year by year, correspondingly, compensation expenditure will be rearranged at the later stage. For the model in this study, the focus is on the initial stage of the founding of the startup, aiming at designing the reasonable compensation package based on the industry benchmarks in order to attract talent. Therefore, the relation of the revenue and the decision of compensation amount would not be considered as the constraint in the model.

When designing a compensation package, decision variables are x_i : index point value of different item

Based on the case of Chinese AI Smart Home startups

 x_1 : index point value of annual basic salary

 x_2 : index point value of allowance

 x_3 : index point value of annual subsidy

Insurance rate — "Five social insurance and one housing fund" policy in China f_1 : endowment insurance $(f_1 = 19\% x_1)$

- f_2 : medical insurance $(f_2 = 0.8\% x_1)$
- f_3 : unemployment insurance $(f_3 = 0.5\% x_1)$
- f_4 : work-related injury insurance $(f_4 = 0.8\% x_1)$
- f_5 : childbirth insurance $(f_5 = 10\% x_1)$
- f_6 : housing accumulation funds $(f_6 = a\% x_1, 5 \le a \le 12)$

Related notations are

 q_j : points based on qualifications levels, $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$

 e_k : points based on experiences levels, $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$

Industry standards s_1 : salary amount standards s_2 : subsidy standards

Real conditions of the startup $[(1-c\%)s_1, (1+c\%)s_1]$: bounds of salary amounts $[(1-r\%)s_2, (1+r\%)s_2]$: bounds of subsidy $[t_1\%, t_2\%]$: bounds of ratio of living allowance to basic salary

The optimization model for the planned compensation package is

$$\min Z = (q_j + e_k) \cdot (x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + f_1 + f_2 + f_3 + f_4 + f_5 + f_6)$$
s.t.
$$f_1 = \frac{19}{100} x_1$$

$$f_2 = \frac{0.8}{100} x_1$$

$$f_3 = \frac{0.5}{100} x_1$$

$$f_4 = \frac{0.8}{100} x_1$$

$$\begin{split} f_5 &= \frac{10}{100} x_1 \\ f_6 &= \frac{a}{100} x_1 \\ f_6 &\geq \frac{5}{100} x_1 \\ f_6 &\leq \frac{12}{1000} x_1 \\ (1 - \frac{c}{100}) s_1 &\leq (q_j + e_k) \cdot (x_1 + x_2 + f_1 + f_2 + f_3 + f_4 + f_5 + f_6) \leq (1 + \frac{c}{100}) s_1 \\ \frac{t_1}{100} &\leq \frac{(q_j + e_k) \cdot x_2}{(q_j + e_k) \cdot (x_1 + f_1 + f_2 + f_3 + f_4 + f_5 + f_6)} \leq \frac{t_2}{100} \\ (1 - \frac{r}{100}) s_2 &\leq (q_j + e_k) \cdot x_3 \leq (1 + \frac{r}{100}) s_2 \\ \forall x_i \geq 0, i \in \{1, 2, 3\} \end{split}$$

Simplify to

$$\min Z = (q_j + e_k) \cdot \left[(1.311 + \frac{a}{100}) x_1 + x_2 + x_3 \right]$$
(4.1a)
s.t. $(1 - \frac{c}{100}) s_1 \le (q_j + e_k) \cdot \left[(1.311 + \frac{a}{100}) x_1 + x_2 \right] \le (1 + \frac{c}{100}) s_1$ (4.1b)

$$\frac{t_1}{100} \le \frac{x_2}{(1.311 + \frac{a}{100})x_1} \le \frac{t_2}{100} \tag{4.1c}$$

$$(1 - \frac{r}{100})s_2 \le (q_j + e_k) \cdot x_3 \le (1 + \frac{r}{100})s_2 \tag{4.1d}$$

$$\forall x_i \ge 0, i \in \{1, 2, 3\} \tag{4.1e}$$

This model (4.1) is to provide the guided amount of the compensation package. Constraints (4.1b) - (4.1d) guarantee that the compensation amount is competitive in the labor market and fits the range of the salary amount based on the corporate policy. Constraint (4.1b) considers the amount and constraint (4.1c) considers the ratio of basic salary and allowance. Constraint (4.1d) is for the annual subsidy.

4.1.2 Application

Non-optimal Solution

As for the practice in the startup, the compensation package should be designed based on its own situation to fit the development of the corporate and department. As the R&D department is the key importance of the AI Smart Home startups, it is worth taking the designing of the compensation package for researchers in R&D department as the computational example to test the viability of the optimization model. Referring to the common industry situation (e.g. Career International 2019; Xiaozhi 2019; Tencent 2019 etc.), the computational example of the salary amount of the top researcher, who is the AI chief scientist with 15+ years' experience and a PhD degree, is given as RMB 6000k per year (excluding stocks).

Optimal Solution

In order to design a better compensation package, as modelled above (4.1), different items need to be considered and balanced with industry benchmarks and corporate policies. As for the a% of the 'housing accumulation funds', according to the government policy of the Beijing government (Beijing Housing Fund 2019), the upper bound of the amount of 'housing accumulation funds' paid by the employer is RMB 27783 * 12% = 3334 per month, meaning that for those salary amounts are less than RMB 27783 per month, there is an a% set for the fund, while for those salary amounts that are more than RMB 27783 per month, the calculated amount is RMB 3334. Therefore, as for the design of the compensation package for researchers, whose salary amount is over RMB 27783 per month, the item of 'housing accumulation funds' is the certain amount of RMB 12 * 3334 = 40008 per year.

Different startups and HR managers would subjectively design related criteria and policies for different considered items. Based on the optimization model, assuming that the bound of the compensation package is set as 10% upper or lower than the industry salary benchmark. Regarding the ratio of living allowance to basic salary, the example is given 10% – 15%. For the computation of subsidy amount, referring to the industry situations, the amount of annual award for the staff is about 3-6 months' basic salary (e.g. Toutiao 2018; Xiaozhi 2019 etc.), so in the computational example, $(1\pm \frac{r}{100})s_2$ converts to 25%-50% of the annual basic salary. One example of index points of researchers can be stated as in Table 8. For the top researcher who is a PhD holder with 15 years' experience, the index point is $q_j+e_k = 4+15 = 19$.

Table 8: Index Points of Researchers

Criteria	Points
PhD	4
Master	3
Bachelor	2
College diploma	1
Experience	years of working experience

Related computation is

$$\min Z = 19 \cdot (1.311 \cdot x_1 + x_2 + x_3) + 40008 \tag{4.2a}$$

s.t.
$$19 \cdot (1.311 \cdot x_1 + x_2) + 40008 \le 1.1 \cdot 6000000$$
 (4.2b)

$$19 \cdot (1.311 \cdot x_1 + x_2) + 40008 \ge 0.9 \cdot 6000000 \tag{4.2c}$$

$$\frac{x_2}{1.311 \cdot x_1 + 40008} \le \frac{15}{100} \tag{4.2d}$$

$$\frac{x_2}{1.311 \cdot x_1 + 40008} \ge \frac{10}{100} \tag{4.2e}$$

$$19 \cdot x_3 \le 0.5 \cdot (19 \cdot 1.311 \cdot x_1 + 40008) \tag{4.2f}$$

$$19 \cdot x_3 \ge 0.25 \cdot (19 \cdot 1.311 \cdot x_1 + 40008) \tag{4.2g}$$

$$\forall x_i \ge 0, i \in \{1, 2, 3\} \tag{4.2h}$$

There are different kinds of methods that can be used in computation. Software such as Matlab, LINDO, Python, C++ and so on, are well-developed and user-friendly, from which HR managers can choose their preferred one. This study provides Matlab Optimization APP and coding in appendices as examples for HR managers' reference.

Applying data of this computational example, the optimal solution of the compensation package is (rounded number)

 $x_1 = 183135, x_2 = 42015, x_3 = 60549, f_1 = 34796, f_2 = 1465, f_3 = 916, f_4 = 1465, f_5 = 18314$, and f_6 is the certain amout of RMB 40008.

The guided annual amount of compensation package for the top researcher is

 $Z^{c} = 19 \cdot (1.311 \cdot 183135 + 42015 + 60549) + 40008 = 6550434$ RMB

Compared with the industry benchmarks, the amount of compensation package is competitive in the labor market and complies with the startups' policies (4.2b)-(4.2g). Adopting the idea of model (4.1), in real-life practices, HR managers will set different criteria, such as the values of $q_j + e_k$ points for different categories of staff. It is not suitable to apply the criteria of top researchers to fresh graduates. HR managers get different reference standards for different levels as the salary amounts and consideration of values for different levels should be different. It is not a continuous description of the compensation package amount. The proposed model mainly aims at providing the guided amount of the compensation package to a certain category of staff. As in the computational example, the points set for top researchers is 19, and the corresponding amount is 6550434. This amount of 6550434 serves as the guided amount for those who are categorized as top researchers. The computational result acts as the reference when setting the range of index point value for top researchers, such as $\pm 10\%$ of the computational result. Based on the setted pay scale and the guided amount, the final decision of compensation package amount will be made based on both objective and subjective factors, including backgrounds, rankings of the university and the previous employer, interview performance and so on.

4.1.3 Discussion

As there is a serious talent war in the Chinese AI Smart Home industry, the highly competitive salary amount creates a lot of burden on startups (Section 1.2.1). It is important for startups to design an attractive compensation package to gain a competitive edge in the labor market (Section 2.2). Model (4.1) provides the detailed guidance of several indexes, including the necessary salary item and well-being items, which can assist the startup to design a more attractive compensation package and show the potential employees that the startup attaches importance to employee welfare. When negotiating with the desired talent, the startup can provide the guided amount with related compensation items to potential employees, showing the transparency of the corporate policies, which can contribute to the positive impression that the potential employees hold towards the startup. For the potential employees, based on the introduction of the gradient of the salary components, the clear information helps employees to judge the suitability of the compensation amount and the startup with the comparison of the industry situation and/or previous career experience.

For the application of this model in startups, it can be utilized in the initial phase of designing the compensation package. It can also extend to further recruitment and evaluation to adjust the salary amount based on the experience of real operation. When determining the points of criteria items, adjusting the ratio of living allowance and basic salary, calculating the exact compensation package amount, related values of points will depend on the startups' conditions and the real performance of recruited employees.

This model of compensation package considers the application on the companies in general, some other scholars have a specific focus on the different business departments, such as the sales department (e.g. Kräkel and Schöttner 2016; Lal and Srinivasan 1993; Dearden and Lilien 1990). The proposed model can be applied to different departments based on the real corporate situation. Regarding the timing of compensation package designing, the proposed model can be utilized in the recruitment phase of the startup, attached to later phases with the consideration of the timing of the salary increases (e.g. Cokyasar et al. 2019) and the turnover rate (e.g. Parker and Rhine 1991), to make a full flow of the compensation package designing at different stages with the development of the startup.

4.2 Recruitment Quantum Planning

The number of employees to be recruited depends on the real situations of different departments. For the Chinese AI Smart Home startups that usually operate in the combined business models, there should be respective recruitment plans to match the needs of the respective departments. Regarding employees' welfare, different suitable HR well-being parameters, including 'team diversity', 'job enlargement', 'job enrichment', 'flexible working hours' as well as 'work-life balance', are incorporated into optimization models based on the conditions and circumstances of different departments.

4.2.1 R&D Department

4.2.1.1 Mathematical Modelling

In the high-tech companies, the R&D department is the important department tasked with propelling innovation and creation. In the highly competitive industry, unique technology owned by the company is the key resource for holding a strong industry position, no matter the technologies or products. For the R&D team, with the consideration of the benefits discussed in Chapter 2, team diversity is phased into the model. The consideration of 'team diversity' is to hire teammates with different qualification and experience levels, such as AI Professionals, PhD and so on. The top researcher can lead the team with the cutting-edge research background, the knowledge of which may not be held by other levels of employees. For the employees from the lower levels, it is the great opportunity to learn from top researchers. At the same time, employees who have experiences in workshops can provide ideas about the realization of research to application, manufacturing as well as production. For the company, the multi-background team can contribute to the stronger R&D capability and better competitive advantages (Conte and Vivarelli 2014; Kim et al. 2011). Moreover, benefits regarding 'job enlargement' and 'job enrichment' are also incorporated into the model in task arrangements. Subtasks in projects for different roles, such as research and administration, are assigned to team members. The integration of employees in a combined team can also simplify the employee structure, helping the startup to manage the human resources regarding the arrangement of multiple sub-teams. Based on the estimated abilities of the team members from different levels, which can be converted as 'estimated contribution' to the research projects, there should be a sufficient number of team members to satisfy related requirements. Regarding the compensation amount for the team, it should be affordable for the startup.

Decision variable:

 x_i : number of employees from level *i* to be recruited

Related notations:

 $\begin{array}{l} i: \mbox{ level of employees, } i \in \{1,...,n\} \\ j: \mbox{ subtask, } j \in \{1,...,m\} \\ d_i^j: \mbox{ working days of employees from level } i \mbox{ for subtask } j \\ s_i^j: \mbox{ daily salary of per employee from level } i \mbox{ to complete subtask } j \\ r_i^j: \mbox{ daily contribution of per employee from level } i \mbox{ to complete subtask } j \\ w^j: \mbox{ monthly workload of subtask } j \end{array}$

$$\min Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{i}^{j} s_{i}^{j} x_{i}$$
(4.3a)

s.t.
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i^j d_i^j x_i \ge w^j, j \in \{1, ..., m\}$$
 (4.3b)

$$\forall x_i \in \mathbf{Z}^+ \tag{4.3c}$$

The objective function (4.3a) is to minimize the salary expenditure. (4.3a) comprises different salary items based on the tasks assigned to the employee. (4.3b) and (4.3c) present the ideas of 'team diversity', 'job enlargement' and 'job enrichment'. There may be several projects that the startup is conducting, each of which consists of different subtasks for different roles. A team with employees from different levels will complete subtasks in different projects. As for the workload, if each subtask in the respective project can be satisfied, the whole project can be 100% completed, whereby all the projects that the startup is conducting can be completed. Regarding the timeframe of the project, if the respective workload allocated for the respective time period can be satisfied, the whole project can be completed on time. 'Flexible working hours' is considered by the total workload assignment. A specific

day for a specific task is not restricted by the policy, which can be decided by staff based on the individual's situation.

4.2.1.2 Application

In R&D department, the most important task is research, associated with some necessary administration tasks. A gradient of employee levels and salary standards are practicable in the AI industry, which can be referred to by startups (Ai Tech Yun 2019; Xiaozhi 2019; Tencent 2019). Based on the decision criteria that the company sets, such as the experience and qualification, different levels and values are awarded to employees, which are directly related to the estimated contributions of employees. In the R&D department, the main focus is on research, thus the consideration of 'contribution' can be the ability and effort that the employee can dedicate to the success and achievement of the innovation of the research targets. In this study, as an illustrative example, the value of the 'estimated contribution' of the employee is judged by the consideration of the knowledge that the employee possesses towards AI research, especially the top technology that the employee grasps, which can be inferred from related education and experience. At the same time, the corresponding industry salary benchmarks can be the inferential source to determine the estimated contribution. Referring to the common industry situation (e.g. Career International 2019; Xiaozhi 2019; Tencent 2019 etc.), related data of the computational example of the R&D department are generated as in Table 9. As a new company, startup has no current workforce to be compared and has no experience to accurately judge the productivity of the potential employees. Referring to the industry common situation of the segmentations of salary levels, qualification levels as well as position levels, the startup can understand the overall situation in the initial corporate stage. Later, with the development of the company, the criteria of the indication of productivity will be made based on its own realtime situation, the accumulated experience as well as the changing business environment.

- 00000 0			
Level	Experience	Average compensation	Estimated con-
		amount	tribution (index
			point)
Resear	chers		
1	AI Chief Scien-	6000k pa $(500k$ per	15 points per work-
	tist $(15 + years)$	month, 25k per working	ing day
		day)	
2	AI Expert (5-7	2500k pa (209k per	6.25 points per
	years)	month, 10.4k per work-	working day
	· ,	ing day)	- ·
3	Senior AI Re-	500k pa (42k per month,	1.25 points per
	searcher (PhD	2.1k per working day)	working day
	graduate)		0 1
4	Software Engi-	400k pa (33k per month,	1 point per working
	neer $(3 + year)$	1.7k per working day)	day
Manag	er	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1		700k pa (59k per month,	1 point per working
		2.9k per working day)	day
Manag 1	neer (3+ year) eer	1.7k per working day)700k pa (59k per month,2.9k per working day)	day 1 point per workin, day

Table 9: Data of R&D Department (*20 working days per month)

Non-optimal Solution The non-optimal situation is that subteams are formed by a single type of researchers to take charge of different projects and a single type of work is assigned to employees (research or administration). A case is given that there are two projects that the startup is conducting, carrying different weights in the practice, Project A with 60% and Project B with 40% (Table 10).

 Table 10: Non-optimal Arrangement of R&D Department

Project A team	Project B team
5 level 2 researchers	3 level 2 researchers
$1 \operatorname{manager}(\operatorname{administration})$	1 manager(administration)

Total salary expenditure is $Z^{R'} = (5+3) \cdot 209k + (1+1) \cdot 59k = 1790k$ Index of task contribution (*20 working days per month) Research: Project A: $5 \cdot 6.25 \cdot 20 = 625$ points Project B: $3 \cdot 6.25 \cdot 20 = 375$ points Administration: Project A+B: $(1+1) \cdot 1 \cdot 20 = 40$ points

Optimal Solution For startups, it is a good practice to recruit researchers from multiple levels to form a team. The contributions of employees from different levels are different, especially in the AI field, where the strong hightech background is of key importance. There is no doubt that higher level employees with rich experience can contribute more to the R&D research, and certainly should be paid based on the higher salary standards. Even though the compensation amounts of the top researchers are much higher than the other levels of researchers, it would be better to recruit the top researchers to form the team together with other levels of researchers in order to facilitate innovation and creation. To optimize the case in the non-optimal solution, the salary expenditure should not be over the current amount, at the same time, all tasks should be completed. To improve the situation, taking 'job enlargement' and 'job enrichment' into consideration, human resources in R&D department should be reallocated. In some mature companies, 'job enrichment' and 'job enlargement' are incorporated into job design (Gao 2019). In this study, with the consideration of these concepts, works are assigned to all levels of employees to achieve a better working situation, whereby all employees can be benefited. The new optimal situation is arranged as in Table 11.

Task arrangement (*20 working days per month)				
	level 1	level 2	level 3	level 4
Research time	90%	85%	80%	75%
Project A	11 days	11 days	10 days	9 days
Project B	7 days	6 days	6 days	6 days
Administration time	10%	15%	20%	25%
Project A+B	2 days	3 days	4 days	5 days

Table 11: Optimal Arrangement of R&D Department

As different kinds of tasks are assigned to employees, the new salary amount should consider different salary standards of the tasks. Based on the task arrangement in Table 11, the new salary amounts can be composed as Table 12.

	· · · -
Level	New salary amount (per month)
1	$(25k \cdot 18 + 2.9k \cdot 2) = 455.8k$
2	$(10.4k \cdot 17 + 2.9k \cdot 3) = 185.5k$
3	$(2.1k \cdot 16 + 2.9k \cdot 4) = 45.2k$
4	$(1.7k \cdot 15 + 2.9k \cdot 5) = 40k$

Table 12: New Salary Amounts of R&D Department

The optimization model is

. 7

$$\min Z = 455.8k \cdot x_1 + 185.5k \cdot x_2 + 45.2k \cdot x_3 + 40k \cdot x_4$$
(4.4a)
s.t. $15 \cdot 11 \cdot x_1 + 6.25 \cdot 11 \cdot x_2 + 1.25 \cdot 10 \cdot x_3 + 1 \cdot 9 \cdot x_4 \ge 625$ (4.4b)

$$15 \cdot 7 \cdot x_1 + 6.25 \cdot 6 \cdot x_2 + 1.25 \cdot 6 \cdot x_3 + 1 \cdot 6 \cdot x_4 \ge 375 \tag{4.4c}$$

$$2 \cdot x_1 + 3 \cdot x_2 + 4 \cdot x_3 + 5 \cdot x_4 \ge 40 \tag{4.4d}$$
$$\forall x_i \ge 1 \tag{4.4e}$$

Related results are rounded as $x_1 = 2$, $x_2 = 3$, $x_3 = 6$ and $x_4 = 1$.

The total compensation amount is:

 $Z^R = 455.8k \cdot 2 + 185.5k \cdot 3 + 45.2k \cdot 6 + 40k \cdot 1 = 1779.3k$

With different data of different companies, there may be situations that no optimal integer results can be obtained with the satisfaction of all constraints and get the cheaper cost than the non-optimal solution. In the real-life practices, the number of recruitment should be integer. Therefore, in this study, if the integer results cannot be searched, for a near-optimal solution, the constraint $\forall x_i \in \mathbf{Z}^+$ is replaced as $\forall x_i \geq 1$. Correspondingly, there are reasonable rounded numbers for final decisions. As for the acceptable error, HR practitioners arrange the resources based on real situations. Fraction results of the optimization models have meaning to the HR managers regarding providing the information of the possible minimum costs. Considering some subjective factors in the recruitment process and referring to the possible minimum costs, the HR manager will then determine related resource allocation to get the near-optimal solution as close to the optimal solution as possible.

Based on the results $Z^{R'}$ and Z^{R} , the superiority of the optimization model can be demonstrated. Tasks can be completed with less expenditure, while at the same time, 'job enlargement' and 'job enrichment' can be achieved (4.4b, 4.4c, 4.4d). Moreover, 'team diversity' with 4 different levels of researchers composes a better talent structure.

4.2.1.3 Discussion

Similar to the existing literature, this study adopts the common constraints considered by scholars, such as costs and skills. For the constraints of 'skills' that the company requires, some researchers consider the type of skills generally while others consider exact skills in different situations (e.g. Berk et al. 2019; De Bruecker et al. 2015; Srour 2005; Haas et al. 2000). In this study, with the specific attention to the R&D department in AI Smart Home startups, 'skill' refers to the knowledge and experience backgrounds of AI technology, which correlates with the segments of the researchers' levels.

In addition, with the specific attention to R&D department, in order to advance R&D innovation and create a better working condition, the model (4.3) incorporates HR well-being parameters of 'team diversity', 'job enlargement' and 'job enrichment' (Section 2.2). The satisfaction of related constraints can no doubt assist in the recruitment. Recruitment results have positive effects on human capital development and employee performance, which can achieve 'Strategic HRM' that great values are added to corporate development (Section 2.3).

To comprehensively analyse the practicability of the proposed model (4.3), different situations are compared. One is that only focusing on expenditure without considering HR well-being parameters, there may be the cheaper situation to hire a certain amount of only one category of staff in the lower level. For instant, as in the computational example, hiring 50 level 4 staff and 2 managers to complete the workload. However, this is not easy to be achieved in real-life practices as the limitation of capability of the office as well as the difficulty in recruiting the required number of people. At the same time, benefits of 'team diversity', such as the facilitation of innovation cannot be obtained. HR well-being parameters are the main concerns of this

study, aiming at obtaining as many related benefits as possible to achieve a better HR system. Based on the comparison with the 'non-optimal solution' in the computational example, the proposed 'optimal solution' achieves cost-saving and obtains benefits of HR well-being parameters. Therefore, in real-life practices, based on the corporate well-being policy and subjective criteria, HR managers can refer to and compare different cases (the proposed optimal situation, the existing non-optimal situation as well as the cheaper situation without well-being parameters) to make the final decision of the recruiting plan.

4.2.2 Manufacturing Department

4.2.2.1 Mathematical Modelling

The manufacturing department takes charge of the productions, which are the sources of revenues of the startup. It is necessary to arrange reasonable human resources to guarantee that both quantity and quality requirements in the manufacturing department can be satisfied. Furthermore, with a focus on employees' benefits, in order to avoid poor working conditions as in the sweatshops (ifeng 2018; China Daily 2018), in addition to the operation requirements, welfare parameters should also be taken into consideration.

In the manufacturing department, product installation and product quality control ensure that products can meet both quantity and quality requirements. Based on the real conditions of the company, there can be the recruitment of different levels of workers and/or testers, such as the senior workers (testers) and junior workers (testers), with the consideration of different levels of the salary, accuracy, and proficiency. Based on the policy of 'job enlargement', employees have the opportunity to involve in the manufacturing process of different products. Considering the 'work-life balance' parameters, the workload assigned to employees should be reasonable based on the abilities of employees at different levels. In the manufacturing department, besides the cost of salary, it is necessary to consider the costs of defective products, as mistakes in the manufacturing process are unavoidable. Moreover, due to the capacity of the workshop, such as the number of lathes, the number of employees to be recruited is restricted based on the real situation of the startup.

Decision variable:

 x_i : number of employees from level *i* to be recruited

Related notations:

i: level of employees, $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$

j: subtask (e.g. install or test), $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$

 $r_i^j:$ number of products that subtask j has been done by employees from level i per month

 s_i^j : monthly salary of employees from level *i* to complete subtask *j*

 w^j : monthly workload of subtask j

 $c^j\colon \mathrm{cost}$ per mistake in subtask j

 h_i^j : accuracy rate of employees from level *i* to completed subtask *j*

k%: percentage of the amount of mistakes in the total production

L: limited number of employees in workshop restricted by the workshop's capacity

$$\min Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} [s_i^j x_i + c^j r_i^j (1 - h_i^j) x_i]$$
(4.5a)

s.t.
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i^j x_i \ge w^j, j \in \{1, ..., m\}$$
 (4.5b)

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} (1 - h_{i}^{j}) r_{i}^{j} x_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} r_{i}^{j} x_{i}} \le k\%$$
(4.5c)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \le L \tag{4.5d}$$

$$\forall x_i \in \mathbf{Z}^+ \tag{4.5e}$$

The objective function (4.5a) is the minimization of total costs, including the salary expenditure and the costs of mistakes. Constraint (4.5b) considers the workload of different subtasks, which is concerned with the requirement of the number of manufactured (or tested) products. Control of mistakes is represented by constraint (4.5c) and the limitation of the workshop's capacity is represented by (4.5d). (4.5e) reflects 'team diversity' with employees from every level. Same as the R&D department, 'flexible working hours' is reflected by assigning total workload during a certain period of time, which allows as much flexibility as possible as long as the total workload can be completed on time.

4.2.2.2 Application

For resource allocation in the manufacturing department, startups can refer to the situation of the outsourcing manufacturers. In this section, the computational example of salary amounts refers to the salary search websites (e.g. Jobui 2019; Kanzhun 2019; Zhipeng 2019 etc.). For productivity, data are generated based on the reference of the working situation in the outsourcing manufacturers (e.g. China Labor Watch 2018). Related data of the manufacturing department are shown in Table 13.

$-\cdots $				
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	
Estimated accuracy rate	98%	96%	94%	
Estimated productivity	2500	2000	1500	
(number of products)				
	Salary amo	unt (per mont	h)	
Installation	8000	5600	5000	
Test	6400	5600	5200	

Table 13: Data of Manufacturing Department

Non-optimal Solution A case is given that two types of tasks, installation and test, are assigned to employees. The capacity of the workshop (such as the number of lathe machines) is limited to ten employees.

In the non-optimal situation, repeated works are assigned to employees. Assuming that the tasks are assigned to respective types of five level 2 employees. It is inevitable that some mistakes will occur during the manufacturing process, whereby it is necessary to consider the costs of mistakes. Taken the AI voice-control chip as an example for the calculation of the cost of mistakes, referring to the market price, it is about RMB 50 (e.g. Chipintelli 2019; JD 2019 etc.), thus assuming that each mistake will cause the loss of RMB 50.

The total expenditure of non-optimal situation is $Z^{M'} = 5600 \cdot 5 + 5200 \cdot 5 + 2000 \cdot (5+5) \cdot (1-96\%) \cdot 50 = 96000$ Tasks amounts are Installation: $5 \cdot 2000 = 10000$ products Test: $5 \cdot 2000 = 10000$ products

Optimal Solution Based on the model (4.5), different tasks are designed for the employees. As all manufactured products should be tested for quality assurance, assuming that each task, installation and test, takes 50% of the workload respectively. Referring to the salary standard in Table 13, the new combined salary amounts are arranged as in Table 14.

Table 14: New Salary Amounts of Manufacturing Department

Level	New salary amount (per month)
1	$8000 \cdot 50\% + 6400 \cdot 50\% = 7200$
2	$5600 \cdot 50\% + 5600 \cdot 50\% = 5600$
3	$5200 \cdot 50\% + 5000 \cdot 50\% = 5100$

As for the mistake, it is set as $\leq 10\%$ of the total production. Due to the capacity of the factory workshop, the total number of employees should not be over ten. And the tasks to be completed cannot be less than the non-optimal situation.

In this situation, the optimal model is

$$\min \quad Z = 7200 \cdot x_1 + 5600 \cdot x_2 + 5100 \cdot x_3 \\ + 50 \cdot [2500x_1 \cdot (1 - 98\%) + 2000x_2 \cdot (1 - 96\%) + 1500x_3 \cdot (1 - 94\%)] \\ = 9700x_1 + 9600x_2 + 9600x_3 \qquad (4.6a) \\ s.t. \quad 50\% \cdot (2500 \cdot x_1 + 2000 \cdot x_2 + 1500 \cdot x_3) \ge 10000 \qquad (4.6b)$$

$$\frac{2500x_1 \cdot (1 - 98\%) + 2000x_2 \cdot (1 - 96\%) + 1500x_3 \cdot (1 - 94\%)}{2500 \cdot x_1 + 2000 \cdot x_2 + 1500 \cdot x_3} \le 10\%$$
(4.6c)

$$x_1 + x_2 + x_3 \le 10 \tag{4.6d}$$

$$\forall x_i \in \mathbf{Z}^+ \tag{4.6e}$$

Optimal solution is $x_1 = 5$, $x_2 = 3$, and $x_3 = 1$.

The total cost is:

 $Z^M = 9700 \cdot 5 + 9600 \cdot 3 + 9600 \cdot 1 = 86900$

Based on the results $Z^{M'}$ and Z^M , cost-saving is demonstrated. At the

same time, 'team diversity' and 'job enlargement' can be achieved (4.6b, 4.6e). The amount of mistake is controlled by (4.6c) and the workshop capacity is controlled by (4.6d).

4.2.2.3 Discussion

For model (4.5), compared with the 'non-optimal solution' in the computational example, the achievement of 'team diversity' and 'job enlargement' in the manufacturing department benefits employees with a richer knowledge pool while avoiding the problem of performing a single kind of task boringly (Section 2.2). These benefits can increase the attractiveness to job seekers, thus assisting startups to have more advantages when competing with mature companies (Section 1.2.1).

The proposed model can serve in the initial stage of work arrangement to decide the recruitment quantum for startups that are newly founded. With the startup's development, it can also be utilized when there is a labor short-age in further practice. The proposed model (4.5) can provide a clear picture of the quantum of workers needed, and can also work together with the existing literature that studies the task arrangement based on the current workforce (e.g. Ammar et al. 2012; Shewchuk 2008; Nakade and Ohno 1999), for a better human resource allocation with workload assignment in the manufacturing department from the planning phase to the implementing stage.

To understand the incorporation of HR well-being parameters in the optimization model, the proposed model is compared with the less-cost case. With 'job enlargement', different types of tasks (manufacturing and test) are assigned to a single teammate structure of 8 level 1 workers, the cost of which is 77600 with 2% mistake. It is adoptable to consider the well-being

parameter of job enlargement in task arrangement together with cost-saving. While, compared with the proposed 'optimal solution', the benefits of team diversity would not be achieved in this situation. Another factor in corporate long-term human resource management, the reserve talent plan, is deserved to be considered. Model (4.5) plans to recruit different levels of workers in the manufacturing department, the expected result of which is that senior workers who are proficient in the tasks of the production process can act as the teachers/trainers for the junior workers. Some operating skills in the processing workshop with accumulated experience is the great resource for the junior workers. Training junior workers as the reverse talent contributes to the corporate development, especially for startups that desire employees who understand and experience the growth and continuity of the company to be the potential leaders (Kirillov et al. 2017; Song 2017; Lin 2016). Therefore, for HR managers in real-life practices, as the data are various in every organization, there is a trade-off between the consideration of well-being parameters and the expenditure to make a suitable application of optimization.

4.2.3 Sales Department

4.2.3.1 Mathematical Modelling

The sales department plays an important role in broadening the market prospects. Many startups are looking to own a solid sales team to achieve corporate goals (McDougall 2002). The recruitment quantum of the sales department should ensure that there is the sufficient number of employees to serve the estimated number of customers during a period. With the trend of international trade, the sales department focuses on both national and international markets. Thus, 'team diversity' is about different language skills and cross-culture experience that employees hold. 'Team diversity' of people from different backgrounds also adopts the idea of rich knowledge pool for learning from each other. Communication with employees who hold different language skills is also a good way for employees to broaden the horizon and know more about different cultures and oversea situations, which can further benefit employees in career development to better serve customers from different backgrounds. Regarding 'job enlargement', those employees, who can serve the customers in different languages are assigned to multiple service tasks. Furthermore, as the working period in the sales department is longer than the normal 8 am - 5 pm period, especially in companies that trade with foreign countries with time differences, it would be better to arrange 'flexible working hours' for employees. 'Flexible working hours' can be achieved by providing different staffing options to be chosen by employees based on their own situations. The actual working time period would be decided by the company.

Decision variable:

 $x_i^{j^k}$: number of employees with i skill(s) in working periods j+k to be recruited

Related notations:

i: numbers of kinds of skills that employee holds, $i \in \{1,...,n\}$

n: numbers of kinds of skills that employer requires, $n \in \mathbf{Z}^+$

j, k: choices of working time period, $j \in \{1, ..., t\}, k \in \{1, ..., t\}, j \neq k$

t: optional working time periods, $t \in \mathbf{Z}^+$

h: skills (e.g. h = 1 is Chinese, ...), $h \in \mathbf{Z}^+$

 $s_i^{jk}:$ monthly salary of employees with i skill(s) in working time periods j+k

 w_h^j : required number of employees with skill h in working time period jl: limited number of employees per staffing option, $l \in \mathbf{Z}^+$

$$\min Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{t} \sum_{k=1}^{t} s_i^{jk} x_i^{jk}$$
(4.7a)

s.t.
$$\sum_{i=h}^{n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} x_i^{kj} + \sum_{k=j+1}^{t} x_i^{jk}\right) \ge w_h^j, h \in \{1, ..., n\}, j \in \{1, ..., t\}$$
(4.7b)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} x_i^{kj} \sum_{k=j+1}^{t} x_i^{jk}\right) \le l, j \in \{1, ..., t\}$$
(4.7c)

$$\forall x_i^{jk} \in \mathbf{Z}^+, i \in \{1, ..., n\}, j \in \{1, ..., t\}, k \in \{1, ..., t\}, j \neq k$$
 (4.7d)

The objective function (4.7a) is to minimize the salary expenditure. Constraint (4.7b) satisfies the required workload and constraint (4.7c) limits the number of workers per staffing option. Constraint (4.7d) guarantees that there are employees with different backgrounds to form the team.

4.2.3.2 Application

As the working time periods in the sales department cover day shift and night shift, if the night shift is regarded as overtime working, based on the regulation of the Beijing government (Beijing Government 2019), the salary of the night shift should be 1.5 times of day shift. A case is given that there are three language services that the startup requires. Referring to the common industry salary situation (e.g. Jobui 2019; Kanzhun 2019; Zhipeng 2019 etc.), related data of the sales department are shown in Table 15.

	Chinese	Chinese and	Chinese, English	
		English	and Japanese	
Day shift	6600	7200	7800	
Night shift	9900	10800	11700	

Table 15: Data of Sales Department

Non-optimal Solution Assuming that there is the certain number of employees in different service lines that the startup needs as in Table 16.

Table 16: Non-optimal Arrangement of Sales Department

	Chinese	English	Japanese
Day shift	5	4	3
Night shift	4	3	2

Each employee is assigned to a single type of language service with one shift, either day shift or night shift. In this situation, the total salary expenditure is

 $Z^{S'} = 5 \cdot 6600 + 4 \cdot 9900 + 4 \cdot 7200 + 3 \cdot 10800 + 3 \cdot 7800 + 2 \cdot 11700 = 180600$

Optimal Solution In the optimal situation, based on the model (4.7), for the total number of employees per period, the number is limited to 12 due to the startup's capacity. For 'flexible working hours', one of the examples is 8 am -24 am period, with 4 shifts of 4-hour each. Based on their own situations, employees can choose any of two shifts to satisfy the requirement of 8 working hours per day.

Example of time period:

1: 8 am –12 pm (Day shift)

2: 12 pm –16 pm (Day shift)

3: 16 pm –20 pm (Night shift)

4: 20 pm -24 am (Night shift)

There will be $C_k^n = \binom{n}{k} = \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!} = \frac{4!}{2!2!} = 6$ options. This study aims to provide all of the options to be chosen by employees. Related decision variables are shown in Table 17. Based on the new arrangement in the sales department, Table 18 lists the new salary amounts.

Table 17: Optimal Arrangement of Sales Department

	Chinese	Chinese,	Chinese, English	
		English	and Japanese	
Option A: 1+2	$x_1^{12} (x_1)^*$	$x_2^{12} (x_7)^*$	$x_3^{12} (x_{13})^*$	
Option B: $1+3$	$x_1^{13} (x_2)^*$	$x_2^{13} (x_8)^*$	$x_3^{13} (x_{14})^*$	
Option C: $1+4$	$x_1^{14} (x_3)^*$	$x_2^{14} (x_9)^*$	$x_3^{14} (x_{15})^*$	
Option D: $2+3$	$x_1^{23} (x_4)^*$	$x_2^{23} (x_{10})^*$	$x_3^{23} (x_{16})^*$	
Option E: $2+4$	$x_1^{24} (x_5)^*$	$x_2^{24} (x_{11})^*$	$x_3^{24} (x_{17})^*$	
Option F: $3+4$	$x_1^{34} (x_6)^*$	$x_2^{34} (x_{12})^*$	$x_3^{34} (x_{18})^*$	

*For HR managers who are not familiar with superscripts and subscripts, variables can be renumbered in computation.

Table 18: New Salary Amounts of Sales Department

	Chinese	Chinese,	Chinese, English
		English	and Japanese
day shift + day shift	6600	7200	7800
day shift $+$ night shift	8250	9000	9750
night shift + night shift	9900	10800	11700

In this situation, the optimization model is

$$\min Z = 6600 \cdot x_1^{12} + 8250 \cdot (x_1^{13} + x_1^{14} + x_1^{23} + x_1^{24}) + 9900 \cdot x_1^{34} + 7200 \cdot x_2^{12} + 9000 \cdot (x_2^{13} + x_2^{14} + x_2^{23} + x_2^{24}) + 10800 \cdot x_2^{34} + 7800 \cdot x_3^{12} + 9750 \cdot (x_3^{13} + x_3^{14} + x_3^{23} + x_3^{24}) + 11700 \cdot x_3^{34}$$
(4.8a)

s.t.
$$x_1^{12} + x_1^{10} + x_1^{11} + x_2^{12} + x_2^{10} + x_2^{11} + x_3^{12} + x_3^{10} + x_3^{11} \ge 5$$
 (4.8b)
 $x_1^{12} + x_1^{23} + x_1^{24} + x_2^{12} + x_2^{23} + x_2^{24} + x_3^{12} + x_3^{23} + x_3^{24} \ge 5$ (4.8c)

$$\begin{aligned} x_1^{13} + x_1^{23} + x_1^{34} + x_2^{13} + x_2^{23} + x_2^{34} + x_1^{13} + x_2^{23} + x_3^{34} \ge 4 & (4.8d) \\ x_1^{14} + x_1^{24} + x_1^{34} + x_2^{14} + x_2^{24} + x_2^{34} + x_3^{14} + x_3^{24} + x_3^{34} \ge 4 & (4.8e) \\ x_2^{12} + x_2^{13} + x_2^{14} + x_1^{12} + x_3^{13} + x_3^{14} \ge 4 & (4.8f) \\ x_2^{12} + x_2^{23} + x_2^{24} + x_3^{12} + x_3^{23} + x_3^{24} \ge 4 & (4.8g) \\ x_2^{13} + x_2^{23} + x_2^{24} + x_3^{14} + x_3^{23} + x_3^{34} \ge 3 & (4.8h) \\ x_2^{14} + x_2^{24} + x_2^{34} + x_3^{14} + x_2^{24} + x_3^{34} \ge 3 & (4.8i) \\ x_1^{12} + x_1^{33} + x_1^{34} \ge 3 & (4.8i) \\ x_1^{12} + x_3^{23} + x_3^{34} \ge 2 & (4.8l) \\ x_1^{12} + x_1^{23} + x_3^{24} + x_3^{34} \ge 2 & (4.8l) \\ x_1^{12} + x_1^{13} + x_1^{14} + x_2^{12} + x_2^{13} + x_2^{14} + x_1^{12} + x_1^{13} + x_1^{34} \le 12 & (4.8n) \\ x_1^{12} + x_1^{23} + x_1^{24} + x_2^{12} + x_2^{23} + x_2^{24} + x_1^{32} + x_3^{34} \le 12 & (4.8n) \\ x_1^{12} + x_1^{23} + x_1^{24} + x_2^{12} + x_2^{23} + x_2^{24} + x_1^{32} + x_3^{34} \le 12 & (4.8n) \\ x_1^{14} + x_1^{24} + x_1^{34} + x_2^{14} + x_2^{24} + x_3^{34} + x_3^{34} \le 12 & (4.8p) \\ x_1^{14} + x_1^{24} + x_1^{34} + x_2^{14} + x_2^{24} + x_2^{34} + x_3^{14} + x_2^{24} + x_3^{34} \le 12 & (4.8q) \\ \forall x_i^{ik} \ge 1, i \in \{1, 2, 3\}, j \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, k \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, j \ne k & (4.8r) \end{aligned}$$

Optimal Solution is $x_1^{12}(x_1) = 1$, $x_1^{13}(x_2) = 1$, $x_1^{14}(x_3) = 1$, $x_1^{23}(x_4) = 1$, $x_1^{24}(x_5) = 1$, $x_1^{34}(x_6) = 1$, $x_2^{12}(x_7) = 1$, $x_2^{13}(x_8) = 1$, $x_2^{14}(x_9) = 1$, $x_2^{23}(x_{10}) = 1$, $x_2^{24}(x_{11}) = 1$, $x_2^{34}(x_{12}) = 1$, $x_1^{32}(x_{13}) = 1$, $x_3^{13}(x_{14}) = 1$, $x_1^{34}(x_{15}) = 1$, $x_3^{23}(x_{16}) = 1$, $x_3^{24}(x_{17}) = 1$, and $x_3^{34}(x_{18}) = 1$.

The total compensation amount is

 $Z^{S} = 6600 + 8250 \cdot 4 + 9900$ + 7200 + 9000 \cdot 4 + 10800 + 7800 + 9750 \cdot 4 + 11700 = 162000

Based on the computational results $Z^{S'}$ and Z^{S} , cost-saving is demonstrated. Different tasks can be completed by the 'diversity team' with the achievement of 'job enlargement' and 'flexible working hours' (4.8b - 4.8m, 4.8r). The capacity of the workplace is controlled by (4.8n) - (4.8q) as the upper bound of 12 workers per shift.

4.2.3.3 Discussion

Apart from 'team diversity' and 'job enlargement' parameters, due to the longer working time period and the non-stop service nature in the sales department, 'flexible working hours' is also taken into consideration with different combinations of different staffing options. There is no doubt that better working condition that the startup can provide is an attractive point for job seekers in the serious talent war (Section 1.2.1).

Similar to the literature that discusses staffing problems (e.g. Qin et al. 2020; Bhulai et al. 2008; Atlason et al. 2004), the model developed in this study also considers the requirement of services skills, the completion of estimated workloads, the minimization of related costs and the maximum number of workers scheduled during a period. Regarding the rostering, researchers consider the consecutive working days, day-offs, extended weekends and so on (e.g. Prot et al. 2015; Van den Bergh et al. 2013; Fukunaga et al. 2002). The model developed in this study presents a way of choosing different options by combination, which is another way that provides flexibility in staffing.

To analyse achievements of cost-saving and well-being benefits as the 'optimal solution' proposed, other situations are compared. In addition to the consideration of the minimization of cost and 'job enlargement', for the consideration of 'flexible working hours', instead of providing all the combinations of staffing options, there are other cheaper situations if only providing partial options, such as period 1+2 combination and period 3+4 combination. Comparing the proposed model (4.7) and the situation of partial achievement of 'flexible working hours', providing all the combinations can attract different potential employees who prefer different options, which is one way of widening the talent pool and increasing the chance of choosing the best-fit candidates (Maxwell et al. 2007). Based on the real situation of the targeted talent market, HR managers should make a judgement of the difficulty of getting multi-skilled candidates suitable for two staffing options and the difficulty of choosing multiple levels of employees with the provision of all six staffing options. The benefit of team diversity in the sales department regarding the knowledge learning and sharing among employees is another factor in determining the application of HR well-being parameters, which is also related to the personnel training, career development as well as the reserve talent plan. Therefore, depending on the real situation of the startup, the proposed model (4.7) is workable as all benefits can be achieved with the comparison with the 'non-optimal solution', or there can be the choice of adopting a part of well-being parameters with the first priority of expenditure.

4.2.4 Integrated Model

4.2.4.1 Mathematical Modelling

The linear models outlined in the above sections are to help startups design the recruitment plan by considering different aspects. In the real-life context, in some scenarios, it would be better to consider different unknown variables together. For startups that are new in the industry and may possess insufficient knowledge, it is deserving to consider the integration of the problems of 'compensation package' and 'recruitment quantum' in one model in order to achieve the optimization of the recruitment plan as a whole. This suggests the need for a nonlinear model that considers two types of variables in the model, the number of the employees to be recruited and the amount of the compensation package to pay. It overcomes the limitations of the linear planning model that only considers either the compensation amount or recruitment quantum, as the compensation amount may lead to the insufficient number of employees to be recruited due to the budget constraint, while the decision of recruitment quantum will limit the level of the compensation amount, which may cause negative effects on the attractiveness of the startup in comparison of industry benchmarks. The determination of the right number of employees has a close relationship with the satisfaction of workload requirement. The advantage of this model is the consideration of different variables from different perspectives in the objective function, aiming at achieving the optimization of the recruitment planning as the whole, allowing relations between different areas to be coordinated optimally. Within the corporate budget constraint, a sufficient number of employees with suitable backgrounds can be recruited based on the attractive compensation amount, which can improve the fulfillment of the requirements of demand and development.

Decision variables:

 x_i : number of employees from level *i* to be recruited

 y_i^j : daily salary of employees from level *i* to complete subtask *j*

Related notations:

i: level of employees, $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$

j: subtask, $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$

 d_i^j : working days of per employee from level *i* for subtask *j*

 r_i^j : contribution of per employee from level *i* to subtask *j* per working day

 s_i : industry monthly salary benchmarks of employees from level i w^j : monthly workload of subtask j

k%: corporate policy of percentage of salary amount referring to industry benchmark

L: limited number of employees from each level

$$\min Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_i^j y_i^j x_i$$
(4.9a)

s.t.
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i^j d_i^j x_i \ge w^j, j \in \{1, ..., m\}$$
 (4.9b)

$$(1 - k\%)s_i \le \sum_{j=1}^m d_i^j y_i^j \le (1 + k\%)s_i, i \in \{1, ..., n\}$$
(4.9c)

$$\forall x_i \le L \tag{4.9d}$$

$$\forall x_i \in \mathbf{Z}^+ \tag{4.9e}$$

$$\forall y_i^j \ge 0 \tag{4.9f}$$

The objective function (4.9a) is to optimize the total expenditure with consideration of planned compensation package and number of recruitment. The targeted workload should be achieved by the team with employees from different levels, which is represented by constraints (4.9b, 4.9e). As for designing the compensation package, it comprises different amounts for different kinds of tasks, at the same time, the compensation amount should fit the range set by the startup based on the industry benchmark, as shown in constraints (4.9c, 4.9f). Constraint (4.9d) considers the capacity of the workshop.

4.2.4.2 Application

As the central department in AI Smart Home startups, R&D department is again taken as the computational example, and the case with related data are derived from Section 4.2.1.

Non-optimal Solution As the same case in the section above (Section 4.2), in the non-optimal situation, the total salary expenditure is RMB 1790k,

with 625 index points of the task to be completed for research in Project A, 375 index points of the task to be completed for research in Project B, and 40 index points of the task to be completed for administration (management) in Project A and Project B.

Optimal Solution Based on the integrated model (4.9), tasks are redesigned with the consideration of HR well-being parameters and the industry benchmarks, with which, $i \in \{1, ..., 4\}$ for the segment of employees' levels for research task j = 1 and i = 5 for all levels of employees involved in admin task j = 2. As the salary standard of admin task is for all levels of employees, for easier understanding, y_i^2 is converted as y_5^2 in the computation below.

$$\min Z = (18 \cdot y_1^1 + 2 \cdot y_5^2) \cdot x_1 + (17 \cdot y_2^1 + 3 \cdot y_5^2) \cdot x_2 + (16 \cdot y_3^1 + 4 \cdot y_5^2) \cdot x_3 + (15 \cdot y_4^1 + 5 \cdot y_5^2) \cdot x_4$$
(4.10a)

s.t.
$$15 \cdot 11 \cdot x_1 + 6.25 \cdot 11 \cdot x_2 + 1.25 \cdot 10 \cdot x_3 + 9 \cdot x_4 \ge 625$$
 (4.10b)

$$15 \cdot 7 \cdot x_1 + 6.25 \cdot 6 \cdot x_2 + 1.25 \cdot 6 \cdot x_3 + 6 \cdot x_4 \ge 375 \tag{4.10c}$$

$$2 \cdot x_1 + 3 \cdot x_2 + 4 \cdot x_3 + 5 \cdot x_4 \ge 40 \tag{4.10d}$$

$$18 \cdot y_1^1 + 2 \cdot y_5^2 \ge (1 - 10\%) \cdot 500k \tag{4.10e}$$

$$18 \cdot y_1^1 + 2 \cdot y_5^2 \le (1 + 10\%) \cdot 500k \tag{4.10f}$$

$$17 \cdot y_2^1 + 3 \cdot y_5^2 \ge (1 - 10\%) \cdot 209k \tag{4.10g}$$

$$17 \cdot y_2^1 + 3 \cdot y_5^2 \le (1 + 10\%) \cdot 209k \tag{4.10h}$$

$$16 \cdot y_3^1 + 4 \cdot y_5^2 \ge (1 - 10\%) \cdot 42k \tag{4.10i}$$

$$16 \cdot y_3^1 + 4 \cdot y_5^2 \le (1 + 10\%) \cdot 42k \tag{4.10j}$$

$$15 \cdot y_4^1 + 5 \cdot y_5^2 \ge (1 - 10\%) \cdot 33k \tag{4.10k}$$

$$15 \cdot y_4^1 + 5 \cdot y_5^2 \le (1 + 10\%) \cdot 33k \tag{4.10l}$$

$$y_5^2 \ge (1 - 10\%) \cdot 2.9k \tag{4.10m}$$

$$y_5^2 \le (1+10\%) \cdot 2.9k \tag{4.10n}$$

$$\forall x_i \le 10, i \in \{1, \dots, 5\} \tag{4.100}$$

$$\forall x_i \ge 1, i \in \{1, \dots, 5\} \tag{4.10p}$$

$$\forall y_i^j \ge 0, i \in \{1, ..., 5\}, j \in \{1, 2\}$$
(4.10q)

Up to the preference of HR managers, for those who are not familiar with superscripts and subscripts, related variables can be renumbered in the computation. Related rounded results are $x_1(x_1) = 2$, $x_2(x_2) = 3$, $x_3(x_3) = 6$, $x_4(x_4) = 1$, $y_1^1(x_5) = 24.7$, $y_2^1(x_6) = 10.6$, $y_3^1(x_7) = 1.7$, $y_4^1(x_8) = 1$, and $y_5^2(x_9) = 2.8$.

Correspondingly, the total salary expenditure is

$$Z = 2 \cdot (18 \cdot 24.7 + 2 \cdot 2.8) + 3 \cdot (17 \cdot 10.6 + 3 \cdot 2.8)$$
$$+ 6 \cdot (16 \cdot 1.7 + 4 \cdot 2.8) + 1 \cdot (15 \cdot 1 + 5 \cdot 2.8)$$
$$= 1725.6k$$

In this computational example, setting of $\forall x_i \in \mathbf{Z}^+$, the integer results are $x_1 = 2, x_2 = 3, x_3 = 5, x_4 = 3$ with the total cost of 1742.4k.

The result suggests that the model (4.9) is feasible to solve the integrated problem of the number of employees to be recruited, and the amount of compensation package for a minimum cost with the satisfaction of constraints. Based on the corporate data and some subjective factors in real-life practices, the solutions of rounded number or integer number can be compared, and the HR manager will decide the final resources allocation to get the suitable arrangement to fit the corporate development.

4.2.4.3 Discussion

In general, algorithms can find the optimal solution to the linear models. For the nonlinear functions such as this integrated model (4.9), global optimal solution or local optimal solution would be searched based on the constraints. In the case of this computational example, concerned with the constraints in the model, within the feasible region, the optimal solution is searched, which can be utilized as the solution to be referred to in recruitment planning.

Compared with a set of models developed with one variable, which can be the direct way to search for the optimal solutions, this integrated model (4.9) is practicable for the recruitment cases where related data are insufficient, such as in the initial stage when the startup is founded, or if there are new projects that the startup wants to conduct. The advantage of this model is the consideration of different variables from different perspectives in the objective function, aiming at achieving the optimization of the recruitment planning as the whole, better assisting the startup in the circumstances with uncertainties.

4.3 Discussion of Optimization Models in Recruitment Plan

4.3.1 Application of Optimization Models in Recruitment Plan

Based on the results of respective models, the validity and feasibility of the proposed models are demonstrated, indicating that the proposed models are applicable in the recruitment process. The models can be used by startups that key criteria for recruitment are startups' salary expenditures

and employees' welfare. Economic efficiency can be achieved by cost savings. Furthermore, results are presented for the satisfactions of both operation and welfare constraints. It is safe to assume that a set of models developed above can assist startups to make it clear of arranging the human resources in different departments based on respective needs. With considerations of optimization, operations requirements as well as well-being parameters, a better HR system can be established. It is also worth noting that a good working condition based on the HR well-being parameters can allow a win-win situation for both employers and employees. Compared with the non-optimal solution, to employees, a good working condition benefits employees a lot, such as a richer knowledge pool based on 'team diversity'. Having conducive working experience with 'job enlargement' and 'job enrichment' can better motivate employees to participate in the development of the startup. At the same time, the achievement of 'flexible working hours' can assist the startup in helping employees with regards to the responsibilities outside work, especially for those 'Only-child' in the family (Section 2.2). The achievement of the well-being constraints assists in creating better 'Talent Management' regarding the anticipation and fulfillment of the needs of the human capital, the contribution to better performance, and the creation of strategic sustainable success of the organizations (Section 2.2). There is no doubt that such welfare can be an attractive point to the potential employees, which is helpful in retaining employees in the company, whereby to some extent, can help the startup to be advantaged in the talent war (Section 1.2.1). With suitable and adequate employees, the desirable behaviors for corporate performance can be elicited, which will add values to the positive organizational outcomes, achieving 'Strategic HRM' (Section 2.3).

A set of proposed models in Chapter 4 considers 'team diversity', 'job en-

largement', 'job enrichment', 'work-life balance', and 'flexible working hours' in different circumstances, aiming at obtaining as many benefits of wellbeing parameters as possible and achieving the minimization of expenditures. Several computational examples provide different cases for comprehensively analysing the incorporation of HR well-being parameters and cost-saving. As the variety of different data sets in real-life practices, in some situations, there are trade-offs between the application of full/partial HR well-being parameters and the expenditures. The proposed models in this study provide a clear picture of expenditures, resources arrangement as well as employee welfare. It is a good practice for HR managers to analyse the situation with the proposed method and the commonly-used methods. The proposed optimization models can serve as the analysis tool with objective views. Regarding the balance of HR well-being parameters and the expenditure, it will then be judged based on the real corporate situations and corporate values, which is case-by-case different.

4.3.2 Superiority of Optimization Models in Recruitment Plan

Based on the computational results of all models developed for the recruitment plan, the superiority of optimization models is prominent as different requirements are satisfied, no matter in cost or well-being dimensions. The superiority of optimization models can also be demonstrated by the comparison with the existing methods that are commonly used by companies and HR practitioners in recruitment planning (Section 1.2.1). Delphi Technique and Experience Forecasting involve some subjective opinions from the experts, which may lead to inaccurate judgements and bias. The quantitative methods are more objective with scientific analysis. Statistical Analysis and Trend Forecasting, which requires historical data, are not suitable for startups' recruitment, especially at the early stage of founding as there is no mature database for startups to refer to. For Ratio Analysis and Regression Analysis, the disadvantage is that the main concern is the focus on obtaining the results of 'how many employees need to be recruited' while other factors, such as HR well-being parameters, are not emphasized.

Another mathematical analysis method, as presented in this study, optimization method, can be utilized as the complementary method in startups' recruitment process to make a more comprehensive analysis. Optimization models developed in this study consider multiple decision factors together, including budget, costs, workload and so on, achieving the balance of the factors and getting the optimal solutions. Compared with other methods, optimization is suitable at the initial stage of the startup when there is no mature database. With the satisfaction of all constraints, the dimensions of decision making are wider than those methods that only concern with workload and productivity. Furthermore, the integration of the HR wellbeing parameters gives prominence to the optimization method, as it can not only help the startup satisfy the operational requirement, but also can create the additional value in decision-making process regarding workforce welfare. With respect to the number of variables, optimization method is more flexible in application with linear model for one variable and nonlinear model for more variables. Therefore, it is a good practice for startups to introduce the optimization method in the recruitment planning process for an integrated consideration. The optimization result can be a reference point for HR practitioners to understand HR well-being parameters and expenditures, acting as the supplemental analysis tool in decision-making processes.

4.4 Summary

In this chapter, respective models for the recruitment plan are developed, including 'compensation package designing' as well as 'recruitment quantum planning'. Considering the real situation of the Chinese AI Smart Home startups, which usually operate in the combined business model, respective models are designed to suit the needs of different departments with essential workload requirements and worthy-considered HR well-being parameters. The computational results of models and the comparisons of different application situations suggest the feasibility of the proposed models. At the same time, the superiority of the models is demonstrated with the comparison made to existing commonly-used methods.

Chapter 5

Optimization of Recruitment Activities

5.1 Business Trips Routing

5.1.1 Mathematical Modelling

With the approval of the recruitment plan, in order to advertise the job vacancies to the targeted talent, visiting the universities to reach the talent pool directly is one of the choices (Talentseer 2020; Su and Yang 2015; Mathis and Jackson 2011). As AI Smart Home startups require talent with special AI background, it is essential to travel to cities that have universities with AI-related courses to recruit prospective employees. To optimize the business trips routing, travelling salesman problem (TSP) is referred to for modelling. The targeted cities can be simplified into nodes (Figure 1, Figure 2). Each node represents a targeted city, and the edge is the route to be chosen.

The HR team will visit all the targeted cities, each of which once, and then go back to the home city, which is the Hamilton cycle. The objective is to minimize the cost of the business trip. From an HRM perspective, it is a good practice that the startup HR team visits the universities during the graduation season, which is usually from June to July in China, in order to reach talent pools as many and as large as possible. The startup can consider joining the university job fairs during the specific time period and/or give a presentation to the graduates to share and disseminate related information. For those targeted cities (universities) that job fairs have been fixed during the suitable business trip period, the HR team will join the job fairs. For the other cities (universities) which do not hold job fairs, or the date of job fair does not fit the schedule, there will be the choice of giving a presentation to the targeted talent. Startups can negotiate with the university to give a presentation, date and time of which can be arranged to fit the schedule of the business trip. Related information can usually be found on the university website. Considering both choices can assist the HR manager in arranging necessary tasks for completing the business trip within the allocated time period, to ensure that the information about vacancies can be disseminated to the graduates on time. Meanwhile, the business trip itinerary can be arranged without interruptions. For the HR team members who are on a business trip, less travelling times allow more time to stay in the home city. This can also reflect the HR well-being of 'work-life balance', which can better assist the employees, especially those 'only child' to achieve responsibilities outside work. Moreover, regarding constraints in the optimization model, combining both methods to visit the cities (universities) can simplify the time constraints. In the optimization of routing problem, 'time window' is the constraint for limiting the timing of 'arrival', 'serve' as well as 'leave', which is widely concerned in 'Vehicle Routing Problem with Time Window' (VRPTW) (e.g. Toth and Vigo 2002). Each targeted city i is associated with a time interval $[a_i, b_i]$, called a time window. If the HR manager only concerns about joining the job fairs during the specific fixed date, there should be the consideration of the 'hard time window'.

'Hard time window' ensures that time constraints should be satisfied strictly, meaning that the HR team should visit the targeted city only within the specific time window. However, it may be difficult to complete the visits to all targeted cities in a single business trip routing as the dates for job fairs in different cities (universities) may not be in the same interval. Even though there can be the consideration of 'soft time window' with the 'penalty' to allow the flexibility in time constraints, the penalty is not easily converted to 'money'. Furthermore, if the schedule cannot be arranged continuously, some 'waiting' time should be spent in the targeted city until the date of the job fair, which will lead to the inefficiency of HR performance, especially for the startup that the HR resource is not strong enough. This will not just incur extra costs spent during the waiting time, but it also affects task arrangements, as the HR team members can be assigned other tasks if they are in the offices rather than staying in the hotels while waiting for the job fairs. Therefore, in this study, by adopting different choices to visit the targeted cities (universities), the model is developed for reaching talent pools without 'time window', which simplifies the decision-making process for HR managers. It is more cumbersome to consider the arriving time, serving time and leaving time in the business trip planning. It would be better to choose an easier way to plan resource allocation, which is effective and efficient in saving time and improving working performance. Moreover, it is an easier practice for HR managers in the computation regarding data collection and result calculation.







The decision of departure from city i to city j is represented by x_{ij} , where

 $x_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{this decision is chosen} \\ 0, & \text{this decision is not chosen} \\ i: \text{ targeted city to be visited} \\ j: \text{ next city to be visited after city } i \\ \text{Related notations:} \end{cases}$

 c_{ij} : cost of business trip from city *i* to city *j*

S: set of cities

Model for business trips routing is

$$\min Z = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_{ij} \cdot x_{ij} \tag{5.1a}$$

s.t.
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{ij} = 1, i = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$$
 (5.1b)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{ij} = 1, j = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$$
(5.1c)

$$\sum_{i \in S, j \in S}^{n} x_{ij} \le |S| - 1, \forall S \subset \{1, 2, ..., n\}, 2 \le |S| \le n - 2$$
 (5.1d)

$$x_{ij} \in \{0, 1\}$$
 (5.1e)

The objective function (5.1a) is to minimize the travelling costs to visit universities. Constraints (5.1b) (5.1c) and (5.1d) is to guarantee that each targeted city will be visited and only be visited once, the traveling route of which is the Hamilton cycle. As for constraint (5.1e), it represents whether the route from city *i* to city *j* is either be chosen or not. Based on the certain fixed budget *B* for the business trip, as $min \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_{ij} \cdot x_{ij}$ is found, there are maximum remaining budget $\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i \cdot s_i$ (the planned staying time (d_i days) in city *i* and the cost s_i of staying in city *i*), which can be calculated based on $\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i \cdot s_i = B - \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_{ij} \cdot x_{ij}$. More budget for $\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i \cdot s_i$ reflects employee welfare with benefiting team members better hotels, meals and so on.

5.1.2 Application

Targeted cities to be visited are sites where universities with AI education are located, such as Beijing (BJ), Harbin (HRB), Xi'an (XA), Shanghai (SH), Chengdu (CD) and Guangzhou (GZ). Related costs for the business trip include the costs of traveling as well as the costs of staying in the targeted cities. In this thesis, the computational example is given for searching for the minimum costs of traveling. Regarding the cost of staying in the targeted cities, such as hotels, transport, food and so on, based on the optimal solution of the traveling cost and the total business trip budget, the HR manager will then adjust the costs of staying in the targeted cities on a case by case basis. Generated by referring to fees in travelling websites (e.g. Ctrip 2020; Qunar 2020 etc.), related data are shown in Table 19.

		0				
	BJ	HRB	XA	\mathbf{SH}	CD	GΖ
BJ	0	700	600	500	700	600
HRB	700	0	650	500	750	650
XA	600	650	0	500	450	500
SH	500	500	500	0	550	500
CD	700	750	450	550	0	450
GZ	600	650	500	500	450	0

Table 19: Travelling Costs

The minimum cost of the computational example is RMB 3150 with the routing of '1-4-2-3-5-6-1'. By decoding, the HR team departures from Beijing where the startup is located, then visits Shanghai, Harbin, Xi'an, Chengdu, Guangzhou sequentially, and then return to the home city, Beijing. Compared with one of the other decisions, such as Beijing - Harbin - Chengdu - Shanghai - Xi'an - Guangzhou - Beijing with the cost of RMB 3600, there can be 12.5% saving, which is equivalent to RMB 450. On the other hand, if the

HR team only considers joining the job fairs in the separated periods rather than visiting all the targeted cities in one business trip, there is a higher cost of RMB 6200, which is RMB 3050 more expensive than the optimal solution. Therefore, the optimal solution indicates cost-saving directly.

5.1.3 Discussion

Utilizing the advantages of different knowledge fields improves the efficiency and effectiveness in the implementation of recruitment activities. From a management perspective, the consideration of different alternatives (job fairs and presentations) allows the visiting to be completed on one business trip. Based on the computation, the optimization method shows a clear picture of the routing arrangement. All parties can benefit from the optimal business trip arrangement. For the HR manager, it is the easier and businesslike approach for a busy working schedule. Given the fixed budget and the certain travelling fees from city to city, if the expenditures of the total travelling cost can be minimized with TSP routing decision, even though there may be a tiny difference, for HR manager when planning the business trip, there can be more budget for a better meal or a better hotel, which are some kinds of welfare to the employees who are on trips. At the same time, an efficiently planned business trip reflects the concern of 'work-life balance' with the increased possibility of spending time with family as the reduction of times for business trips. Eventually, the startup can benefit from optimal recruitment regarding overall working performance.

The employment of TSP model in business trip routing enriches the application scenarios for real-life problems. Same as other applications of TSP, such as traffic and transport system (e.g. $Pe\check{s}i\acute{c}$ et al. 2017; Goerigk and Westphal 2016), the proposed model (5.1) also incorporates the real-life fac-

tors into constraints. Based on the situation of AI Smart Home startups, the proposed model considers factors of corporate operations, university graduation as well as labor market condition comprehensively, which can help startups reach talent pools during the graduation season directly and timely, to be more advantageous in the serious talent war.

5.2 Interview and Selection

5.2.1 Mathematical Modelling

With the dissemination of related job information to the targeted talent, there will be some applications received by the startup. Therefore, the next step of recruitment is to choose suitable candidates to form the team. Knapsack problem (KP) is referred to. There will be n candidates to be interviewed, with which scores are given to candidates. With evaluations and assessments of candidates, decisions are made to hire teammates to form an optimal team with the highest total scores, while the budget constraints of salary expenditures can be satisfied. With the consideration of 'team diversity', candidates from different levels are recruited. The levels of the candidates are dependent on the real conditions of the concerned department. For example, for the talent requirements in R&D department, there can be different levels of researchers with different qualifications and experiences. As for the sales department, there is the requirement of language skills, such as Chinese, English and other foreign languages. In the respective interview section for a certain level, based on the recruitment plan, there will be a required number of m candidates to be selected, which ensures the satisfaction of the operation requirement.

Decision variable:

 $\begin{aligned} x_i: & \text{decision on candidate } i \\ x_i &= \begin{cases} 1, & \text{candidate } i \text{ is selected} \\ 0, & \text{candidate } i \text{ is not selected} \\ \text{Related notations:} \\ i: & \text{candidate } i, i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\} \\ v_i: & \text{interview score of candidate } i \\ s_i: & \text{salary of candidate } i \\ m: & \text{required number of candidates} \\ B: & \text{total budget of salary} \end{cases}$

$$max Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i x_i \tag{5.2a}$$

s.t.
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} s_i x_i \le B \tag{5.2b}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \ge m \tag{5.2c}$$

$$\forall x_i \in \{0, 1\} \tag{5.2d}$$

The objective function (5.2a) is to maximize the scores that all the selected candidates will hold. Constraint (5.2b) is about the budget constraint. Constraints (5.2c) guarantees that the required number of teammates are selected from all levels to form the team, which reflects the HR well-being of 'team diversity' in the whole department.

5.2.2 Application

Data of the evaluation of a group of candidates during the interview are institution-specific, or even round-specific. It is difficult to collect a representative data set of a specific interview that can reflect the overall industry situation. In each round of interviews, every candidate is awarded a specific score. As a new company, it is difficult for the startup to make an accurate judgement of the suitability of the interviewed candidates towards the corporate situation due to the lack of experience and recruited workforces to be compared. Candidate score is a kind of references in the recruitment process to make decisions of candidates. In addition to the basic score of the qualification background, the final score of the candidate includes the score of the performance during the interview process, which involves subjective factors from interviewers. There may be the situation that the interview score of the candidate who holds less experience/qualification but performs better is higher than or the same as the candidate with higher qualification. While the starting salary level is correlated with qualification and experiences.

In this study, the R&D department, which plays an important role in AI Smart Home startups, is again used as the experimental example. Referring back to Section 4.2.4, an example is given for the interview of level 3 researchers, whose recruitment quantum is six with the guided salary level of RMB 38400 per month. The total budget for this level is RMB 230400.

For the interview section, HR managers should consider the ratio relationship of related parameters, including the number of hires, number of offers, number of interviewees, number of interview offers as well as number of applications (Ge et al. 2011; Mathis and Jackson 2010). The pyramid (Figure 3) shows the ratio relationships among related parameters, the values of which are determined by the company based on its own situation. For illustration purpose, in this study, as the targeted recruitment quantum is 6, assuming that the ratio is 50% between the number of hires and the number of interviewees, so the selection is 6 out of 12 candidates. If the company considers the difference between the number of hires and the number of offers, there can be the selection of more than 6 candidates to send offers, which is judged by the HR manager in real practice. The computational example is given in Table 20.



Table 20: Interview Records

Candidate	Scores	Salary
Candidate 1	98	40000
Candidate 2	95	39000
Candidate 3	92	38800
Candidate 4	96	38800
Candidate 5	96	38500
Candidate 6	94	38300
Candidate 7	95	38300
Candidate 8	96	38000
Candidate 9	88	37800
Candidate 10	91	37500
Candidate 11	85	37500
Candidate 12	90	37300

In this computational example, based on the model (5.2), candidates 2, 4, 5, 7, 8 and 10 are selected to be the teammates of level 3. The total salary expenditure is RMB 230100 with the total scores of 569. Comparing one of the solutions with the total scores of 569, the selection of candidates 1, 4, 5, 7, 8 and 9, there will be the salary expenditure of RMB 231400, which is over the budget constraint and is RMB 1300 higher than the optimal solution. For
the selection of the top 6 candidates with the highest scores, the total salary expenditure is 232600, which is not a suitable decision as it is also over the budget. Therefore, the optimal solution is deserved to be adopted by the HR manager in 'Interview and Selection' process.

5.2.3 Discussion

The computational result demonstrates that the objective of getting the maximum total scores of candidates is achieved, at the same time, the total salary expenditure can be controlled within the budget constraint. In each interview of different levels, there is a targeted number of candidates to be selected, thus for the whole department, the idea of 'team diversity' can be achieved. Considering the HR well-being parameter in the interview and selection assists in achieving a better HR system from the initial stage of recruitment.

As there are subjective factors involved in the selection process, the relationships of background, starting salary and final score are not directly proportional. If only considering the score of the candidate, the total score of one high and one low is equal to the amount of two medium scores, while the salary amounts of which should also be considered. The computational result of the proposed model (5.2) can serve as the analysis tool from an objective view, providing the information that if the company choose these candidates, there can be the total highest scores that the team can hold with a minimum cost. Therefore, considering the budget constraint, model (5.2) is practicable in selecting candidates.

The application of KP in the interview and selection process helps the HR manager to form the optimal team, which enhances the practicability of KP in solving the real-life problem, and enriches the application fields besides optimal investment, container loading problem and so on (e.g. Assi and Haraty 2018; Morita et al. 1989). Same as the previous literature, the model (5.2) also considers the essential factors based on the targeted problem. Especially, combined with the knowledge from the management side, based on the pyramid of the ratio relationships among different decision factors, the relationship of the number of hires, offers and interviewees can be inversely inferred, which can assist the HR manager in dealing with the data when employing KP model.

Compared with other applications of KP, introducing KP in recruitment practice is significant in the meaning of acting as an objective analysis tool in decision making. Some applications, such as the container loading problem, are about decisions with the exact constraints and the certain value of items, all data of which are fixed. There are few subjective opinions from the manager. While for the interview and selection, apart from the experience and qualification of the candidates, other subjective factors may also affect the final decision. For better decision-making, model (5.2) can assist HR managers to consider in different dimensions. Not only can the optimal result provide a clear picture of the highest total scores of the team within the number and budget constraints, but it can also be a reference of which candidates to be selected. Referring to the optimal result and judging with some other necessary subjective factors, the HR manager can understand the overall situation better, especially when there is a difficult choice to be made among the candidates with similar qualifications.

5.3 Discussion of Optimization Models in Recruitment Activities

5.3.1 Application of Optimization Models in Recruitment Activities

Based on the computational results of respective models for recruitment activities, the validity of the proposed models is demonstrated. Among options, the optimal result indicates the economic efficiency as there is the minimization of costs, and achieves the benefit obtainability as there is the maximization of values. At the same time, the incorporation of the HR well-being parameters, such as 'team diversity' and 'work-life balance', enhances the practical meaning of the proposed models, which can contribute to the better implementation of the recruitment activities. For the Chinese AI Smart Home startups that are facing challenges in recruitment, the achievement of the HR well-being parameters can no doubt assist startups to succeed in the serious talent war, at the same time, implement a better HR system for further development.

5.3.2 Superiority of Optimization Models in Recruitment Activities

Besides the superiority that the optimization models can satisfy the concerned constraints and get the optimal results, the proposed models for recruitment activities enhance the prominence by integrating the knowledge of both sides of management and mathematics. Not only can it assist the simplification of the modelling process, but it can also support management performance. For example, considering multiple choices in the business trip routing arrangement simplifies the modelling process regarding the consideration of 'time window', meanwhile, shares a win-win situation among the company, HR manager as well as teammates on trip. Therefore, it is a good practice to consider the problem from both sides of management and mathematics, to develop a simple and effective model with an integrated action plan by widely choosing and combing alternatives. Furthermore, the computational results of the optimization models can serve as the additional reference in decision-making. In interview selection, the combination of management and optimization provides an objective reference to HR managers. Such a scientific method is supportive in making a more comprehensive decision and getting a better outcome.

5.4 Summary

In this chapter, models for recruitment activities are proposed, including 'business trips routing' as well as 'interview and selection', optimal solutions of which are found. The integration of knowledge from both management and mathematics fields benefits all parties, no matter in the aspects of economic efficiency, HR well-being, or real-life practicability. The computational result provides a clear picture of the optimal choice among alternatives, which can act as a supportively objective analysis tool for better decision-making.

Chapter 6 Conclusion

With the notice of the recruitment issues faced by the Chinese AI Smart Home startups, a set of optimization models are developed for the recruitment process, covering activities from the planning stage to the implementing stage. The integration of the HR well-being parameters enhances the significance of the presented models regarding real-life practicableness, especially for startups to be more attractive and advantaged in the serious talent war. A set of models can assist startups in practising optimal recruitment to attract desired talent, satisfying operation requirements to achieve economic efficiency, at the same time, considering employee welfare to establish a better HR system. Therefore, it is safe to assume that a set of models proposed in this study are noteworthy to assist in addressing the recruitment issues that the Chinese AI Smart Home startups are facing.

For the recruitment planning, linear models are developed for 'compensation package designing' and 'recruitment quantum planning'. Based on the real operations of the Chinese AI Smart Home startups that usually operate different departments, models for the R&D, manufacturing and sales departments are proposed respectively. Besides, for optimizing the recruitment plan as a whole, a non-linear model is also developed with the integration of both 'compensation package designing' and 'recruitment quantum planning'. HR well-being parameters, including 'team diversity', 'job enlargement', 'job enrichment', 'flexible working hours', as well as 'work-life balance', are incorporated into models based on conditions of different departments. In 'compensation package designing', the optimal result of the compensation package amount is competitive in the labor market when compared to the industry benchmarks, meanwhile, it is affordable for the startup as it is aligned with the corporate policy. Regarding the models for 'recruitment quantum planning', there is a clear picture of the number of employees to be recruited with the satisfaction of both operation and well-being requirements. The optimal result of the integrated model is also found to be referred to in the recruitment planning process. Following the recruitment process, for the HR team to visit universities to disseminate job information and reach targeted talent pools directly, a model for the 'business trip routing' is proposed. With the combination of different management methods (job fair and presentation), it is achievable to visit all targeted talent pools in one single business trip, which allows cost-saving for startups, provides a businesslike approach for HR managers and reflects the idea of 'work-life balance' for employees. 'Interview and selection' is then optimized to recruit the team members with the maximum values within the budget constraint. Several computational examples in this study suggest that applying optimization models in the recruitment process is practicable and achievable, as all the objective functions and constraints are satisfied. It is mentionable that this study attaches importance to obtain benefits of HR well-being parameters and to achieve economic efficiency. While in real-life practices, as the application data and corporate value are institution-specific, there are trade-offs between the choices of HR well-being parameters and the priority of expenditure.

6.1 Research Implications

The integration of HRM and Optimization has implications for research and real-life practices. With the focus on the recruitment process, the optimization models proposed in this study are expected to lend a valuable understanding of the application of optimization, demonstrating the significance of employing optimization models to solve real-life problems. As the feasibility of the models has been verified, the incorporation of the HR wellbeing parameters makes the class of presented models a powerful instrument in recruitment practices.

This study integrates the knowledge of HRM and Optimization with the aim of solving real-life problems, suggesting the interdisciplinary research for exploring better solutions. The management knowledge provides the guidance of 'what kinds of parameters are needed to be considered in order to achieve goals?', which is then adapted into optimization for a better operation in respect of 'how related practices can be optimized in order to achieve goals?'. It is valuable to encompass different knowledge fields in the research to analyze the problem and search for possible solutions in a more comprehensive way. Regarding the research in HRM aspect, the introduction of mathematical tool to managerial discipline acts as the supplement analysis in business research. Not only did this research investigate the necessary measures in HRM, such as the operation and welfare requirements, but also verify the mathematical relationships of the managerial variables. It provides guidance for resource allocation from the planning stage to the implementing stage. This is expected to be the implication of HRM research on the subject of a better flow, from understanding essential elements and then arranging resources to achieve the managerial goal. Furthermore, in addition to the empirical research to explore relationships between variables, considering the mathematical relationships as the supplemental analysis tools can support the scientific decision-making.

For research on optimization, integrating managerial knowledge makes the models more significant with practical meanings, which is the addition of the rational sense to the numeral intention. The presented models incorporate HR well-being parameters based on different situations, such integration allows the achievement of both operation and welfare requirements, which not only solves the targeted problem of recruitment, but further contributes to a better HR system. The additional benefit of improving HR performance enhances the value of the optimization research. Moreover, in the aspect of mathematical modelling, adapting ideas from the management side can contribute to easier practices as it may simplify the modelling process. For example, when referring to the TSP for 'business trip routing' model, the consideration of combining different alternatives can simplify the modelling process regarding the concern of 'time window'. Extending such an idea to other areas of business is also workable. For instance, even though nowadays, online shopping is popular, the marketing team still would like to join the product shows held by the industry associations to advertise the corporate brand and promote products to customers in different cities directly. There is also the 'time window' that needs to be considered with the date of the product show. Concerning from the marketing practices, during a specific period when the startup promotes the new Smart Home product to grab business opportunities, in addition to the product show, one of the alternatives is to rent a showcase in the main shopping mall where a great number of potential customers would likely visit, with which, customers can also have the excellent experience with the new product as visiting the product show. Combining different marketing strategies can help in the related modelling process. It would be better if the model is simpler and easier, but effective, to be developed, understood, applied and computed, especially when the models are introduced to the business managers who may not be the experts in optimization. Therefore, it is deserved to do interdisciplinary research with the involvement of different knowledge fields.

The specific focus on the serious talent war in the Chinese AI industry makes the research outcome of this study a customized reference to the Smart Home startups with respect to optimal recruitment. A set of models are developed based on the steps of the recruitment process, at the same time, considering the operations situation of Smart Home startups that usually operate several departments. A class of models can assist in the recruitment process, from which HR managers can choose the suitable one for solving the concerned problem in different circumstances. Facing such a serious talent war, the incorporation of the HR well-being parameters enhances the practical meaning of the research outcome, as it can contribute to the increase of the attraction of startups in the labor market. The models proposed in this study can also be employed by other companies in the recruitment process, as long as the situation can be formulated into the same functions, and the key concerns in the recruitment are employee welfare and corporate expenditure. It is a good practice to consider HR well-being parameters from the initial stage of HRM and utilize optimization models to improve the decision making, both of which eventually support the establishment of a better HR system for a better corporate development.

Introducing optimization method in the recruitment process provides another approach that can assist the comprehensive analysis in decision-making. Recruitment process involves some subjective factors, which may affect opinions and judgments. It would be better to analyze the problem with some objective views. In addition to the commonly used methods, the proposed optimization models can serve as the supportive approach with objective factors. For example, regarding 'team diversity', this study considers employees with different education and experience backgrounds, which is also the source of the inference of the employees' level. While, 'team diversity' can also be defined as the equilibrated team that includes different nationalities, cultural backgrounds and so on. To be more comprehensive consideration in the decision-making, based on the optimization results of the proposed models, such as the compensation package amount for such type of potential employees with related qualifications, and the optimal analysis in interview section, HR managers will then choose the best candidate with the consideration of the other subjective factors.

Besides providing solutions to recruitment issues, this study also introduces the optimization tool to decision-makers. With the knowledge of optimization, mathematical relationships of variables can be well understood, which will help managers to better allocate resources. The proposed model has a simple structure and is computationally amiable. It can be solved in reasonable times with optimization software, which is understandable and practicable to decision-makers who may not be the experts in optimization. Multiple tools can enrich decision-makers' knowledge, from which decisionmakers can take the well-understood method in real-life practices. Furthermore, the idea of integrating different knowledge to search the better solution has the implication of improving the problem-solving skill. Viewing and considering problems from different dimensions can assist in getting a more comprehensive understanding, and then exploring a superior solution.

6.2 Future Work

Apart from the optimization method introduced in this thesis, other methods that can serve as objective tools to assist better decision-making can be investigated in future research. The introduction and adoption of applying optimization models and other analysis tools to balance objective factors with subjective matters in business operations can be further researched. It can be a thorough investigation and understanding of the utilization of both qualitative and quantitative methods regarding "why is it?", "how to improve?" and "what to do?". HR well-being is one of the main concerns of this study, which is expected to create excellent working conditions to attract talent, retain employees as well as encourage desired performance. In addition to the HR well-being parameters considered in this study, for a more comprehensive understanding of employee welfare, some other elements related to employees' mental health can also be incorporated into the optimization model. As for the constraints in this study, with the specific focus on startups, who are just founded at the initial stage, the satisfaction of operation requirements is concerned for a certain amount of demands. To extend the consideration for the further development of startups, with business growth, stochastic optimization can be further investigated to fit the dynamic situation. For the decision variables of the recruitment plan, future studies may optimize the task arrangement of 'working days' in addition to the 'compensation package designing' and 'recruitment quantum planning' together. Regarding the algorithm, this study adopts algorithms from the existing research in computation. New impactful contribution in the algorithmic scheme can be further investigated to solve the targeted problems.

References

- Abraham, Mathew, Maniam Kaliannan, Avvari V. Mohan, and Susan Thomas. 2015. "A Review of Smes Recruitment and Selection Dilemma: Finding a 'Fit'." *The Journal of Developing Areas* 49(5): 335-342.
- Ai Tech Yun. 2019. "Internal salary system of BAT, where is your level in BAT?". http://www.atyun.com/34884.html [Ai Tech Yun. 《你的工资在BAT 处在哪个等级,揭秘 BAT 内部技术薪酬结构》]
- Al Ariss, Akram, Wayne F. Cascio, and Jaap Paauwe. 2014. "Talent management: Current theories and future research directions". Journal of World Business 49(2): 173–179.
- Al Smadi, Takialddin, Huthaifa A. Al Issa, Esam Trad, and Khalid A. Al Smadi. 2015. "Artificial intelligence for speech recognition based on neural networks". J. Signal Inform. Process 6(1): 66-72.
- Alam, Muhammad Raisul, Mamun Bin Ibne Reaz, and Mohd Alauddin Mohd Ali. 2012. "A review of smart homes-past, present, and future". *IEEE Trans.* Syst. Man Cybern. C Appl. 42(6): 1190–1203.
- Alderman, Daniel and Jonathan Ray. 2017. "Best Frenemies Forever: Artificial Intelligence, Emerging Technologies, and China–US Strategic Competition". SITC Research Briefs. University of California-San Diego Institute on Global Conflict and Cooperation SITC Research Briefs. February 28. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/2pq268gz
- Alfes, Kerstin, Amanda D. Shantz, Catherine Truss, and Emma C. Soane. 2013. "The link between perceived human resource management practices, engagement and employee behaviour: A moderated mediation model". The International Journal of Human Resource Management 24(2): 330–351.
- Alsabbah, M. Y. and Ibrahim H. 2014. "HRM practices and employee competence: A general system perspective". International Journal of Business, Economics and Law 4(1): 11-17.

- Ammar, A, S Elkosantini and Henri Pierreval. 2012. "Resolution of multiskilled workers assignment problem using simulation optimization: A case study" In 2012 IEEE International Conference on Computer Science and Automation Engineering (CSAE) 1(1): 748-754.
- Angeloudis, Panagiotis, and Michael GH Bell. 2010. "An uncertainty-aware AGV assignment algorithm for automated container terminals Panagiotis". *Transportation Research Part E* 46(1): 354–366.
- Arash, Apornak, Sadigh Raissi, Abbas Keramati and Kaveh Khalili-Damghani. 2020. "Optimizing human resource cost of an emergency hospital using multi-objective Bat algorithm". *International Journal of Healthcare Man*agement 1-7.
- Armstrong, M. 2014. Armstrong's Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice. Thirteenth edition. UK: Kogan Page Publishers.
- Assi, Maram and Ramzi A Haraty. 2018. "A survey of the knapsack problem". In 2018 International Arab Conference on Information Technology (ACIT) (pp. 1-6), Werdanye, Lebanon. Nov 28-30.
- Atlason, Júlíus, Marina A. Epelman, and Shane G. Henderson. 2004. "Call center staffing with simulation and cutting plane methods." Annals of Operations Research 127(1-4): 333-358.
- Aviso, K.B., A.P. Mayol, M.A.B. Promentilla, J.R. Santos, R.R. Tan, A.T. Ubando and K.D.S. Yu. 2018. "Allocating human resources in organizations operating under crisis conditions: A fuzzy input-output optimization modeling framework". *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 128 (1): 250–258.
- Avril, S., Arnaud G., Florentin A., and Vinard, M. 2010. "Multi-objective optimization of batteries and hydrogen storage technologies for remote photovoltaic systems". *Energy* 35(12): 5300-5308.
- Azimi M, Beheshti RR, Imanzadeh M and Nazari Z. 2013. "Optimal allocation of human resources by using linear programming in the beverage company". Univers J Manag Soc Sci 3(5): 48–54.
- Azadeh, Ali, Delaram Heydarian, Keivan Nemati, and Reza Yazdanparast. 2018. "Performance optimization of unique resilient human resource management system in a coal mine industry." *International Journal of System* Assurance Engineering and Management 9(5): 1178-1197.

- Ba, Birome Holo, Christian Prins and Caroline Prodhon. 2015. "Models for optimization and performance evaluation of biomass supply chains: An Operations Research perspective". *Renewable Energy* 1(1): 1-13.
- Babaioff, Moshe, Nicole Immorlica, David Kempe, and Robert Kleinberg. 2007. "A knapsack secretary problem with applications". In Approximation, randomization, and combinatorial optimization. Algorithms and techniques, (pp.16-28), Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Baidu, Communication University of China, Boss Recruitment. 2018. ABC Talent Development Report of Chinese Artificial Intelligence. [百度, 中国 传媒大学, BOSS 直聘《中国人工智能 ABC 人才发展报告 (2018 年版)》].
- Balas, Egon, and Eitan Zemel. 1980. "An algorithm for large zero-one knapsack problems". *Operations Research* 28(5): 1130-1154.
- Banerjee, Pratyush and Ritu Gupta. 2019. "Talent Attraction through Online Recruitment Websites: Application of Web 2.0 Technologies." Australasian Journal of Information Systems 23(1): 1-22.
- Baniasadi, Pouya, Mehdi Foumani, Kate Smith-Miles and Vladimir Ejov. 2020. "A transformation technique for the clustered generalized traveling salesman problem with applications to logistics". *European Journal of Operational Research* 285(2): 444-457.
- Barber, Alison E. 1998. *Recruiting employees: Individual and organizational perspectives*. USA: Sage Publications.
- Bányai, Tamás, Christian Landschützer, and Ágota Bányai. 2018. "Markovchain simulation-based analysis of human resource structure: How staff deployment and staffing affect sustainable human resource strategy". Sustainability 10(10): 3692.
- Baudel, Thomas, Laetitia Dablanc, Penelope Alguiar-Melgarejo, and Jean Ashton. 2016. "Optimizing urban freight deliveries: from designing and testing a prototype system to addressing real life challenges". *Transportation Research Procedia* 12(1): 170-180.
- Becker, Brian E., and Mark A. Huselid. 2006. "Strategic human resource management: Where do we go from here?". Journal of Management 32(6): 898– 925.
- Beechler, Schon, and Ian C. Woodward. 2009. "The Global 'War for Talent' ". Journal of International Management 15(3): 273-285

- Beijing Government. 2003. Regulations of Wage Payment in Beijing. http://www.beijing.gov.cn/zhengce/zhengcefagui/201905/ t20190522_56550.html [北京市人民政府《北京市工资支付规定》]
- Beijing Municipal Bureau of Statistics. 2019. 2018 per capita consumption expenditure of residents increased by 6.5%. http://tjj.beijing.gov.cn/ tjsj/sjjd/201901/t20190123_415636.html [北京市统计局《2018 年全 市居民人均消费支出同比增长 6.5%》]
- Beijing Municipal Commission of Ecnomy and Information Technology. 2018. White Paper of Beijing Artificial Intelligence Industry Development (2018). http://img2.iyiou.com/Editor/image/20180705/ 1530765862814966.pdf [北京市经济和信息化委员会《北京人工智能产业 发展白皮书 (2018 年)》]
- Beijing Housing Fund Management Center. 2019. "Announcement of the adjustment of the upper and lower limits of the 2019 housing accumulation fund in Beijing". http://gjj.beijing.gov.cn/web/zwgk61/ _300587/_300696/1752737/index.html [北京住房公积金管理委员会办 公室《北京住房公积金管理委员会办公室关于调整 2019 年度北京地区住 房公积金缴存基数上下限有关事宜的公告》]
- Berk, Lauren, Dimitris Bertsimas, Alexander M. Weinstein and Julia Yan. 2019. "Prescriptive analytics for human resource planning in the professional services industry". *European Journal of Operational Research* 272(2): 636-641.
- Bhulai, Sandjai, Ger Koole, and Auke Pot. 2008. "Simple methods for shift scheduling in multiskill call centers." *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*. 10(3): 411-420.
- Yongzu 2017. "From 'Made Bian and Xu Zhiling. in China' ". China' to 'Intelligent Manufacturing from FOCUS. CHINA Oct 11. http://www.cnfocus.com/ from-made-in-china-to-intelligent-manufacturing-from-china/.
- Big Companies snatch AI talent, how can startups do in this situation? 2017. *ROBOTICS*. November 12. https://www.roboticschina. com/news/201711221638.html. [《巨头高薪疯抢 AI 人才,初创公司该 怎么办?》机器人网站]
- Blomhøj, Morten, and Tomas Højgaard Jensen. 2003. "Developing mathematical modelling competence: Conceptual clarification and educational planning". *Teaching mathematics and its applications* 22(3): 123-139.

- Bogersa, Marcel, Nicolai J. Fossb and Jacob Lyngsie. 2018. "The 'human side' of open innovation: The role of employee diversity in firm-level openness". *Research Policy* 47(1): 218-231.
- Bohlouli, Mahdi, Nikolaos Mittas, George Kakarontzas, Theodosios Theodosiou, Lefteris Angelis, and Madjid Fathi. 2017. "Competence assessment as an expert system for human resource management: A mathematical approach". *Expert Systems with Applications* 70(1): 83-102.
- Bolli, Thomas, Ursula Renold, and Martin Wörter. 2018. "Vertical educational diversity and innovation performance". *Economics of Innovation and New Technology* 27(2):107-31.
- Bonutti, Alex, Sara Ceschia, Fabio De Cesco, Nysret Musliu, and Andrea Schaerf. 2017. "Modeling and solving a real-life multi-skill shift design problem." Annals of Operations Research 252(2): 365-382.
- Bonyadi, Reza Mohammad, Rahimi Azghadi, Mostafa, and Shah-Hosseini, Hamed. 2008. "Population-based optimization algorithms for solving the travelling salesman problem". *Traveling Salesman Problem*, edited by Greco, Federico, 1-34. Austria: I-Tech.
- Bouajaja, Sana, and Najoua Dridi. 2017. "A survey on human resource allocation problem and its applications". *Operational Research* 17(2): 339-369.
- Bowen, David E. and Cheri Ostroff. 2004. "Understanding HRM-Firm Performance Linkages: The Role of the "Strength" of the HRM System". *The Academy of Management Review* 29(2): 203-221.
- Branine, Mohamed. 2008. "Graduate recruitment and selection in the UK: A study of the recent changes in methods and expectations". *Career Development International* 13(6): 497-513.
- Breaugh, James A. 2009. "Recruiting and Attracting Talent: A Guide to Understanding and Managing the Recruitment Process". SHRM Foundation's Effective Practice Guidelines Series.
- Breaugh, James A. 2013. "Employee recruitment." *Annual review of psychology* 64(1): 389-416.
- Breaugh, James A. 2016. "Talent Acquisition: A Guide to Understanding and Managing the Recruitment Process". SHRM Foundation's Effective Practice Guidelines Series.

- Byars, Lloyd L and Leslie W Rue. 2006. *Human resource management* 8th edition. Boston : McGraw-Hill.
- CAICT & Artificial Intelligence Industry Alliance. 2018. White Paper on Artificial Intelligence Development: Industry application. [中国信息通信研究 院和中国人工智能产业发展联盟《人工智能发展白皮书产业应用篇 (2018 年)》].
- Cable, Daniel M., and Daniel B. Turban. 2001. "Establishing the dimensions, sources and value of job seekers' employer knowledge during recruitment". *Research in personnel and human resources management* 20(): 115-163.
- Calabrò, Giovanni, Giuseppe Inturri, Michela Le Pira, Alessandro Pluchino and Matteo Ignaccolo. 2020. "Bridging the gap between weak-demand areas and public transport using an ant-colony simulation-based optimization". *Transportation Research Proceedia* 45(): 234-241.
- Cao, Buyang, and Götz Uebe. 1995. "Solving transportation problems with nonlinear side constraints with tabu search". Computers & Operations Research 22(1): 593–603.
- Cao, Qing, and Qiong Wang. 2007. "Optimizing vendor selection in a two-stage outsourcing process". Computers & operations research 34(12): 3757-3768.
- Cappelli, Peter. 2008. "Talent management for the twenty-first century". Harvard business review 86(3): 74.
- Career International. 2019. "TALENT TRENDS & SALARY GUIDE". [科锐 国际《人才市场洞察及薪酬指南 2019》]
- Carless, Sally A., and Josephine Wintle. 2007. "Applicant attraction: The role of recruiter function, work-life balance policies and career salience". *International Journal of Selection and Assessment* 15(4): 394–404.
- Chakraborty, Debarun, and Wendrila Biswas. 2019. "Evaluating the impact of human resource planning programs in addressing the strategic goal of the firm". Journal of Advances in Management Research 1(1): 1-23.
- Chandrasekaran, Aravind, Kevin Linderman, and Roger Schroeder. 2015. "The role of project and organizational context in managing hightech R&D projects." *Production and Operations Management* 24(4): 560-586.
- Chang, Pao-Long, and Chen Wei-Ling. 2002. "The effect of human resource management practices on firm performance: Empirical evidence from hightech firms in Taiwan". *International Journal of Management* 19(4), 622-631.

- Chapman, Derek S., Krista L. Uggerslev, Sarah A. Carroll, Kelly A. Piasentin, and David A. Jones. 2005. "Applicant attraction to organizations and job choice: a meta-analytic review of the correlates of recruiting outcomes". J. Appl. Psychol 90(1):928–944.
- Charnes, A., CooperW. W., Lewis K. A. and Niehaus R. J. 1978. "Equal employment opportunity planning and staffing models". In *Manpower planning and organization design* (pp. 367-382). Boston: Springer.
- Chaudhry, A. A., Khan K. S. and Hassan A. 2015. "Can HRM affirmed as a system? Applying general systems theory (GST) on human resource management". *Journal of Management and Research* 2(2):1-19.
- Chen, Baolin. 2005. *Theory and Algorithm of Optimization*. 2nd edition. Beijing: Tsinghua University Press. [陈宝林《最优化理论与算法》(第2版)]
- Chen, Chen-Tung, Ping-Feng Pai, and Wei-Zhan Hung. 2010. "An integrated methodology using linguistic PROMETHEE and maximum deviation method for third-party logistics supplier selection". *International Jour*nal of Computational Intelligence Systems 3(4): 438–451.
- Chen, Ruipeng. 2015. "The study of the management of the startup small businesses" *Market Modernization* 9(1): 123. [陈瑞朋《微型初创企业管理问题研究》商场现代化]
- China Daily. 2018. "Giant in the industry: Sweatshop of Foxcom". [中国日报 网《富士康"血汗工厂"背后是一家独大的必然》]
- China labor watch. 2018. "An Investigative Report on HEG Technology: A Samsung and Xiaomi Supplier Factory". [中国劳工观察《关于三星和小米 代工厂海格科技的调查报告》]
- Chipintelli online shop. 2019. http://www.chipintelli.com/mall. [启英商 城: 商品]
- Chiroma, Haruna, Sameem Abdulkareem, Adamu Abubakar, Akram Zeki, Abdulsalam Ya'U. Gital, and Mohammed Joda Usman. 2013. "Correlation study of genetic algorithm operators: Crossover and mutation probabilities". In Proceedings of the International Symposium on Mathematical Sciences and Computing Research (pp.6–7), Ipoh City, Malaysia.
- Chuler, Randall S., and James W. Walker. 1990. "Human resource strategy: Focusing on issues and actions". Organizational Dynamics 19(1): 5-19.

- Chvátal, Vasek. 1980. "Hard knapsack problems". Operations Research 28(6): 1402-1411.
- CISTP. 2018. Report of Artificial Intelligence Development in China. [清华大 学中国科技政策研究中心《中国人工智能发展报告 2018》]
- Coff, R. W. and Kryscynski D. 2011. "Drilling for micro-foundations of human capital-based competitive advantages". *Journal of Management* 37(5): 1429–1443.
- Collings, David G., and Kamel Mellahi. 2009. "Strategic talent management: A review and research agenda". *Human Resource Management Review* 19(4): 304–313.
- Cogliser, Claudia C., and Keith H. Brigham. 2004. "The intersection of leadership and entrepreneurship: Mutual lessons to be learned". *Leadership Quar*terly 15 (1): 771–799.
- Cokyasar, Taner, Alberto Garcia-Diaz and Mingzhou Jin. 2019. "Optimization of size and timing of base salary increases". *The Engineering Economist* 64(2): 97-115.
- Cook, Alison. 2009. "Connecting work-family policies to supportive work environments". Group & Organization Management 34(2): 206-240.
- Cooke, F. L. 2008. Competition, strategy and management in China. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cooke, Fang Lee, Debi S. Saini and Jue Wang. 2014. "Talent management in China and India: A comparison of management perceptions and human resource practices" *Journal of World Business* 49(2): 225-235.
- Conte, Andrea and Marco Vivarelli. 2014. "Succeeding in Innovation: Key Insights on the Role of R&D and Technological Acquisition Drawn from Company Data". *Empirical economics* 47(4): 1317-1340.
- Corlu, C. G., de la Torre R, Serrano-Hernandez A, Juan A A, and Faulin J. 2020. "Optimizing energy consumption in transportation: Literature review, insights, and research opportunities". *Energies* 13(5): 1115-1147.
- Corominas, Albert, Amaia Lusa and Jordi Olivella. 2010. "A detailed workforce planning model including nonlinear dependence of capacity on the size of the staff and cash management". *European Journal of Operational Research* 216(2): 445-458.

- Crevier, Daniel. 1993. AI: the tumultuous history of the search for artificial intelligence. New York: Basic Books.
- Crook, T. Russell, Samuel Y. Todd, James G. Combs, David J. Woehr, and David J. Ketchen Jr. 2011. "Does human capital matter? A meta-analysis of the relationship between human capital and firm performance". *Journal* of Applied Psychology 96(3): 443–456.
- Ctrip. 2020. www.ctrip.com
- Dabic, Marina, Marta Ortiz-De-Urbina-Criado and Ana M. Romero-Martfnez. 2011. "Human resource management in entrepreneurial firms: a literature review". *International Journal of Manpower* 32(1): 14-33.
- Dai Hongyan and Liu Peng. 2019. "Workforce planning for O2O delivery systems with crowdsourced drivers". Annals of Operations Research 1(1): 1-27.
- Davis, Lawrence. 1991. *Handbook of Genetic Algorithms*. Van Nostrand Reinhold Co.: New York, NY, USA.
- Darboe, Fatou. 2018. "\$3 Million Pay Packages. How a Chinese Startup Is Attracting Top Talent". April 2. CRM.ORG. https://crm.org/articles/ 3-million-pay-packages-how-a-chinese-startup-is-attracting-top-talent
- De Bruecker, Philippe, Jorne Van den Berghb, Jeroen Beliënb and Erik Demeulemeester. 2015. "Workforce planning incorporating skills: State of the art". *European Journal of Operational Research* 243(1): 1-16.
- De Jong, K. and Spears, W. 1992. "A formal analysis of the role of multi-point crossover". Ann. Math. Artif. Intell 5(1): 1–26.
- De Silva, Liyanage C., Chamin Morikawa, and Iskandar M. Petra. 2012. "State of the art of smart homes". *Eng. Appl. Arti. Intell.* 25(7): 1313–1321.
- Dearden, James A and Gary L Lilien. 1990. "On optimal salesforce compensation in the presence of production learning effects". *International Journal* of Research in Marketing 7(2): 179-188.
- Defryn, Christof, and Kenneth Sörensen. 2018. "Multi-objective optimisation models for the travelling salesman problem with horizontal cooperation". *European Journal of Operational Research* 267(3): 891-903.
- Devonshire-Ellis, C. Scott A., and Woollard, S. 2011. *Human Resources in China*. Berlin: Springer Science and Business Media.

Dessler, Gary. 2005. Human Resource Management. 10th ed. UK: Pearson.

- Do, Ngoc Anh Dung, Izabela Ewa Nielsen, Gang Chen, and Peter Nielsen. 2016. "A simulation-based genetic algorithm approach for reducing emissions from import container pick-up operation at container terminal". Annals of Operations Research 242(2): 285-301.
- Dong, Min, and Yan Wu. 2009. "Dynamic crossover and mutation genetic algorithm based on expansion sampling". In *International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Computational Intelligence (pp.141–149)*, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Dries, Nicky. 2013. "The psychology of talent management: A review and research agenda". Human Resource Management Review 23(4): 272–285.
- Ensley, Michael D., Allison Pearson, and Craig L. Pearce. 2003. "Top management team process, shared leadership, and new venture performance: A theoretical model and research agenda". *Human Resource Management Review* 13(2): 329–346.
- Ernst, Andreas T., Houyuan Jiang, Mohan Krishnamoorthy, and David Sier. 2004. "Staff scheduling and rostering: A review of applications, methods and models". *European Journal of Operational Research* 153 (1): 3–27.
- Fadaee, M., and M. A. M. Radzi. 2012. "Multi-objective optimization of a stand-alone hybrid renewable energy system by using evolutionary algorithms: A review". *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews* 16(5): 3364-3369.
- Feichringer, Gustav. 1984. "Optimal Employment Strategies of Profit Maximizing and Labour-Managed Firms". Optimal Control applications & Methods 5(3): 235-253.
- Frye, Melissa B. 2004. "Equitybased compensation for employees: firm performance and determinants". *Journal of Financial Research* 27(1): 31-54.
- Fu, Hao. 2018. "Approximation Algorithms for a class of stochastic dynamic programs" PhD Dissertation. Tsinghua University.
- Fukunaga, Alex, Hamilton Ed, Fama Jason, Andre David, Matan Ofer and Nourbakhsh, Illah. 2002. "Staff Scheduling for Inbound Call Centers and Customer Contact Centers". AI Magazine 23(4): 822-829.
- Gaballa, Adel, and Wayne Pearce. 1979. "Telephone sales manpower planning at Qantas". *Interfaces* 9(3): 1-9.

- Gage, Deborah and Lizette Chapman. 2011. "As Hiring Gets Harder For Start-Ups, Investors Are Getting Tough". *The Private Equity Analyst* https: //search.proquest.com/docview/895861765?accountid=10382
- Gao, Will. 2019. "Top AI Staff in Internet Companies Huawei, Jingdong, Leshi etc". LinkedIn. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/互联网公司 ai 高管 系列之-华为京东乐视等-will-gao. [Will Gao 《互联网公司 AI 高管系列 之--华为、京东、乐视等》]
- Gatewood, Robert D., Mary A. Gowan, and Gary J. Lautenschlager. 1993. "Corporate Image, Recruitment Image, and Initial Job Choice Decisions". Academy of Management Journal 36(2): 414-427.
- Garaix, Thierry, Christian Artigues, Dominique Feillet and Didier Josselin. 2010. "Vehicle routing problems with alternative paths: an application to on-demand transportation". *European Journal of Operational Research* 204(1): 62-75.
- Ge, Yuhui, Qicong Rao and Donghai Li. 2011. *Recruitment and Employment Management Practices*. Beijing: Tsinghua University Press. [葛玉辉, 饶启 聪, 李东海《招聘与录用管理实务》清华大学出版社]
- Gimmon, Eli, and Jonathan Levie. 2010. "Founder's human capital, external investment, and the survival of new high-technology ventures". *Research Policy* 39(9): 1214–1226.
- Goerigk, Marc, and Stephan Westphal. 2016. "A combined local search and integer programming approach to the traveling tournament problem". Annals of Operations Research 239(1): 343-354.
- Gotshall, S. and Rylander, B. 2002. "Optimal population size and the genetic algorithm". *Population* 100(1): 900–904.
- Goedhuys, M. and Sleuwaegen L. 2016. "High-growth versus declining firms: the 93 differential impact of human capital and R&D". *Applied Economics Letters* 23(5): 369-372.
- Gregory, Christina K., Adam W. Meade and Lori Foster Thompson. 2013. "Understanding internet recruitment via signaling theory and the elaboration likelihood model." *Computers in Human Behavior* 29(5): 1949-1959.
- Guadamillas, Fátima, Mario J. Donate, and Jesús D. Sánchez de Pablo. 2008. "Knowledge management for corporate entrepreneurship and growth: A case study." *Knowledge and Process Management* 15(1): 32-44.

- Güler, M. Güray, M. Emre Keskin, Alper Döyen, and Hasan Akyer. 2015. "On teaching assistant-task assignment problem: A case study". *Computers & Industrial Engineering* 79(1): 18-26.
- Gully, Stanley M., Jean M. Phillips, William G. Castellano, Kyongji Han, and Andrea Kim. 2013. "A mediated moderation model of recruiting socially and environmentally responsible job applicants". *Personnel Psychol*ogy 66(4):935-973.
- Gully, Stanley M., Jean M. Phillips, and Mee Sook Kim. 2014. "Strategic recruitment: A multilevel perspective". *The Oxford handbook of recruitment* 161.
- Guo, Haixiang, Kejun Zhu, Chang Ding, and Lanlan Li. 2010. "Intelligent optimization for project scheduling of the first mining face in coal mining". *Expert Systems with Applications* 37(2): 1294-1301.
- Gusdorf, Myrna L. 2008. *Recruitment and Selection: Hiring the Right Person.* USA: Society for Human Resource Management.
- Guyon, Olivier, Pierre Lemaire, Eric Pinson, and David Rivreau. 2014. "Solving an integrated job-shop problem withhuman resource constraints". Annals of Operations Research 213(1): 147-171.
- Goedhuys, M. and Sleuwaegen L. 2016. "High-growth versus declining firms: the 93 differential impact of human capital and R&D". *Applied Economics Letters* 23(5): 369-372.
- Haas, Carl T, David P. Morton, Richard L. Tucker, Jorge E. Gomar and R. Kevin Terrien. 2000. "Assignment and allocation optimization of partially multiskilled workforce". A Report of Center for Construction Industry Studies, The University of Texas at Austin.
- Haier. 2020. http://www.haier.com
- Hassan, Saira. 2016. "Impact of HRM practices on employee's performance". International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences 6(1): 15-22.
- Hassanat, Ahmad, Khalid Almohammadi, Esra'a Alkafaween, Eman Abunawas, Awni Hammouri and V. B. Surya Prasath. 2019. "Choosing Mutation and Crossover Ratios for Genetic Algorithms—A Review with a New Dynamic Approach". *Information* 10(1): 390.

- He, Canfei, Jiangyong Lu and Haifeng Qian. 2018. "Entrepreneurship in China". *Small Business Economics* 52(3): 563–572.
- He, Yan. 2016. "The discussion of the human resources management for the early-stage SMEs". *Fortune Time* 11(1): 130. [贺艳《中小企业人力资源管理在创业初期的探讨》智富时代]
- He, Yujia. 2017. "How China is preparing for an AI-powered Future". Wilson Center, Washington, DC.
- Hong, Tzung-Pei, and Hong-Shung Wang. "A dynamic mutation genetic algorithm." In 1996 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. Information Intelligence and Systems (pp. 2000–2005)
- Hoye, Greet Van and Belgium Alan M. Saks. 2011. "The Instrumental-Symbolic Framework: Organisational Image and Attractiveness of Potential Applicants and Their Companions at a Job Fair". Applied Psychology 60(2): 311-335.
- Hsu, Yu-Liang, Po-Huan Chou, Hsing-Cheng Chang, Shyan-Lung Lin, Shih-Chin Yang, Heng-Yi Su, Chih- Chien Chang, Yuan-Sheng Cheng, and Yu-Chen Kuo. 2017. "Design and implementation of a smart home system using multisensor data fusion technology." *Sensors* 17(7): 1631.
- Huang, P. C., Tong, L. I., Chang, W. W., and Yeh, W. C. 2011. "A two-phase algorithm for product part change utilizing AHP and PSO". *Expert Systems* with Applications 38(7): 8458–8465.
- Huang, Hongxuan and Jiye Han. 2006. *Mathematical Planning*. China: Tsinghua University Press. [黄红选, 韩继业《数学规划》清华大学出版社]
- Ifeng tech. 2018. "Discover of Chinese Sweatshops: OT and low salary". http: //tech.ifeng.com/a/20160828/44443373_0.shtml. [凤凰网科技《中国 血汗工厂被踢爆: 疯狂加班工资缩水》]
- Izario, Daniel, Bruno Izario, Diego Castro, and Yuzo Iano. 2017. "Face recognition techniques using artificial intelligence for audio-visual animations". *SET INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF BROADCAST ENGINEERING* 3(5): 79-83.
- Jackson, Susan E., and Aparna Joshi. 2004. "Diversity in social context: A multi-attribute, multi-level analysis of team diversity and performance". *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 25(1): 675-702.

- Jain, Sanjay, and Nitin Arya. 2013. "An inverse transportation problem with the linear fractional objective function". Advanced Modelling & Optimization 15(3): 677-687.
- JD online shopping. 2019. www.jd.com
- Ji, Hanlin and Jiandong Huang. 2019. "The Development and Application of Artificial Intelligence Industry in China". Software Guide 18(3): 34-38.
- Jia, Kai, Martin Kenney, Juri Mattila and Timo Seppälä. 2018. "The Application of Artificial Intelligence at Chinese Digital Platform Giants: Baidu, Alibaba and Tencent". ETLA Reports No 81 https://pub.etla. fi/ETLA-Raportit-Reports-81.pdf.
- Jin, Jia Fei, Michael T. Ford, and Chih Chieh Chen. 2013. "Asymmetric differences in work–family spillover in North America and China: Results from two heterogeneous samples". *Journal of Business Ethics* 113(1): 1–14.
- Jobui. 2019. https://www.jobui.com/salary/beijing/[职友集: 北京平均 工资(工资查询, 晒工资, 曝工资)]
- Kanzhun. 2019. https://www.kanzhun.com/xs/ [看准网: 工资查询]
- Kang, Dongwon, Jinhwan Jung, and DooHwan Bae. 2011. "Constraint-based human resource allocation in software projects". Software Practice Experience 41(1): 551–577.
- Kantarovich, L. V. 1939. "Mathematical Methods in the Organization and Planning of Production." *Publication House of the Leningrad State Univer*sity. [Translated in Management Sc. vol 66, 366-422].
- Kaur, Avneet. 2018. "A study of role and challenges faced by HR in startups". International Journal for Emerging Research & Development 1(1): 45-49.
- Kast, F. E. and Rosenzweig, J. E. 1972. "General systems theory: Applications for organization and management". Academy of Management Journal 15(4): 447-465.
- Katz, Jerome A., and Theresa M. Welbourne. 2002. Managing people in entrepreneurial organizations. Amsterdam: JAI Press.
- Kehoe, Rebecca R., and Patrick M. Wright. 2013. "The impact of highperformance human resource practices on employees' attitudes and behaviors". Journal of Management 39(2): 366–391.

- Kessel, Maura, Jan Kratzer, and Carsten Schultz. 2012. "Psychological safety, knowledge sharing, and creative performance in healthcare teams". *Creativity and innovation management* 21(2): 147-157.
- Khandekar, Aradhana, and Anuradha Sharma. 2006. "Organizational learning and performance: Understanding Indian scenario in present global context". *Education+ Training* 48(8-9): 682-692.
- Kim, Seo Kyun, Bong Gyou Lee, Beom Soo Park, and Kyoung Seok Oh. 2011. "The effect of R&D, technology commercialization capabilities and innovation performance". *Technological and Economic Development of Economy* 17(4): 563-578.
- Kirillov, Andrey V, Denis S. Ushakov, Mikhail V. Vinichenko, Sergey A. Makuchkin, Alexander V. Melnichuk. 2017. "Career Opportunities for the Management's Personnel Reserve". Eurasian Journal of Analytical Chemistry 12(5b):723-733.
- Koon, Vui-Yee. 2014. "Examining HRM Practices as Mediator". Journal of Strategic Human Resource Management 3(1): 1-9.
- Kooij, Dorien TAM, Paul GW Jansen, Josje SE Dikkers, and Annet H. De Lange. 2010. "The influence of age on the associations between HR practices and both affective commitment and job satisfaction: A metaanalysis". *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 31(8): 1111-1136.
- Kräkel, Matthias, and Anja Schöttner. 2016. "Optimal sales force compensation." Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 126 (1): 179-195.
- Kumari, Neeraj. 2012. "A Study of the Recruitment and Selection process: SMC Global". *Industrial Engineering Letters* 2(1): 34-43.
- Kundu, Subhash C., Desh Rattan, and Neha Gahlawat. 2012. "Recruitment and selection techniques in manufacturing and service organizations operating in India". Journal of Strategic Human Resource Management 1(3): 9.
- Kusiak, Andrew, and Zhe Song. 2010. "Design of wind farm layout for maximum wind energy capture". *Renewable energy* 35(3): 685-694.
- Kwac, Jungsuk, Jung In Kim, and Ram Rajagopal. 2017. "Efficient customer selection process for various DR objectives". *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid* 10(2): 1501-1508.

- Lal, Rajiv and V. Srinivasan. 1993. "Compensation Plans for Single- and Multi-Product Salesforces: An Application of the Holmstrom-Milgrom Model". *Management Science* 39(7): 777-793.
- Larranaga, Pedro, Cindy M. H. Kuijpers, Roberto H. Murga, Inaki Inza, and Sejla Dizdarevic. 1999. "Genetic algorithms for the travelling salesman problem: A review of representations and operators". Artificial Intelligence Review 13(2): 129-170.
- Lawler, J. K. Lenstra A. H. G., Rinnooy Kan and D. B. Shmoys. 1986. "The Traveling Salesman Problem: A Guided Tour of Combinatorial Optimization". The Journal of the Operational Research Society 37(5): 535-536.
- Le, Huong , Alexander Newman, Jane Menzies, Connie Zheng and Jan Fermelis. 2020. "Work-life balance in Asia: A systematic review". *Human Resource Management Review* In Press, available online 13 May 2020
- Lee, DongSeop and ChangKuk Ahn. 2020. "Industrial human resource management optimization based on skills and characteristics". *Computers & Industrial Engineering* 144(): 106463.
- Lin, Jun-You. 2014. "Effects on diversity of R&D sources and human capital on industrial performance". Technological Forecasting & Social Change 85(1): 168–184.
- Lin, Meiyan, Kwai Sang Chin, Lijun Ma and Kwok Leung Tsui. 2018. "A comprehensive multi-objective mixed integer nonlinear programming model for an integrated elderly care service districting problem". *Annals of Operations Research* 1(1): 1-31.
- Liu, Bohong, Yongying Zhang and Yani Li. 2008. Work-life balance: the research report of the related issues and policies in China. Beijing: ILO. [刘 伯红,张永英,李亚妮《工作和家庭的平衡:中国的问题与政策研究报告 国际劳工组织]
- Lin, Tao. 2016. "Key factors of the establishment of the corporate reserve talent". *C-Enterprise Management* 6(1): 32-34. [林涛《后备人才队伍建设的关键》通信企业管理]
- Lobaccaro, Gabriele, Salvatore Carlucci and Erica Löfström. 2016. "A Review of Systems and Technologies for Smart Homes and Smart Grids". *Energies* 9(5): 348.

- Lobo, Fernando G., and David E. Goldberg. 2004. "The parameterless genetic algorithm in practice". *Information Sciences* 167(1-4): 217–232.
- Lu, Luo, TingTing Chang, ShuFang Kao, and Cary L. Cooper. 2015. "Testing an integrated model of the work–family interface in Chinese employees: A longitudinal study". Asian Journal of Social Psychology 18(1): 12–21.
- Lu, Zhaorong, Qingbang Zeng. 2014. "Flexible working hours in E-commerce SMEs". *Enterprise Reform and Management* 21(1): 69-70. [卢朝荣, 曾庆 帮. 《弹性时间工作制在中小电商企业应用的思考》企业改革与管理]
- Lukovac, Vesko, Dragan Pamucar, Milena Popovic and Boban orovic. 2017. "Portfolio model for analyzing human resources: An approach based on neuro-fuzzy modeling and the simulated annealing algorithm". Expert Systems with Applications 90(1): 318–331.
- Lynch, Michael. 2010. "Evolution of the mutation rate". *Trends Genet* 26(8): 345–352.
- Ma, Huazhang and Hou Lingling. 2018. "AI talent war tends to be rational". Yangcheng News, December 11. http://ep.ycwb.com/epaper/ycwb/res/ 2018-12/11/A15/ycwbycwb20181211A15.pdf [马化展, 侯琳琳《人才大战 渐趋理性》经济导报]
- Ma, Xianying. 2012. "Application of Assignment Model in PE Human Resources Allocation". Energy Proceedia 16(1):1720-1723.
- Malche, Timothy, and Priti Maheshwary. 2017. "Internet of things (IoT) for building smart home system". In 2017 International Conference on I-SMAC (pp. 65-70).
- Manev, Ivan M., Bojidar S. Gyoshev, and Tatiana S. Manolova. 2005. "The role of human and social capital and entrepreneurial orientation for small business performance in a transitional economy." *International journal of entrepreneurship and innovation management* 5(3-4): 298-318.
- Martel, Alain and W. Price. 1981. "Stochastic Programming Applied to Human Resource Planning". *The Journal of the Operational Research Society* 32(3): 187-196.
- Martello, Silvano, David Pisinger, and Paolo Toth. 1999. "Dynamic programming and strong bounds for the 0-1 knapsack problem". *Management Sci*ence 45(3): 414-424.

- Martello, S., and P. Toth. 1987. "Algorithms for knapsack problem". Annals of Discrete Mathematics 31(1): 70-79.
- Masson, Renaud, Anna Trentini, Fabien Lehuédé, Nicolas Malhéné, Olivier Péton, and Houda Tlahig. 2017. "Optimization of a city logistics transportation system with mixed passengers and goods". EURO Journal on Transportation and Logistics 6(1): 81-109.
- Mathis, R. L. and Jackson J. H. 2011. *Human resource management: Essential perspectives*. USA: South-Western Cengage Learning.
- Martinez, Garcia Marian, Ferdaous Zouaghi and Teresa Garcia Marco. 2017. "Diversity is Strategy: The Effect of R&D Team Diversity on Innovative Performance". R&D Management 47(2): 311-329.
- Maurya, Vishwa Nath, Ram Bilas Misra, Peter K. Anderson, and Kamlesh Kumar Shukla. 2015. "Profit optimization using linear programming model: A case study of Ethiopian chemical company". American Journal of Biological and Environmental Statistics 1(2): 51-57.
- Mavrovouniotis, Michalis, and Shengxiang Yang. 2013. "Ant colony optimization with immigrants schemes for the dynamic travelling salesman problem with traffic factors". *Applied Soft Computing* 13(10): 4023-4037.
- Maxwell, Gill, Laura Rankine, Sheena Bell and Anna MacVicar. 2007. "The incidence and impact of flexible working arrangements in smaller businesses". *Employee Relations* 29(2): 138-161.
- Mayson, Susan, and Rowena Barrett. 2006. "The 'science' and 'practice' of HRM in small firms". *Human Resource Management Review* 16(4): 447–455.
- McCarthy, John, Marvin L. Minsky, Nathaniel Rochester, and Claude E. Shannon. 1955. "A Proposal for the Dartmouth Summer Research Project on Artificial Intelligence". Published in *AI Magazine* Volume 27 Number 4 (2006).
- McDougall, Kristina. 2002. "Attracting talent to a startup". Canadian HR Reporter 15(16): G3.
- McKenzie, Peter, Alexandra M. Newman, and Luis Tenorio. 2008. "Front Range Aggregates optimizes feeder movements at its quarry". *Interfaces* 38(6): 436–447.

Mi Home. 2020. https://home.mi.com/index.html

- Michalewicz, Zbigniew. 1996. Genetic Algorithms + Data Structures = Evolution Programs. Springer, New York.
- Mike, Patterson and Friesen Daniel. 2019. "Variants of the Traveling Salesman Problem". *Studies in Business and Economics* 14(1): 208-220.
- Mo, Yu and Chen Wu. 2017. "The issues and solutions of the human resources management in startup enterprise the case of Wuhu area in China". *Human Resource Management* 7(1): 160-161. [莫E], 吴晨《初创型企业人力资源管理的困境与对策——以芜湖地区为例》人力资源管理]
- Mortenson, Michael J., Neil F. Doherty, and Stewart Robinson. 2015. "Operational research from Taylorism to Terabytes: A research agenda for the analytics age". *European Journal of Operational Research* 241(3): 583-595.
- Morita, Hiroshi, Hiroaki Ishii, Toshio Nishida. 1989. "Stochastic linear knapsack programming problem and its application to a portfolio selection problem". European Journal of Operational Research 40(3): 329-336.
- Murphy KR. 1986. "When your top choiceturns you down: Effect of rejected offerson the utility of selection tests". *Psychological Bulletin* 99(1):133–38
- Murakami, Kayoko, Seren Ozmehmet Tasan, Mitsuo Gen, and Takashi Oyabu. 2011. "A case study of human resource allocation for effective hotel management". *Industrial Engineering and Management Systems* 10(1): 54-64.
- Nakade, Koichi and Katsuhisa Ohno. 1999. "An optimal worker allocation problem for a U-shaped production line". *International Journal of Production Economics* 60(1): 353-358.
- Nankervis, Alan R., Fang Lee Cooke, Samir R. Chatterjee, and Malcolm Warner. 2013. New horizons of human resource management: Models from China and India. London: Routledge.
- Naoum, Shamil, and Ali Haidar. 2000. "A hybrid knowledge base system and genetic algorithms for equipment selection". *Engineering Construction Architectural Management* 7(1): 3–14.
- Niebuhr, Annekatrin. 2010. "Migration and innovation: Does cultural diversity matter for regional R&D activity?" *Papers in Regional Science* 89(3): 563-585.
- Nip, Kameng, Zhenbo Wang, and Zizhuo Wang. 2017. "Knapsack with variable weights satisfying linear constraints". *Journal of Global Optimization* 69(3): 713-725.

- Obitko, Marek. 1998. Introduction to Genetic Algorithms. Czech Technical University: Prague, Czech Republic.
- Öncan, Temel. 2007. "A survey of the generalized assignment problem and its applications". *INFOR: Information Systems and Operational Research* 45(3): 123-141.
- O'riordan, Joanna. 2017. "The practice of human resource management". IN-STITUTE OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION. Research Paper.
- ORVICO. 2020. https://www.orvibo.com/cn/product/productList.html
- Østergaard, Christian R., Bram Timmermans and Kari Kristinsson. 2011. "Does a different view create something new? The effect of employee diversity on innovation". *Research Policy* 40(3): 500-509.
- Paauwe, Jaap and Corine Boon. 2009. "Strategic HRM: A critical review". In Human Resource Management: A Critical Approach, edited by David G. Collings and Geoffrey T.Wood, 38-54. NY: Routledge.
- Pan, Yunhe. 2016. "Heading toward Artificial Intelligence 2.0". Engineering 2(4): 409–413.
- Pannu, Avneet. 2015. "Artificial intelligence and its application in different areas". Artificial Intelligence 4(10): 79-84.
- Parker, Darrell F. and Rhine Sherrie L.W. 1991. "Turnover costs and the wage-fringe mix". *Applied Economics* 23(4A): 617-622.
- Parisio, Alessandra and Colin Neil Jones. 2015. "A two-stage stochastic programming approach to employee scheduling in retail outlets with uncertain demand". Omega 53(1): 97-103.
- Pešić, Dalibor, Milica Śelmić, Dragana Macura and Miroslav Rosić. 2017.
 "Finding optimal route by two-criterion Fuzzy Floyd's algorithm—case study Serbia". Operational Research 1(1): 1-20.
- Peng, Jianfeng. 2004. Introduction to Human Resource Management. China: Fudan University Publishing House. [彭剑锋《人力资源管理概论》复旦大 学出版社]
- Peng, Xunwen. 2018. "Talent shortage in the field of artificial intelligence, Doctor's annual salary is high". *People.cn*, December 03. [彭训文《人工智 能领域人才紧缺博士年薪高》人民网 - 人民日报海外版]

- Phillips, Jean M., and Stanley M. Gully. 2015. "Multilevel and strategic recruiting: Where have we been, where can we go from here?". Journal of Management 41(5): 1416-1445.
- Pisinger, David. 2005. "Where are the hard knapsack problems?". Computers & Operations Research 32(1): 2271–2284.
- Pisinger, David and Paolo Toth. 1998. "Knapsack Problem". Handbook of Combinatorial Optimization. 299-428.
- Post, Corinne, Emilio De Lia, Nancy DiTomaso, Thomas M. Tirpak and Rajendra Borwankar. 2009. "Capitalizing on Thought Diversity for Innovation". *Research-Technology Management* 52(6): 14-25.
- Price, Wilson L., Alain Martel, and K. A. Lewis. 1980. "A review of mathematical models in human resource planning". *Omega* 8(6): 639-645.
- Prot, Damien, Tanguy Lapègue, and Odile Bellenguez-Morineau. 2015. "A twophase method for the shift design and personnel task scheduling problem with equity objective". *International Journal of Production Research* 53(24): 7286-7298.
- Purdy, Mark, Jing Qiu and Xiaobing Chen. 2017. "AI: contribute on the increase of Chinese economics". Accenture https://www.accenture.com/ _acnmedia/accenture/conversion-assets/dotcom/documents/local/ cn-zh/pdf/accenture-zhanwang-ai-chinese-economic.pdf [马克 珀 迪、邱静、陈笑冰.《人工智能: 助力中国经济增长》. 埃森哲]
- Pushpa, S. K., T. V. Mrunal, and C. Suhas. 2016. "A study of performance analysis on knapsack problem." In National Conference on Recent Trends in Information Technology, pp(5-10).
- Qin, Yichen, J.H. Zhang, Felix T.S. Chan, S.H. Chung, B. Niu and T. Qu. 2020. "A two-stage optimization approach for aircraft hangar maintenance planning and staff assignment problems under MRO outsourcing". *Comput*ers & Industrial Engineering 106607.
- Qunar. 2020. https://flight.qunar.com/
- Rastetter, Edward B. and Bonnie L. Kwiatkowski. 2020. "An approach to modeling resource optimization for substitutable and interdependent resources". *Ecological Modelling* 425(): 109033.

- Raza, Mohsin Ali and Muhammad Musarrat Nawaz. 2011. "Impact of Job Enlargement on Employees' Job Satisfaction, Motivation and Organizational Commitment: Evidence from Public Sector of Pakistan". International Journal of Business and Social Science 2(18): 268-273.
- Raziq, Abdul, and Raheela Maulabakhsh. 2015. "Impact of working environment on job satisfaction." *Proceedia Economics and Finance* 23(1): 717-725.
- Robbins, Mark. 2019. "Here Be Dragons: Lessons from China' s AI Strategy". Institute on Governance.
- Robert Siegel. 2016. "Startup Enterprises: Human Resources should not be the Shortage". *Fortune Time* 1(1): 16. [罗伯特 西格尔《创业公司:别让人 力资源成为漏水的短板》智富时代]
- Robinson, J. B. 1949. On the Hamiltonian game (a traveling-salesman problem). Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation.
- Rocha, Marta, José Fernando Oliveira, and Maria Antónia Carravilla. 2013. "Cyclic staff scheduling: optimization models for some real-life problems". *Journal of Scheduling* 16(2): 231-242.
- Sadi-Nezhad, S., K. Khalili Damghani, and N. Pilevari. 2010. "Application of 0–1 fuzzy programming in optimum project selection". World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology 64(40): 335-340.
- Safe, Martín, Jessica Carballido, Ignacio Ponzoni, and Nélida Brignole. 2004. "On Stopping Criteria for Genetic Algorithms". In *Brazilian Symposium on Artificial Intelligence*, (pp.405-413).
- Saks, Alan M. and Krista L. Uggerslev. 2010. "Sequential and Combined Effects of Recruitment Information on Applicant Reactions". *Journal of Business* and Psychology 25(3): 351-365.
- Salamzadeh, Aidin and Kawamorita Kesim, Hiroko. 2015. "Startup Companies: Life Cycle and Challenges". In 4th International Conference on Employment, Education and Entrepreneurship (EEE), Belgrade, Serbia.
- Salamzadeh, Aidin. 2014. "Youth Entrepreneurship in Developing Countries: Do Young People Know Their Potentials?". In *International Conference on Youth and Our CulturalHeritage*, Samsun, Turkey.
- Salamzadeh, Aidin. 2015. "Innovation Accelerators: Emergence of Startup Companies in Iran". In 60th Annual ICSB World Conference, Dubai, UAE.

- Saleem, Shakeela, Wasim Abbas Shaheen and Rashada Saleem. 2012. "The impact of job enrichment and job enlargement on employee satisfaction keeping employee performance as intervening variable: A correlational study from Pakistan". Kuwait Chapter of the Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review 1(9): 145-165.
- Salkin, Harvey M, Cornelis A De Kluyver. "The knapsack problem: a survey". Naval Research Logistics Quarterly 22(1): 127-144.
- Savall, Henri. 2010. Work and People: An Economic Evaluation of Job Enrichment. USA: IAP.
- Scullion, Hugh, David G. Collings and Paula M. Caligiuri. 2010. "Global talent management". *Journal of World Business* 45(2): 105–108.
- Shagvaliyeva, Sussanna, Rashad Yazdanifard. 2014. "Impact of Flexible Working Hours on Work-Life Balance". American Journal of Industrial and Business Management 4(1): 20-23.
- Shaheen, Salma, and Tazyeen Ahmad. 2015. "Linear Programming Based Optimum Resource Utilization for Manufacturing of Electronic Toys". International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology (IRJET) 2(1): 261– 264
- Shahnazari-Shahrezaei, P., Tavakkoli-Moghaddam, R., and Kazemipoor, H. 2013. "Solving a new fuzzy multi-objective model for a multi-skilled manpower scheduling problem by particle swarm optimization and elite tabu search". *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 64(9-12): 1517-1540.
- Shen, Junhan. 2018. "Ai startups survey: more than one million for recruitment, talent shortage is the biggest barrier". 21st Century News Group. 3rd March. http://www.21jingji.com/2018/3-3/ xMMDEzODFfMTQyNTYxMg.html [申俊涵《人工智能创业调查:招聘动辄百 万起,人才荒成最大壁垒》]
- Sheikhalishahi, Mohammad, A. Azadeh, and Liliane Pintelon. 2017. "Dynamic maintenance planning approach by considering grouping strategy and human factors". *Process Safety and Environmental Protection* 107(1): 289-298.
- Shewchuk, John P. 2008. "Worker allocation in lean U-shaped production lines". International Journal of Production Research 46(13): 3485-3502.

- Shih, Hsu-Shih, Liang-Chih Huang, and Huan-Jyh Shyur. 2005. "Recruitment and selection processes through an effective GDSS". *Computers & Mathematics with Applications* 50 (10-12): 1543-1558.
- Shin, Duckjung. 2016. "Human Resource Management Practices and Performance: A General Systems Perspective." PhD thesis. The University of Western Ontario.
- Shuib, Adibah, and Faiq Izzuddin Kamarudin. 2019. "Solving shift scheduling problem with days-off preference for power station workers using binary integer goal programming model". Annals of Operations Research 272(1-2): 355-372.
- Siddaiah, Rajanna, and R. P. Saini 2016. "A review on planning, configurations, modeling and optimization techniques of hybrid renewable energy systems for off grid applications". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 58(1): 376-396.
- Sierksma, Gerard. 2001. Linear and integer programming: theory and practice. NEW YORK: CRC Press.
- Sunanda Sinha and S S Chandel. 2015. "Review of recent trends in optimization techniques for solar photovoltaic-wind based hybrid energy systems". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 50(): 755-769.
- Smith Marcia. 2019. "When will your startup start making a prot?". Fleximize. https://fleximize.com/articles/001494/ when-will-your-startup-start-making-a-profit&sa=U& ved=2ahUKEwiQlISp4bfmAhWQy4sBHQe8AUEQFjAIegQIAhAB&usg= AOvVaw3Ze6AjJKsNcwOv47uY_dnH
- Silva, Lúcio Camara e, Ana Paula Cabral Seixas Costa. 2013. "Decision model for allocating human resources in information system projects". *International Journal of Project Management* 31 (1): 100–108.
- Song, Binbin. 2017. "The management of the corporate reserve talent". Fortune Today. 9(1): 62. [宋斌斌《企业后备人才的管理》今日财富]
- Sparrow, Paul R. and Heba Makram. 2015. "What is the value of talent management? Building value- driven processes within a talent management architecture." *Human resource management review* 25(3): 249-263.
- Sparrow, P.R., H. Scullionand and I. Tarique. 2014. "Multiple lenses on talent management: Definitions and contours of the field". In *Strategic talent*

management: Contemporary issues in international context, edited by P.R. Sparrow, H. Scullion and I. Tarique, 36-70. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Song, Zheng, Chi Harold Liu, Jie Wu, Jian Ma, and Wendong Wang. 2014. "Qoi-aware multitask-oriented dynamic participant selection with budget constraints". *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology* 63(9): 4618-4632.
- Srour, Issam Mounir. 2005. "A Linear Programming Approach to Optimize Strategic Investment in the Construction Workforce". PhD thesis. The University of Texas at Austin.
- Starkey, A. J., Hani Hagras, Siddhartha Shakya, and Gilbert Owusu. 2018. "A Genetic Algorithm Based System for Simultaneous Optimisation of Workforce Skills and Teams". *KI-Künstliche Intelligenz* 32(4): 245-260.
- Steenken, Dirk, Stefan VoSS, and Robert Stahlbock. 2004. "Container terminal operation and operations research –a classification and literature review". OR Spectrum 26 (1): 3–49.
- Su, Chao-Ton and Yang Tsung-Ming . 2015. "Hoshin Kanri planning process in human resource management: recruitment in a high-tech firm". *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence* 26 (1-2): 140-156.
- Surywanshi, Archana. 2013. "A study on HR challenges in startup companies." ZENITH International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research 3(9): 39-45.
- Ta, Chung H., James V. Kresta, J. Fraser Forbes, and Horacio J. Marquez. 2005. "A stochastic optimization approach to mine truck allocation". International journal of surface mining, reclamation and environment 19(3): 162–175.
- Takakura, Makiko, Akijide Anzai and Alex Fang. 2019. "Chinese tech salaries jump in global race for talent: Companies spend big to lure data and AI scientists". February 16. Nikkei Asian Review. https://asia.nikkei.com/Business/Business-trends/ Chinese-tech-salaries-jump-in-global-race-for-talent
- Talentseer. 2020. "2020 AI talent report: status and trend". https://www.talentseer.com/2020-ai-talent-report-chinese-version [2020 人工 智能人才报告: 现状与趋势]
- Tan, Tieniu. 2018. "The innovation development and social impact of AI". The National People's Congress of the People's
Republic of China. http://www.npc.gov.cn/npc/c541/201810/ db1d46f506a54486a39e3971a983463f.shtml [谭铁牛十三届全国人 大常委会专题讲座第七讲《人工智能的创新发展与社会影响》]

- Tang, Chaoying and Naumann Stefanie E. 2016. "Team diversity, mood, and team creativity: The role of team knowledge sharing in Chinese R&D teams". Journal of Management & Organization 22(3): 420–434.
- Taylor, M. Susan, and Christopher J. Collins. 2000. "Organizational recruitment: Enhancing the intersection of research and practice". In *Industrial* and Organizational Psychology, edited by C. L. Cooper and E. A. Locke, 304-334. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing, Ltd.
- Teclemichael Tessema, Mussie, and Joseph L. Soeters. 2006. "Challenges and prospects of HRM in developing countries: testing the HRM-performance link in Eritrean civil service". *The international journal of human resource management* 17(1): 86-105.
- Tencent. 2019. "Positions and Salary system of Ali". [腾讯网《阿里职级体系 与薪酬全曝光, P10 以上都是世界大牛》]
- Tencent Research Institute and Boss Recruitment. 2017. White Paper on 2017 Global AI Talent. https://www.tisi.org/4960 [腾讯研究院, BOSS 直聘 《2017 全球人工智能人才白皮书》].
- The State Council of People's Republic of China. 2018. "The newest changes of 'Five Social Insurance and One Housing Fund', all of which are good news!". http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2018-04/16/content_5282864.htm. [中国政府网《最新最全! 2018" 五险一金" 新变化, 个个都是好消息!》]
- The State Council of People's Republic of China. 2017. Opinions of the state council on enhancing the implementation of the innovation-driven development strategy to further promote the deep development of mass entrepreneurship and innovation. http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2017-07/27/content_5213735.htm [国务院国务院关于强化实施创新驱动发展战略进一步推进大众创业万众创新深入发展的意见]
- The State Council of People's Republic of China. 2015. Opinions of the state council on enhancing the implementation of the innovation-driven development strategy to further promote the deep development of mass entrepreneurship and innovation. http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2015-06/16/content_9855.htm [国务院国务院关于大力推进大众创业万 众创新若干政策措施的意见]

- Timms, Carolyn, Paula Brough, Michael O'Driscoll, Thomas Kalliath, Oi Ling Siu, Cindy Sit and Danny Lo. 2015. "Flexible work arrangements, work engagement, turnover intentions and psychological health". Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources 53(1): 83–103.
- Todosijevi, Raca, Anis Mjirda, Marko Mladenovi, Saïd Hanafi, and Bernard Gendron. 2017. "A general variable neighborhood search variants for the travelling salesman problem with draft limits". *Optimization Letters* 11(6): 1047-1056.
- Toh, Seong-Yuen and Vui-Yee Koon. 2017. "Determining Mission Statement Effectiveness from a Fit Perspective". *Studies in Business and Economics* 12(2): 220-240.
- Toth, Paolo. 1980. "Dynamic programming algorithms for the zero-one knapsack problem." *Computing* 25(1): 29-45.
- Toth, Paolo, and Daniele Vigo, eds. 2002. *The vehicle routing problem.* Philadelphia: Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics.
- Toutiao. 2018. "Annual reward for 2019 in top internet companies". [今日头条 《揭秘一线互联网 2019 年终奖发放》]
- Tran, Nguyen Khoi, and Hans-Dietrich Haasis. 2015. "Literature survey of network optimization in container liner shipping". *Flexible Services and Man*ufacturing Journal 27(2-3): 139-179.
- Tseng, Ming-Lang, Md Shamimul Islamb, Noorliza Kariab, Firdaus Ahmad Fauzib, and Samina Afrin. 2019. "A literature review on green supply chain management: Trends and future challenges". *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 141(): 145-162.
- Turban, Daniel B. 2001. "Organizational attractiveness as an employer on college campuses: An examination of the applicant population". Journal of Vocational Behavior 58(2): 293-312.
- Turban, Daniel B., and Daniel W. Greening. 1997. "Corporate social performance and organizational attractiveness to prospective employees". *Academy of management journal* 40(3): 658-672.
- Ucbasaran, Deniz, Andy Lockett, Mike Wright, and Paul Westhead. 2003. "Entrepreneurial founder teams: Factors associated with member entry and exit". *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 28(2): 107–128.

- Van den Bergh, Jorne, Jeroen Beliën, Philippe De Bruecker, Erik Demeulemeester, and Liesje De Boeck. 2013. "Personnel scheduling: A literature review." European journal of operational research 226(3): 367-385.
- Verma, Manish, Michel Gendreau, and Gilbert Laport. 2013. "Optimal location and capability of oil-spill response facilities for the south coast of Newfoundland". Omega 41(5):856–867.
- Vaiman, Vlad, David G. Collings, and Hugh Scullion. 2017. "Contextualising talent management". Journal of Organizational Effectiveness: People and Performance 4(4): 294-297.
- Wang, Fan, Xiaofan Lai, and Ning Shi. 2011. "A multi-objective optimization for green supply chain network design". Decision Support Systems 51(2):262–269.
- Wang Xueli and Ma Lin. 2015. "An Exploratory Study of High Performance HRM Practices Model of China Leading Enterprises". Chinese Journal of Management 12(11): 1598-1606.
- Wang, Bing and Daming Wei. 2016. *Human Resource Management*. China: Sonbook. [王斌、魏大明《人力資源管理》崧 [文化事業有限公司]
- Wei, Hao, Ran Yuan and Laixun Zhao. 2020. "International talent inflow and R&D investment: Firm-level evidence from China". *Economic Modelling* 89(): 32-42.
- Woubante, Gera Workie. 2017. "The Optimization Problem of Product Mix and Linear Programming Applications: Case Study in the Apparel Industry". Open Science Journal 2(2): 1-11.
- Wright, Patrick M., and Gary C. McMahan. 1992. "Theoretical perspectives for strategic human resource management." *Journal of management* 18(2): 295-320.
- Wright, Patrick M., and Timothy M. Gardner. 2003. "The human resourcefirm performance relationship: methodological and theoretical challenges". *The New Workplace: A Guide to the Human Impact of Modern Working Practices.* Chichester: Wiley.
- Wu, Na, Fang Zhang, Pei Yang and Liang Zhao. 2017. Human Resource Management Theories, Methods and Practices. China: Southwestern University of Finance and Economics Press. [伍娜, 张舫, 杨沛, 赵亮《人力资源管理——理论、方法与实务》西南财经大学出版社]

- Wu, Yaowu. 2013. "One-Child Policy and Elderly Migration". Sociological Studies 4(1): 1-25. [吴要武《独生子女政策与老年人迁移》社会学研究]
- Xiaozhi. 2019. "Salary and Shares of Internet Companies: Ali P10, Tencent T4 and Huawei 18". *Sina*. https://tech.sina.com.cn/csj/2019-06-22/ doc-ihytcerk8518543.shtml [小智《阿里 P10、腾讯 T4、华为 18 互联 网公司薪资、股权大揭秘》新浪专栏]
- Xu, Howie, Joy Tang, Terry Song, Julie Choi, Shaun Paga and Anis Uzzaman. 2018. "AI IN ENTERPRISE".
- Yadav, S. R. and Malik, A. K. 2014. Operations research. UK: Oxford University Press.
- Yan, Junzhe. 2017. "The study of the current condition of the HR performance evaluations on the startup enterprises". *Economic Research Guide* 22(1): 122-127.
- Yan, Baicheng , Xiaoning Zhu, Der-Horng Lee, Jian Gang Jin and Li Wang. 2020. "Transshipment operations optimization of sea-rail intermodal container in seaport rail terminals". *Computers & Industrial Engineering* 141(): 106296.
- Yang, Chun, Bart Bossink and Peter Peverelli. 2017. "High-tech start-up firm survival originating from a combined use of internal resources". Small Business Economics 49(1):799–824.
- Yang, Hongxing, Wei Zhou, Lin Lu and Zhaohong Fang. 2008. "Optimal sizing method for stand-alone hybrid solar-wind system with LPSP technology by using genetic algorithm". Solar Energy 82(4): 354-367.
- Yuan, Wei, Jialu Yang, Qingyun Fang and Hui Sun. 2018. Human Resource Management. 2nd edition. China: Fudan University Press. [袁蔚, 杨加陆, 方青云, 孙慧《人力资源管理教程第二版》复旦大学出版社]
- Zeng, Qingcheng, Ali Diabat and Qian Zhang. 2015. "A simulation optimization approach for solving the dual-cycling problem in container terminals". *Maritime Policy & Management* (8): 806-826.
- Zhang, Lili, Zhao Xinan and Zanf Yiyong. 2013. " 'Four-in-one' human capital matching method based on advantage structure identification". System Engineering - Theory & Practices 33(8): 2047-2056.

- Zhang, Lili. 2017. "An Inverse Optimization Model for Human Resource Allocation Problem Considering Competency Disadvantage Structure". Proceedia computer science 112(1): 1611-1622.
- Zhang, Ruiling. 2013. "Flexible working hours and its application in China". *Oriental Enterprise Culture* 4(1): 59-60. [张瑞玲《弹性工作制及其在中国的应用现状》东方企业文化]
- Zhang, Yudong, Saeed Balochian, Praveen Agarwal, Vishal Bhatnagar, and Orwa Jaber Housheya. 2014. "Artificial intelligence and its applications". *Mathematical Problems in Engineering* Article ID 840491.
- Zhao, Bi. 2020. "Digitalization and AI direct the development of the traditional home industry". China Industrial Economy News. 22 August. http://www.cien.com.cn/2020/0822/103019.shtml [赵碧《数字化智能化引领传统家 居业转型发展》中国产经新闻]
- Zhao, Weilin. 2016. "China's course forward in conceptualizing innovation development". *Fujitsu Research Institute Newsletter*.
- Zhao, Weilin. 2017. "China's 'Mass entrepreneurship and innovation' boom". International finance 1292.
- Zhao, Weilin. 2019. "China's innovation-driven growth and its emerging impact on global innovation". In *Handbook on China and Globalization*, edited by Huiyao Wang, Lu Miao, 175–185. UK: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- Zhipeng. 2019. https://www.job592.com/ [职朋网: 工资查询]
- Zhou, Wei, Chengzhi Lou, Zhongshi Li, Lin Lu, and Hongxing Yang. 2010. "Current status of research on optimum sizing of stand-alone hybrid solar wind power generation systems". Applied energy 87(2): 380-389.
- Zhou, Yeting. 2018. Discussions of the imbalance conditions with related corrections on the labor and capital interests in the Chinese non-public enterprises. China: Wuhan University Press. [周叶婷《论我国非公有制企业劳资利益失衡及其矫正》武汉大学出版社]
- Zhu, Kejun, Guangming Wang and Haixiang Guo. 2013. Management Operation Research and Methods. China: Tsinghua University Press. [诸克军, 王 广民, 郭海湘《管理运筹学及智能方法》清华大学出版社]

Every reasonable effort has been made to acknowledge the owners of copyright material. I would be pleased to hear from any copyright owner who has been omitted or incorrectly acknowledged.

Appendices

Appendix 1

Computation with Matlab Optimization APP

Problem Setup and Results	
Solver: linprog - Linear programming	v
Algorithm: Dual simplex	×
Problem	
f: [24.909 19 19]	
Constraints:	
Linear inequalities: A: [24.909 19 0;-24.909 -19 0;-0.19665 1 0;0.1311 -1 0;-12.4545 0 19;6.22725 0 -19]	b: [6559992 -5359992 6001.2 -4000.8 20004 -10002]
Linear equalities: Aeq:	beq:
Bounds: Lower: [1 1 1]	Upper:
Start point:	
Let algorithm choose point	
O Specify point:	
Run solver and view results	
Start Pause Stop	
Current iteration: 3	Clear Results
Optimization running.	,
Objective function value: 6510422.0869565215	
	~
Final point:	
Index -	∕alue
1	183,135.106
2	42,014.719
	00,340.322
<	>

Appendix 2

Computation with Matlab Coding

0

0

0

```
clear;clc;close all;
cost = [0 700 600 500 700 600
700 0 650 500 750 650
600 650 0 500 450 500
500 500 500 0 550 500
700 750 450 550 0 450
600 650 500 500 450 0];
n = size(cost, 1);
x = binvar(n,n,'full');
u = sdpvar(1,n);
z = sum(sum(cost.*x));
C = [];
for j = 1:n
    s = sum(x(:,j))-x(j,j);
    C = [C, s == 1];
end
for i = 1:n
    s = sum(x(i,:)) - x(i,i);
    C = [C, s == 1];
end
for i = 2:n
    for j = 2:n
         if i~=j
              C = [C,u(i)-u(j) + n * x(i,j) < = n-1];
         end
    end
end
ops = sdpsettings('verbose',0);
result = optimize(C,z);
if result.problem== 0
    value(x)
    value(z)
else
    disp('mistakes');
end
ans =
                                          1.0000
        NaN
                       0
                                   0
                                                           0
          0
                    NaN
                              1.0000
                                               0
                                                            0
          0
                      0
                                NaN
                                                0
                                                      1.0000
```

	0	1.0000		0	Na	Ν	0	0
	0	0		0		0	NaN	1.0000
1.00	00	0		0	(0	0	NaN
ans =								
	3150							
a=[NaN	001	0000 0 0						
	N 1 0							
0.01	NaN 0							
0.1.0) NaN 0 0						
1 00) 0 0 NaN	1.					
k = ⁻	00 0 0 1∙],					
nath	-, . = [k]							
for i		, e(a 1)						
1011	for i	=1·size(a ʻ	2)					
	ion j	f(a(k i) = =	-) 1)					
		k = i	上)					
		nath :	= [nath	r kl∙				
		break		ι, ιζ],				
	6	and	,					
	end	.110						
end	cha							
nath	1							
patr								
path =								
1	4	2	3	5	6	1		